# Doctoral thesis submitted to the Faculty of Behavioural and Cultural Studies Heidelberg University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Dr. phil.) in Psychology

Title of the publication-based thesis Towards Personalized Medicine for Persistent Depressive Disorder: Moving from "one size fits all" to "what works for whom?"

> presented by Ilinca-Draga Serbanescu

> > year of submission 2022

Dean: Prof. Dr. Guido Sprenger Advisor: Prof. Dr. Matthias Backenstraß

# Dedication

~ For my beloved parents ~

## Acknowledgments

Several years ago, I made the decision to devote myself to the study of chronic depression. That decision culminated in this dissertation, which would not have been possible without the many extraordinary people I have had the privilege of meeting over the years. I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all those who have accompanied me on my journey and made the creation of this work possible:

My special thanks go to Prof. Matthias Backenstraß, Heidelberg University, who supervised this work and actively supported me over the past years with his precious advice and encouragements. Dear Prof. Backenstraß, thank you so much for always having an open ear for my questions, for providing me with highly valuable, constructive ideas, and for always offering an excellent supervision - I appreciate that very much!

I would like to also express a big thank you to Priv. Doz. Dr. Dieter Schoepf. Dieter, this work would not exist now without our random first encounter some years ago, which has resulted in a loyal, constructive, and very fruitful collaboration I am more than grateful to have experienced. Thank you for your trust and patience, for sharing your clinical expertise, for your continuous, tireless professional and human support, and words of encouragement during challenging times. I will remain forever grateful for our collaboration.

I would like to furthermore thank the many wonderful collaborators and co-authors of the three papers presented in this dissertation for the warm inclusion in their research network, their openness for my research ideas and the valuable scientific support during the last years. My special thanks are addressed to Prof. Bernd Weber, University of Bonn, for his support during my time at his lab with this work.

My thanks are extended to Prof. Helena C. Kraemer, Stanford University. Even though we have never met in person, I am most grateful for our written exchange on the combined moderator method.

I would like to further thank all peer-reviewers known to me and those who remained anonymous, for providing valuable comments for the papers during the peer-review process stages. Their constructive feedbacks have greatly helped me to improve the manuscripts. Further, I deeply thank all patients who have participated in the two trials which served for the analyses presented in this thesis. I hope that the empirical findings obtained through your study participation will one day help to considerably improve the treatment of chronic depression.

Moreover, I would like to wholeheartedly express my thanks to all the inspiring doctoral, master and bachelor students as well as colleagues I have met during my journey in different cities and institutions. Xenia, Omar, Niklas, Johannes, Carolina, Paul, Anne, and many more - thank you all for your support, for the fruitful scientific and personal conversations and for the encouragement we shared with each other!

Finally, my gratitude goes out to my wonderful friends, companions, and family. Thank you all for always supporting me through this journey and reminding me that there is a life beyond research. I could never say enough thank you for all your love, encouragement, and support!

# Table of Contents

| Dedication2   |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
| Acknowledgments 3   |  |  |  |
| Table of Contents5  |  |  |  |
| Abstract  |  |  |  |
| List of Abbreviations   |  |  |  |
| List of Scientific Publications9  |  |  |  |
| 1. Introduction 10  |  |  |  |
| 2. Theoretical Framework13  |  |  |  |
| 2.1 Persistent Depressive Disorder132.1.1 Nosology, assessment, and epidemiology of PDD132.1.2 Aetiology and risk factors of PDD192.1.3 Treatment of PDD21  |  |  |  |
| <ul> <li>2.2 Personalized Medicine – moving beyond "one size fits all"</li></ul>  |  |  |  |
| 2.3 Personalized Medicine for PDD: State of the Art   |  |  |  |
| 3. Motivation, Aims and Research Questions of this Dissertation   |  |  |  |
| 4. Synopsis of Empirical Findings   |  |  |  |
| 4.1 Paper 1: Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle response differences to<br>disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive<br>disorder  |  |  |  |
| 4.2 Paper 2: Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific<br>Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive<br>Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder46 |  |  |  |
| 4.3 Paper 3: Identifying subgroups with differential response to CBASP versus<br>Escitalopram during the first eight weeks of treatment in outpatients with persistent<br>depressive disorder   |  |  |  |
| 5. General Discussion   |  |  |  |
| 5.1 Discussion of Main Empirical Findings50   |  |  |  |
| 5.2 Strengths and Limitations of this Dissertation59  |  |  |  |
| 5.3 Future Directions and Implications for Research and Clinical Practice61   |  |  |  |
| 5.4 Conclusion  |  |  |  |
| 6. References   |  |  |  |
| Paper 1   Appendix 1  |  |  |  |
| Paper 2   Appendix 2  |  |  |  |
| Paper 3   Appendix 3 106  |  |  |  |
| Declaration in accordance to § 8 (1) c) and (d) of the doctoral degree regulation of the Faculty145   |  |  |  |

## Abstract

Persistent Depressive Disorder (PDD) is, by definition, a chronic mental disorder that severely affects the quality of life of those affected. Despite numerous available treatment options, response and remission rates are generally scarce in patients with PDD, with effectiveness of different treatments varying between individual patients. However, empirical evidence predicting and understanding the individual treatment benefit is largely lacking. Personalized medicine aims to match patients with the most promising treatment on an individual basis by identifying pre-treatment characteristics that predict the outcome of a particular treatment for an individual patient. While other medical disciplines have achieved great progress in the field of personalized medicine, psychiatry still lags far behind, holding on to the 'one size fits all' concept, which assumes that a certain treatment will work equally well for all patients diagnosed with a particular disorder. This is also broadly applicable to the research field on PDD.

The overarching aim of this publication-based dissertation is to advance the field of personalized medicine for PDD by providing evidence for the effectiveness of certain psychotherapeutic and pharmacological treatments for specific subgroups of patients with PDD based on their multivariable pre-treatment profile. Beginning with an introduction, this thesis will first provide a theoretical framework for the two main thematical concepts of this work, namely PDD and personalized medicine, as well as an overview of previous evidence on treatment prediction in patients with PDD. Afterwards, the main objectives and research questions of this thesis are presented with respect to two specific clinical decision-making scenarios that have been studied in the three scientific papers presented thereafter, namely the selection of and between two psychotherapies (Paper 1 and Paper 2) and the choice between psychotherapy and antidepressant medication (Paper 3). Paper 1 identified and combined pretreatment characteristics of patients with early-onset PDD that moderate their benefit from disorder-specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) versus nonspecific Supportive Psychotherapy (SP), thereby detecting two subgroups with differential treatment benefits. Paper 2 investigated treatment predictors and identified several subgroups of patients experiencing a comparable treatment effectiveness of CBASP and SP. Finally, following the same question and methodology as Paper 1 for the comparison of CBASP and pharmacotherapy with Escitalopram plus Clinical Management (ESC/CM), Paper 3 identified two subgroups of patients with differential benefit from these two treatment options.

Altogether, the main findings of the three papers extend the body of evidence for treatment prediction in patients with PDD in several aspects: first, they show that behind the general cross-sample effects reported in the main studies, there exist underlying subgroup effects, suggesting that the effectiveness of the investigated treatments varies greatly depending on the patient's pre-treatment profile. Second, they present novel methodological approaches together with advantages of a multivariable consideration of the pre-treatment profile and its prediction of treatment response. Third and lastly, they provide new evidence for whom the treatments studied are more or less likely to work, possible underlying reasons, and other research questions that arise and need to be investigated by future research.

# List of Abbreviations

| ADM        | Antidepressant medication   |  |  |
|------------|---|--|--|
| APA        | American Psychiatric Association  |  |  |
| CBASP      | Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy                     |  |  |
| CBT        | Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy   |  |  |
| CDRS       | Cornell Dysthymia Rating Scale  |  |  |
| CTQ        | Childhood Trauma Questionnaire  |  |  |
| DSM        | Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, respective edition |  |  |
|            | indicated by following number   |  |  |
| EPA        | European Psychiatric Association  |  |  |
| ESC/CM     | Escitalopram plus Clinical Management                                     |  |  |
| ETI        | Early Trauma Inventory  |  |  |
| HRSD       | Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression                                      |  |  |
| ICD        | International Classification of Diseases, respective edition indicated by |  |  |
|            | following number  |  |  |
| IIP        | Inventory of Interpersonal Problems                                       |  |  |
| IPD-NMA    | Individual Participant Data Network Meta-Regression                       |  |  |
| IPT        | Interpersonal Therapy   |  |  |
| Lasso      | Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (regression)              |  |  |
| <b>M</b> * | Combined moderator (after H. C. Kraemer)                                  |  |  |
| MADRS      | Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale                                 |  |  |
| МВСТ       | CT Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy                                    |  |  |
| MDD        | Major Depressive Disorder   |  |  |
| MDE        | Major Depressive Episode  |  |  |
| PAI        | Personalized Advantage Index  |  |  |
| PDD        | Persistent Depressive Disorder  |  |  |
| RCT        | Randomized Controlled Trial   |  |  |
| SCID-5-CV  | V Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5, Clinician Version              |  |  |
| SP         | Supportive Psychotherapy  |  |  |
| SSRI       | Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor                                    |  |  |
| TAU        | Treatment as usual  |  |  |
| WHO        | World Health Organization   |  |  |

## List of Scientific Publications

This publication-based dissertation incorporates the following three scientific papers. Their corresponding full texts are included in the appendices.

## Paper 1 | Appendix 1

Serbanescu, I., Walter, H., Schnell, K., Kessler, H., Weber, B., Drost, S., Groß, M., Neudeck, P., Klein, J. P., Assmann, N., Zobel, I., Backenstrass, M., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter, M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 124,* 103512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512

### Paper 2 | Appendix 2

Serbanescu, I., Backenstrass, M., Drost, S., Weber, B., Walter, H., Klein, J. P., Zobel, I., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter, M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, 607300. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.607300

## Paper 3 | Appendix 3

**Serbanescu**, I., Schramm, E., Walter, H., Schnell, K., Zobel, I., Drost, S., Fangmeier, T., Normann, C., & Schoepf, D. (2022). Identifying subgroups with differential response to CBASP versus Escitalopram during the first eight weeks of treatment in outpatients with persistent depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*. (Revised and Resubmitted)

## 1. Introduction

"In all its complexity, the question towards which all outcome research should ultimately be directed is the following: What treatment, by whom, is most effective for this individual with that specific problem, and under which set of circumstances?"

(Paul, 1967, p. 111)

"An important diagnostic question to be asked at screening when seeing a depressed psychotherapy patient is, "Is the patient chronically depressed?" If the answer is "yes," CBASP combined with an antidepressant medication is an appropriate treatment [...]."

(McCullough, 2003, p. 244)

Worldwide, it is estimated that over 320 million people, representing 4.4% of the world's population, suffer from major depression, which is a global leading cause of disability (World Health Organization [WHO], 2017). Roughly 20-30% of the patients diagnosed with major depression develop a chronic course lasting two years or longer (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Murphy & Byrne, 2012), while in clinical settings, up to 50% of the patients with depression are affected by a chronic course (Schramm et al., 2020). The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) introduced this condition as a distinct clinical category for the first time around a decade ago and labelled it "Persistent Depressive Disorder" (PDD) (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). The performed differentiation was mainly due to the many observed clinical differences between episodic and chronic courses, with the latter being associated with more severe symptom profiles, more negative health consequences and poorer outcomes to various treatment approaches (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Satyanarayana et al., 2009; Schramm et al., 2020).

Psychotherapies and antidepressant medication (ADM), delivered alone or in combination, are so far the two main pillars of treatment for PDD. Research undertaken for over more than two decades has shown that the treatment success of various investigated

10

psychotherapeutic and pharmacotherapeutic interventions is however limited for patients with PDD, particularly when compared to those with non-chronic depressive disorders (Cuijpers et al., 2010; Cuijpers et al., 2011; Thase, 2006). Numerous factors such as treatment commencement delays, low motivational attitudes of patients as well as insufficient treatment durations have been discussed as factors contributing to the scarcity of the treatment success in patients with PDD (Cuijpers, 2018; Schramm et al., 2020). Among them is also the mismatch of patients and treatments or the failure to assign the most beneficial available treatment to an individual patient, which is in turn the main driving aspiration and effort of the approach of personalized or precision medicine (Hamburg & Collins, 2010; Simon & Perlis, 2010). The core assumption of personalized medicine is that no single treatment works best for everyone, and that individual, pre-treatment (baseline) characteristics of patients must be considered when selecting the most appropriate type, form, duration, or path of administration of certain treatments in order to achieve maximum benefit and safety for the treated individual. In line with this view, the "European Psychiatric Association (EPA) Guidance Group on psychotherapy in chronic depression" has recommended clinicians to choose the type of psychotherapeutic treatment by considering individual baseline characteristics such as early versus late illness onset, type of PDD, number of episodes, childhood trauma, symptom severity, patient treatment preference or comorbidity of personality disorders (Jobst et al., 2016). Despite the evident plausibility of this meaningful recommendation, efforts to generate evidence for guiding personalized treatment selection and thereby improving treatment responses in patients with PDD are limited (Cuijpers et al., 2017; Schramm et al., 2020), which is largely due to the complexity of the topic and the associated challenges for both research and clinical practice (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018). Therefore, it is of considerable scientific interest and urgent clinical need to expand the body of evidence towards personalized treatment selection for patients with PDD. With the aim of contributing new empirical findings to address this need, the three studies of this publication-based dissertation investigate the extent to which patients' baseline profiles predict or moderate their individual response to certain widely used psychotherapeutic and pharmacotherapeutic treatments. For this purpose, data from a randomized controlled trial (RCT) comparing two psychotherapies for patients with PDD and another RCT comparing psychotherapy with pharmacotherapy are reanalysed.

The following Chapter 2 provides a theoretical framework including an overview on PDD (sub-chapter 2.1) and the academic field of personalized medicine (sub-chapter 2.2). This is complemented by the current state of research on personalized medicine for PDD provided in sub-chapter 2.3. Thereafter, Chapter 3 presents the motivation, aims and research questions of this dissertation, followed by a summary of the three scientific papers in Chapter 4 (see also Appendixes 1, 2, and 3 for full texts of all papers). Finally, Chapter 5 discusses the main empirical findings of the three papers in context of the available evidence, outlines their strengths and limitations, and reflects on future directions, hopes and pitfalls of personalized medicine for PDD with regard to research and clinical practice, before a general conclusion is drawn.

## 2. Theoretical Framework

#### 2.1 Persistent Depressive Disorder

#### 2.1.1 Nosology, assessment, and epidemiology of PDD

Nosology of PDD. The concept of chronic or persistent depression has been subject to considerable changes and controversies regarding its classification and diagnosis over the past few decades and up to date. To account for the large proportion of patients with a chronic course of depression, dysthymic disorder was first introduced in the DSM-III (APA, 1980) and later also in the tenth edition of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10; WHO, 1993) as a diagnosis for milder states of unipolar depression not fully meeting criteria for Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) but lasting for two years or more, warranting clinical attention due to the cumulative burden of the persistent symptoms. More precisely, dysthymia resulted as a consolidation of various older clinical constructs such as neurotic depression as well as depressive personality disorder (Klein et al., 1993; Schramm et al., 2020; Victor et al., 2006). In addition, chronic forms of depression with a more severe symptomatology found their classification by specifiers under the category of MDD. Up to the DSM-IV-TR (APA, 2000), they included chronic MDD (i.e., MDD lasting for at least two years), recurrent major depression without complete remission between the episodes, or double depression (i.e., a major depressive episode (MDE) superimposed on a pre-existing dysthymic disorder). The DSM-III and subsequent editions further classified dysthymia and the mentioned forms of chronic major depression into those with an early onset (i.e., younger than 21 years at onset) or late onset (i.e., 21 years or older at onset).

Simultaneously, over the years, a considerable number of studies emerged indicating several differences between chronic and episodic forms of depression. For instance, chronic forms of depression have been associated with greater childhood adversity (Angst et al., 2009; Lizardi et al., 1995; Rhebergen et al., 2009; Wiersma et al., 2009). Moreover, compared to episodic depression, chronic depression is marked by a longer illness duration, a lower life quality, higher rates of comorbid psychiatric and personality disorders, more suicide attempts,

pronounced dysfunctional interpersonal behaviour as well as poorer responses to various treatments (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Berndt et al., 2000; Jobst et al., 2016). At the same time, the at that time differentially classified dysthymia, double depression, and chronic major depression appeared to strongly similarize in terms of their association with comorbid anxiety, personality disorders, maladaptive coping styles, childhood trauma and poor chances of treatment response (e.g., Blanco et al., 2010; Klein et al., 1995; Lizardi et al., 1995; McCullough et al., 2000; McCullough et al., 2003; Pepper et al., 1995). Taken together, this accumulating evidence questioned the meaningfulness of the distinctions between the various forms of chronic depression presented in the DSM version of that time, and chronic, or as a newer term, *persistent* depressive disorder was proposed as a distinct clinical category in advance of the development of the fifth version of the DSM in response to the growing body of research emphasizing the homogeneity of different types of chronic depression (Schramm et al., 2020). With the DSM-5 (APA, 2013), PDD was thus introduced for the first time as a unique diagnostic category, encompassing the DSM-IV-TR defined category of dysthymic disorder as well as those forms of MDD with chronic specification. This new classification has again encountered scientific debate (e.g., Parker & Malhi, 2019), and implies caution when transferring older scientific results to patients diagnosed with PDD according to the DSM-5. Among others, there has been a proposal for an alternative, more unifying model that conceptualizes PDD along the two dimensions of severity and longitudinal course (Schramm et al., 2020), as the DSM-5 classification places more relevance to the duration of illness rather than its severity. Furthermore, classifying chronic or persistent depression also remains a question of the applied diagnostic system nowadays: the eleventh edition of the ICD (ICD-11; WHO, 2019) contains a category for dysthymic disorder (code: 6A72) and persistent MDE (code: 6A80.2), but not the PDD concept according to the DSM-5 as such.

**Assessment of PDD.** Table 1 displays the diagnostic criteria and specifications of PDD according to the DSM-5 (APA, 2013). Briefly, for being diagnosed with PDD, a patient must experience depressed mood for most of the day, for most of the days, as indicated by either subjective account or observation by others, for at least two consecutive years, with the

modification of one year in children and adolescents (Criterion A). Moreover, the persistent depressed mood must be accompanied by at least two of the following six symptoms: poor appetite or overeating, insomnia or hypersomnia, low energy or fatigue, low self-esteem, poor concentration, difficulties in making decisions, or feelings of hopelessness (Criterion B). Furthermore, to be diagnosed with PDD, the person must never have been without symptoms of criteria A and B for more than two months at a time during the two-year period of the disorder (Criterion C). Importantly, the symptomatology must cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (Criterion H) and must not be attributable to the physiological effects of a substance or another medical condition or psychiatric disorder (Criterions F and G). During this two-year period, the criteria for MDD can (but must not) be continuously present (Criterion D).

The DSM-5 (APA, 2013) further provides specifiers that define possible combinations between dysthymia and MDD, including: 1) PDD of pure dysthymic syndrome with no MDE occurring during the two-year period; 2) Persistent MDD, whereby the full criteria for a MDE have been met throughout the two-year period; 3) PDD with intermittent MDE, with current episode, whereby full criteria for a MDE are currently met, but there have been periods of at least eight weeks in at least the preceding two years with symptoms below the threshold for a full MDE; and 4) PDD with an intermittent MDE, without current episode, whereby full criteria for a MDE are not currently met, but there has been one or more MDEs in at least the preceding two years. Moreover, the clinician can specify the current illness severity (mild, moderate, or severe), the type of illness onset (an early onset before age 21 years or a late onset at age 21 years or older), or the presence of specific features (e.g., melancholic, or atypical). The status can be further classified as in partial or full remission.

To diagnose PDD, clinicians must thus not only check for the current presence of symptoms of Criteria A and B, but also assess their presence over the last two years and examine the patient's life history for ruling out a history of mania, hypomania, or cyclothymic disorder. This can be challenging, as many patients with depression present autobiographical memory deficits (Dalgleish & Werner-Seidler, 2014; C. Köhler et al., 2015).

## Table 1

*Diagnosis criteria for Persistent Depressive Disorder according to DSM-5 (code 300.4)* 

| Criteria |   | Specifiers   |
|----------|---|--|
| А.       | Depressed mood for most of the day, for<br>most of the days, as indicated by either<br>subjective account or observation by<br>others, for at least two consecutive years<br>(or one year in children and adolescents).   | <ul> <li>Specify if (for most recent two years of PDD) with:</li> <li>Pure dysthymic syndrome (full criteria for a MDE have not been met in at least the preceding two years)</li> </ul>   |
| B.       | <ul> <li>Depressed mood is accompanied by at least two of the following six symptoms:</li> <li>1. Poor appetite or overeating</li> <li>2. Insomnia or hypersomnia</li> <li>3. Low energy or fatigue</li> <li>4. Low self-esteem</li> <li>5. Poor concentration or difficulty making decisions</li> <li>6. Feelings of hopelessness</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Persistent MDE (full criteria for a MDE have been met throughout the preceding 2-year period)</li> <li>Intermittent MDEs, with current episode (full criteria for a MDE are currently met, but there have been periods of at least eight weeks in at least the preceding two years with symptoms below the threshold for a full MDE)</li> </ul> |
| C.       | During the 2-year period of the disturbance, the individual has never been without the symptoms in Criteria A and B for more than two months at a time.   | • Intermittent MDEs, without current<br>episode (full criteria for a MDE are not<br>currently met, but there has been one<br>or more MDEs in at least the preceding<br>two years)  |
| D.       | The criteria for MDD may be continuously present for two years.   | <ul><li>Specify if with:</li><li>Anxious distress</li><li>Mixed features</li></ul>   |
| E.       | There has never been a manic episode or<br>a hypomanic episode, or a cyclothymic<br>disorder.<br>The disturbance is not better explained<br>by a persistent schizoaffective disorder,<br>schizophrenia, delusional disorder, or<br>another specified or unspecified<br>schizophrenia spectrum or other<br>psychotic disorder.                 | <ul> <li>Melancholic features</li> <li>Atypical features</li> <li>Mood-congruent psychotic features</li> <li>Mood-incongruent psychotic features</li> </ul>  |
| F.       |   | <ul> <li>Peripartum onset</li> <li>Specify current severity:</li> <li>Mild</li> <li>Moderate</li> <li>Severe</li> </ul>  |
| G.       | The symptoms in Criteria A and B are not<br>attributable to the physiological effects of<br>a substance or another medical<br>condition.  | <ul><li>Specify if:</li><li>In partial remission</li><li>In full remission</li></ul>   |
| H.       | The symptoms cause clinically significant<br>distress or impairment in social,<br>occupational, or other important areas of<br>functioning.   | <ul> <li>Specify if with:</li> <li>Early onset (illness onset was before age 21 years)</li> <li>Late onset (illness onset was at age 21 years or older)</li> </ul>   |

*Note*. Presented diagnostic criteria are based on the DSM-5, code 300.4 (APA, 2013).

In addition to standardized manuals, a life chart constructed together with the patient can be useful to track the level of depression over time (McCullough et al., 2016).

For diagnosing PDD according to DSM-5, trained clinicians can use the Module A "Mood Episodes and Persistent Depressive Disorder" of the semi-structured Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5, Clinician Version (SCID-5-CV; First et al., 2016). To help clinicians rate criteria as present or absent, interview questions are assigned to each DSM-5 criterion. Notably, the professional background of raters (psychiatrists versus psychologists) was associated with significant disagreements in rating PDD by the SCID-5-CV, leading to its potential underestimation (Osório et al., 2019). The majority of other, older fully structured and semi-structured diagnostic interviews contain a section for assessing dysthymic disorder, with some instructing raters to skip the dysthymia section when a recent or recurrent MDE is present, which is why diagnoses of double depression have been often overlooked (Schramm et al., 2020).

When it comes to clinician-rated scales, it is important to check whether the symptoms that are classified under PDD are actually captured or not by the respective scale (Schramm et al., 2020), which is the case for the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD; Hamilton, 1967), but nor for other scales. Notably, Mason and colleagues developed the clinician-rated 20-item Cornell Dysthymia Rating Scale (CDRS) especially for diagnosing dysthymia (Mason et al., 1995). The CDRS was found to have greater severity range scores and a better content validity than the 21-item version of the HRSD with regard to dysthymic patients (Hellerstein et al., 2002).

As for self-report inventories, the General Behaviour Inventory (Depue et al., 1989) is so far the only self-report based questionnaire especially developed to assess chronic mood disorders including dysthymia (Schramm et al., 2020), having good psychometric properties and significantly discriminating patients with dysthymia from patients with non-chronic major depression and nonaffective disorders (Mallon et al., 1986).

Despite these available older and newer tools for its assessment, PDD often remains unrecognized and undiagnosed in clinical practice (Schramm et al., 2020). This may be due in part to the fact that many patients with early-onset PDD consider symptoms as part of their personality, thereby not reporting them in clinical interviews (Akiskal, 1983), with many diagnostic instruments defining and assessing patients' symptoms as deviations from their usual state (Schramm et al., 2020). Together with the different terms used to define chronic depression over the decades and the existing current controversies around its appropriate classification, these aspects pose challenges for the diagnosis of PDD in clinical practice and for comparing studies conducted across various clinical populations diagnosed with PDD following different criteria.

**Epidemiology of PDD**. The lifetime prevalence of dysthymia and chronic major depression has been estimated to range between 1% and 6% (Blanco et al., 2010; Kessler et al., 1994; Kessler et al., 2005; Markkula et al., 2015; Rubio et al., 2011). Concerning the newer diagnostic construct of PDD, the 12-month prevalence in the United States has been estimated at 0.5% by the DSM-5 (APA, 2013). This number is somewhat lower than the lifetime prevalence of 4.6% found by Murphy and Byrne (2012) in a nationally representative Australian study. Moreover, in a study conducted in Swiss adults, Vandeleur and colleagues (2017) reported a lifetime prevalence for any DSM-5 subtype of PDD of 18.0%. National differences between the assessed populations, the assessed PDD subtypes, together with the variability in applied diagnostic criteria may likely cause the variation in these numbers. For instance, lifetime prevalence varied considerably between the different DSM-5 PDD subtypes in the study by Vandeleur and colleagues (2017), with a rate of 15.2% for PDD with a persistent MDE, 2.5% for PDD with pure dysthymic syndrome, and 0.4% for PDD with an intermittent MDE.

Roughly 20-30% of patients with diagnosed major depression develop a chronic course lasting two years or longer (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Murphy & Byrne, 2012), while in clinical settings, 33% to 50% of patients with depressive disorders present with a chronic course (Benazzi, 1998; Ildirli et al., 2015; Markowitz et al., 1992). Furthermore, the prevalence of PDD is nearly double as high for women as for men (Blanco et al., 2010; Garcia-Toro et al.,

19

2013; Vandeleur et al., 2017), which needs to be further elaborated with regard to possible causal factors.

### 2.1.2 Aetiology and risk factors of PDD

While extensive neurobiological research has been conducted to understand the risk factors and aetiology of non-chronic depression, comparative little attention has been paid to investigate similar questions for dysthymia and other forms of chronic depression (Schramm et al., 2020). In addition, the variety in the classification of PDD over decades makes it challenging to review literature on its aetiology and risk factors, given the heterogeneity of the assessed populations across different studies.

In general terms, the development and maintenance of PDD is most likely multifactorial and highly complex. Besides a certain role of genetic heritability, the DSM-5 briefly further lists early parental loss or separation as well as a negative affective temperament as risk factors for PDD (APA, 2013). Although there is no clearly confirmed cause or pathophysiology of PDD, its development seems to be particularly linked to increased levels of childhood adversity and trauma, certain unfavourable personality traits and personality disorders, lengthy environmental stress as well as a heightened stress reactivity (Riso et al., 2002). With PDD often having an early onset, the roles of adverse childhood experiences and the childhood home environment have been often subject to investigation and found to be one of the most replicable risk factors in the development of PDD. Numerous studies have linked the development and persistence of chronic forms of depression to childhood adversity. For instance, in a multi-center trial conducted in Germany, Schramm and colleagues (2017) found 74.2% of the outpatients with early-onset PDD to report childhood trauma experiences, with childhood emotional abuse and neglect being the most commonly reported forms (59.0% and 65.5%, respectively). Similar, in another German study, Negele and colleagues (2015) found 75.6% of the chronically depressed patients to report at least one form of childhood trauma, while 37.0% reported at least three forms of childhood trauma, which was associated with significantly more severe depressive symptoms later in life. Additionally, in contrast to nonchronic courses, PDD has been associated more often with experiences of childhood emotional neglect, psychological abuse, physical abuse, and sexual abuse in a study by Wiersma and colleagues (2009). Moreover, patients with PDD reported a significantly poorer parental care during their childhood compared to patients with episodic depression (Lizardi et al., 1995). Finally, a meta-analysis by Nelson et al. (2017) found that depressive disorders are twice as likely to take a chronic course in individuals with a history of childhood maltreatment.

These various findings regarding adverse events in the childhood history of patients with PDD have been postulated to derail their social-emotional maturational development and entrap them until adulthood in a preoperational state of psycho-emotional development often reported in PDD patients with an early illness onset (McCullough, 2021). Pronounced interpersonal fear, avoidance behaviour, insecure attachment styles and the perceptual disconnection from one's social-interpersonal environment are further consequences causing persistent interpersonal problems for patients with PDD, which are particularly addressed by the CBASP (McCullough, 2000; McCullough, 2021).

Moreover, several studies have investigated the association between personality, personality disorders and PDD. For instance, neuroticism has been revealed to be the strongest predictor for dysthymia in a four-year follow-up study of patients with major depression (Weissman et al., 1988). Moreover, patients with dysthymia showed higher levels of neuroticism and introversion compared with nondepressed individuals in another study (McCullough et al., 1994). Interestingly, both personality traits remained elevated after recovery from dysthymia in a follow-up study (Hirschfeld, 1990), suggesting their possible role as contributing factors in the development of the disorder. Furthermore, comorbidity with various personality disorders is generally high in PDD: patients with PDD have higher rates of avoidant personality disorder, borderline personality disorder and antisocial personality disorder compared to patients with episodic depression (e.g., Klein et al., 2015; Rothschild & Zimmerman, 2002). Possible, childhood adversities and certain personality traits or disorders may interact with each other in causing PDD, as avoidant personality disorder was found to interact with the effects of childhood trauma in the development of PDD in a retrospective

analysis by Klein and colleagues (2015). Further studies are needed to investigate the multifactorial relationship between different risk factors of PDD.

With regard to genetic risk factors, a review by Schramm and colleagues (2020) on dysthymia and PDD underlined the scarcity and low quality of most conducted behavioural, genetic, and molecular genetic studies conducted on dysthymia and chronic depression and refrains therefore from any conclusions about the influence of genetic factors in the development of PDD, warranting further research on this topic. The same was concluded for literature on altered brain structure and function in patients with PDD. Prospective studies, larger sample sizes, replication trials in independent samples and genome-wide approaches should be an integral part of future neurobiological research aimed at revealing neurobiological and genetic risk factors of PDD. In addition, future research may adopt a more personalized approach by considering the clinical heterogeneity of the disease phenotype (Schramm et al., 2020).

#### 2.1.3 Treatment of PDD

Psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy, delivered as monotherapy or in combination, are so far the two main pillars of treatment for PDD. A large body of research suggests that pharmacotherapeutic and psychotherapeutic interventions are generally less effective for chronic forms of depression, particularly dysthymia, than for episodic depressive disorders (Cuijpers et al., 2010; Cuijpers et al., 2011; Thase, 2006). More precisely, patients with PDD are more likely to have a higher frequency of underwent treatments as well as a longer average treatment duration compared to those with a non-chronic course (S. Köhler et al., 2018). In a study by Angst and colleagues (2009), the lifetime prevalence of treatment for depression was 81.8% for patients with PDD in contrast to 60.7% for patients with non-chronic MDD. Regarding inpatient treatment, patients with PDD showed a lifetime prevalence of 24.1% for hospitalizations due to mental health problems in contrast to 12.1% in patients without chronic depression (Satyanarayana et al., 2009). Furthermore, inpatients with PDD were reported to have a longer average duration of inpatient treatments, as well as lower response and remission rates in a study by S. Köhler and colleagues (2015).

On the other hand, it is not uncommon for patients with PDD to seek their first treatment only several years after the onset of the disorder, which may result in a less positive outcome even when the appropriate treatment is provided (Schramm et al., 2020). Moreover, a positive treatment outcome is often impeded by an insufficient dose or duration of the administered treatment (Kocsis et al., 2008), with many patients showing a relatively low treatment compliance (Gopinath et al., 2007). The scarcity of treatment responses may explain why approximately 40% of patients with PDD are considered treatment-resistant in terms of their symptomatology (Schramm et al., 2020), although there is no consensus on the definition of treatment-resistant depressive symptoms in either research or clinical practice (Brown et al., 2019). In the following, previous evidence on the general effectiveness of various forms of psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy, and their combination will be reviewed. The suitability of specific therapies for individual subgroups of PDD patients will be further addressed in subchapter 2.3. Moreover, the German health care guideline for the treatment of unipolar depression will be briefly presented with regard to its current recommendations for the treatment of PDD within the German health care system.

**Psychotherapy.** Psychotherapy, along with pharmacotherapy, is one of the two central components in the treatment of PDD. A meta-analysis based on 16 RCTs conducted in patients with chronic major depression and dysthymia by Cuijpers and colleagues (2010) revealed that in general, psychotherapy has a small yet significant effect (d = 0.23; 95% CI: 0.06 to 0.41) on PDD compared with various control groups such as treatment as usual (TAU), nonspecific control groups, placebo, or wait-list. This meta-analysis further found that the size of the effect was related to the number of psychotherapy sessions, with a minimum of 18 sessions being necessary for psychotherapy to achieve an optimal effect in patients with PDD. The fact that all investigated single studies contained psychotherapeutic interventions with fewer than 18 sessions could be one explanation for the relatively general low effect of psychotherapy in PDD, particularly in patients with dysthymia (Cuijpers et al., 2010). This

conclusion is supported by other findings, which suggest that a longer duration of psychotherapy and a higher number of sessions results in better outcomes for PDD patients (Schramm et al., 2015; Schramm et al., 2017; Wiersma et al., 2014).

Regarding single psychotherapies, most research has been conducted on the effectiveness of CBASP as the only psychotherapy model specially designed to meet the needs of patients with PDD (McCullough, 2000). CBASP operates on different techniques including situation analysis, interpersonal discrimination exercises, and behavioural skills training by using the patient-therapist relationship as a central therapeutic tool of interpersonal fear reduction (McCullough, 2000; McCullough, 2003). In a systematic review and meta-analysis by Negt and colleagues (2016) based on six RCTs comprising a total of N = 1510 patients with PDD, the authors reported a significant posttreatment effect size of small magnitude (q = 0.34; 95% CI: 0.09 to 0.59; p = 0.007), indicating a small general superiority of CBASP over the compared conditions including TAU, Brief Supportive Psychotherapy, ADM, Interpersonal Therapy (IPT) or Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT). More precisely, CBASP had a general superiority when compared to other psychotherapies such as IPT (Schramm et al., 2011), SP (Schramm et al., 2017), or TAU consisting of psychotherapy treatments generally offered to PDD patients in Dutch study centres (Wiersma et al., 2014). In another RCT included in this meta-analysis, Michalak and colleagues (2015) compared TAU to a 8-week group version of CBASP plus TAU as well as MBCT plus TAU in a sample of patients with PDD and could not detect a significant difference between the effects of these two latter treatment groups, but a non-significant trend favouring CBASP over MBCT in reducing depression severity. Furthermore, the CBASP plus TAU group was significantly more effective in reducing depressive symptoms than TAU.

Notably, a recent paper by Habtewold and colleagues (2022) addressed several methodological limitations in relation to the meta-analysis by Negt and colleagues (2016) and presented the results of an updated version of this meta-analysis including a further RCT by Rief and colleagues (2018) in the study database. Their reported findings from both a conventional meta-analysis and an additional Bayesian meta-analysis suggested that CBASP was not significantly superior to other treatments overall, which is in contrast to the earlier findings of Negt and colleagues (2016). This main finding was further confirmed in a leaveone-out sensitivity analysis excluding single studies. A further meta-regression including the number of sessions as a potential moderator showed that additional treatment sessions, however, significantly increased the effect size. However, as expressed in a comment by Elsaesser and colleagues (2022), the meta-analysis by Habtewold and colleagues (2022) merits critical evaluation itself due to several reasons: the authors did not base their analysis on a systematic review, omitted one large RCT conducted in outpatients with PDD (Schramm et al., 2017), and instead included the additional RCT (Rief et al., 2018) that comprised mostly patients with episodic depression. Given these and other methodological weaknesses of this newer meta-analysis, its results remain questionable.

While most RCTs conducted on PDD mainly involved outpatient samples, there are also some studies that have examined CBASP in an inpatient setting. For instance, Brakemeier and colleagues (2011) investigated the acceptance and effect of CBASP in a sample of N = 10inpatients with DSM-IV (APA, 1994) defined severe chronic depression. Patients rated their satisfaction with CBASP as high and improved significantly in terms of depression severity. These promising results could be confirmed by a larger study conducted by Sabaß and colleagues (2018), who investigated the feasibility of 10 sessions of CBASP delivered as group therapy in a naturalistic multi-center trial conducted in N = 116 inpatients with PDD. Overall, the results indicated that CBASP was well accepted by both patients and therapists. It was further associated with significant improvements in both depression and quality of life. Moreover, in a pilot study by Brakemeier and colleagues (2015), CBASP appeared to be feasible as a 12-week treatment delivered for N = 70 treatment-resistant inpatients with PDD, leading to a clinically relevant effect size, a response rate of 75.7% and a remission rate of 40.0%. However, the findings of these studies should be interpreted with caution given the lack of a control group and their small samples sizes.

Further advocacy for the use of CBASP for PDD was provided by the expert panel review of the "EPA Guidance Group on Psychotherapy in chronic depression", which concluded that psychotherapeutic treatment specifically targeting patients' common characteristics should be a clinician's first choice, which is why CBASP has been recommended as first-line treatment for PDD (Jobst et al., 2016). This recommendation was based on the comprehensive evaluation of numerous systematic reviews, meta-analyses, RCTs, as well as cohort studies, case series, and open studies conducted to examine the effectiveness of CBASP for PDD.

As a further result, given the rather limited evidence of its effectiveness for PDD, Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy (CBT) has been recommended as a third-line treatment for PDD. Further, due to the limited available empirical support as well as the clinical experiences of experts, the same recommendation was provided for psychodynamic and psychoanalytic treatments, as well as for Problem-Solving Therapy, Schema Therapy, Radically Open Dialectic Behavioural Therapy and MBCT (Jobst et al., 2016). The effectiveness of these approaches needs to be further examined in future trials, preferably by adopting a personalized, samplestratifying approach. In line with this, the expert panel recommended clinicians to select the type of psychotherapy on an individual basis, taking into account patient personal characteristics such as early or late onset, type of depression, number of episodes, recall of childhood trauma, symptom severity, treatment preference, or comorbidity of personality disorders (Jobst et al., 2016). To date, however, there have been very few studies examining which psychotherapies work best for patients with these characteristics (see also sub-chapter 2.3). The overarching aim of Paper 1 (Serbanescu, Walter, et al., 2020) of this dissertation is to provide evidence to help understand which of two psychotherapies (i.e., disorder-specific CBASP versus non-specific SP) is likely to work better for certain subgroups of patients, while Paper 2 (Serbanescu, Backenstrass, et al., 2020) aims to provide evidence to help understand which subgroups of patients are likely to benefit more or less from both psychotherapies.

**Pharmacotherapy.** Several short- and long-term clinical trials have investigated the effect of several classes of ADM in patients with chronic depression and dysthymia. A review by Kocsis (2003) yielded that the effectiveness of antidepressants in dysthymia and double depression has been demonstrated reasonably conclusively in several six to 12-week short-term studies, although the average rate of complete remission has been well below 50%. Long-

term studies found maintenance therapy with Desipramine and Sertraline to be more effective than placebo in patients who respond to the acute and continuation phases of treatment. The need of studies with sequential algorithms of pharmacotherapy, of augmentation strategies for patients who are not fully responsive to the first treatment, and of psychotherapy as an alternative or adjunctive treatment was finally pointed out in this review. In addition, a newer network meta-analysis of pharmacological interventions for PDD revealed that selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), Moclobemide, Imipramine, Ritanserin, and Amisulpride were in average more efficacious and at least as acceptable as placebo (Kriston et al., 2014). Moreover, the SSRI Fluoxetine proved to be less effective, and Imipramine less acceptable than other drugs in this study.

When compared to psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy, especially in the form of SSRIs, was more effective (d = -0.31; 95% CI: -0.53 to -0.0) in a meta-analysis by Cuijpers and colleagues (2010). However, this result was exclusively due to patients with dysthymia included in the analysed studies, leaving open the question of which type of treatment works likely better in other forms of PDD. In an Individual Participant Data Network Meta-Regression (IPD-NMA) by Furukawa and colleagues (2018) based on three RCTs with broader PDD populations, psychotherapy and ADM showed essentially similar results when delivered as monotherapies. However, this result was only valid for patients with characteristics near the population averages (e.g., low or moderate baseline depression and anxiety), with both monotherapies displaying different effects depending on the severity of baseline depression and anxiety, previous history of pharmacotherapy, age at baseline, and PDD subtypes. These important results suggest that for some subgroups of patients either CBASP or ADM alone is a likely more effective treatment option and highlight the need for more investigations. Paper 3 of this dissertation aims to provide further evidence on which subtypes of patients with DSM-IV defined chronic depression are likely to benefit more from monotherapy with Escitalopram in combination with Clinical Management than from CBASP and vice versa.

**Combination treatment of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy.** Regarding the evaluation of combination treatments consisting of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy

versus pharmacotherapy or psychotherapy delivered as monotherapy, a number of systematic reviews and meta-analyses consistently revealed that patients with PDD are likely to benefit more from a combined treatment (e.g., Cuijpers et al., 2010; Kriston et al., 2014; Spijker et al., 2013; von Wolff et al., 2012). In addition, a 12-week single-trial by Manber and colleagues (2008) revealed that the combination of ADM and psychotherapy led to full remission from PDD more rapidly than either of the two treatment options delivered as monotherapies, which did not differed from each other. Moreover, two extensive clinical trials conducted in patients with PDD revealed that the majority of patients preferred combination therapy over monotherapy (Kocsis, Leon, et al., 2009; Steidtmann et al., 2012). In line with this, the IPD-NMA by Furukawa and colleagues (2018) suggested that a combination of CBASP and ADM was significantly superior over both monotherapies in terms of efficacy and acceptability.

However, in a reanalysis of archival data, Stulz and colleagues (2010) identified three PDD patient subgroups based on their typical patterns of change in depression severity during a 12-week acute treatment phase. Differential treatment effects were found in these three subgroups, with combination treatment consisting of CBASP plus Nefazodone outperforming the two monotherapies with CBASP and Nefazodone in the largest patient subgroup, which was characterized by a moderate baseline depression severity, but not in the remaining two subgroups, which were characterized by low and severe depression severities at baseline. Consequently, these results suggest that it is not reasonable to generalize that a combination treatment of ADM and psychotherapy is likely to work better than monotherapy with either ADM or psychotherapy for any given patient. In line with this, several studies could not demonstrate a clear benefit for combination treatment versus ADM alone in patients with dysthymia (e.g., Browne et al., 2002; Markowitz et al., 2005). Taken together, and similar to other previously mentioned findings related to the effectiveness of monotherapies, these results suggest that interindividual differences exist between several PDD subgroups regarding their benefit from combination treatment over monotherapy. Once more, personalized medical research focusing on the differential effect of combination versus single treatments is required,

which will however not be addressed within the scope of this dissertation, which focuses on comparing the effects of various monotherapies.

Recommendations of the German Care Guideline for the Treatment of Unipolar Depression with regard to the treatment of PDD. The German Care Guideline for the Treatment of Unipolar Depression ("Nationale Versorgungsleitlinie -Unipolare Depression - Version 3.0"; Bundesärztekammer et al., 2022), which was released by several national committees at the end of September 2022 and will remain valid for the German health care system until its next revision in 2027, includes several recommendations for the management of PDD in a specific subchapter. According to this guideline, the recommendations are based on the extrapolation of scientific evidence as well as on the results of systematic searches and systematic reviews. Because of the low quality of evidence, recommendations regarding PDD are mainly consensus-based and rely on clinical considerations. More precisely, for previously untreated chronic depressive disorders, severity-specific recommendations for acute depressive episode should be followed. From the point of view of the expert panel, the choice of treatment should be based not only on the severity but also on the type of symptoms and other individual factors, however without specifying these further. An initial treatment attempt with monotherapy, preferably psychotherapy, appears to be reasonable in terms of a stepped-care approach, considering chronification as a risk factor for non-response. Additionally, appropriate supportive services such as exercise or light therapy as well as peer support can be offered to the PDD patient. Furthermore, for moderate and severe forms of PDD, combination treatment of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy may be considered according to the national guideline. Low-intensity or internet- and mobile-based interventions, on the other hand, do not represent adequate options for therapy-naive PDD in the view of the expert panel of the guideline. Moreover, according to the panel, CBASP is particularly suitable for patients with an early illness onset and/or a trauma history. However, due to the lack of widespread availability and because CBASP elements are also used by other cognitive-behavioural therapy interventions, the expert panel sees no need for a specific recommendation of CBASP for PDD. As for dysthymia, the panel recommends the same clinical management approach as for other PDD forms given the high burden of suffering. Further, the national guideline does not recommend favouring psychotherapy over pharmacotherapy and vice versa. In the case of non-response to monotherapy, the panel recommends combination treatment of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy. As for double depression, combination therapy is considered appropriate. Finally, according to the expert panel, when depressive disorders become chronic despite an applied treatment, the type of previous treatment is decisive for the choice of further therapy. Consequently, depressive disorders that have become chronic despite an applied treatment should be treated according to the guideline recommendations for action in the event of nonresponse or resistance to a treatment. These include evaluating the cause of non-response or resistance to a previously applied treatment, modifying specific elements of the applied therapy, selecting a different therapy, adding another therapy, or using measures to improve the therapy adherence (Bundesärztekammer et al., 2022).

## 2.2 Personalized Medicine – moving beyond "one size fits all"

### 2.2.1 Definition of Personalized Medicine

As stated by Kraemer & Gibbons (2009), from a statistical perspective, an effect size comparing two different treatments tested in an RCT represents merely an average effect over multiple individual patients included in the analysis; however, *"It is seldom, if ever, true that "one size fits all", that the effect size in a population, particularly a heterogeneous one, applies to every individual patient within that population."* (Kraemer & Gibbons, 2009, p. 739). In conclusion, the fact that many treatments showing statistically significant effects in RCTs turned out to be of poor effect when used for individual patients in mental health care has necessitated a more personalized approach to both research and treatment (Kraemer, 2016). The resulting development of personalized treatment approaches, or, more briefly, of *personalized medicine,* is widely considered to be one of the most promising but also greatest challenges for health research in the coming decades (Hamburg & Collins, 2010; Topol & Lauer, 2003).

In the last decades, the term "personalized medicine" has been widely used across different spheres of the healthcare system such as patient care and research, while lacking a clear definition and thus remaining open to interpretation at the same time (Schleidgen et al., 2013). Nonetheless, there is largely consensus across literature in that compared to population-based research models, personalized medicine relies on using a patient's individual socio-demographic, clinical, (neuro-)biological, genetic or environmental characteristics as basis for making predictions regarding illness prevention, diagnosis as well as treatment effects and selection (Simon & Perlis, 2010; Wium-Andersen et al., 2016). More precisely, the main three goals of personalized medicine are to predict the individual's susceptibility to a certain disease or disorder, to achieve an accurate individual diagnosis, and to provide an efficient and favourable treatment (Ozomaro et al., 2013). Thus, instead of focusing on general treatment effects or illness trajectories in a clinical population, research embracing the philosophy of personalized medicine seeks to understand how certain preselected pre-treatment or pre-illness characteristics influence the treatment outcome, or, respectively, the illness trajectories.

Other synonyms frequently used are "individualized medicine" or "precision medicine", the latter of which was introduced by the US National Research Council as a more appropriate substitute for "individualized medicine", which was thought to be misinterpreted as implying that individualized treatments are provided for individuals (National Research Council (US) Committee on A Framework for Developing a New Taxonomy of Disease, 2011). The term personalized medicine is also to differentiate from the one of "stratified medicine", which is often used as a synonym, but which is rather aiming at identifying biomarkers or psychological tests in order to stratify patients in subgroups relevant to treatment instead of matching treatments to individual patients based on their promising effectiveness (Wium-Andersen et al., 2016).

As proposed by Schleidgen and colleagues (2013), the methodology of research based on personalized medicine can be basically divided into its ends (*what does it want to optimize/improve?*) and means (*by what means does it achieve this?*). In terms of ends,

personalized medicine may aim at improving or optimizing the outcome of treatments regarding different dimensions such as effectiveness (e.g., reducing illness severity or certain symptoms), safety (e.g., reducing side effects), or cost-efficiency. This is strongly related to the aim of personalizing treatment selection, i.e., the expertise to match patients with what is likely to be the most effective, and/or safe, and/or cost-efficient treatment. Moreover, personalized medicine can aim to improve the accuracy of diagnostics and the prediction of illness trajectories (Wium-Andersen et al., 2016). In terms of its means, in order to successfully reach these overarching aims, personalized medicine research relies on pre-treatment or baseline characteristics such as biomarkers, clinical factors, or phenomenology (Cuijpers et al., 2012; Schleidgen et al., 2013; Wium-Andersen et al., 2016), which are used to predict the selected ends as accurate as possible. Most research literature based on personalized medicine and related terms has focused on genetic and molecular predictors of treatment response, as shown by a comprehensive review including 683 papers using the term of personalized medicine by Schleidgen and colleagues (2013). However, this represents an existing research bias, as in mental health research (and not only there), predictors and moderators of treatment response may also origin from other categories relevant for treatment outcome.

Moreover, personalized medicine may focus on predicting post-treatment ends with regard to single treatments, or on predicting the differences in these ends (e.g., effectiveness) between two or more treatments which are directly compared, as for instance in an RCT. This is investigated at the level of patient subgroups, rather than the entire sample (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018; Kraemer et al., 2006), and requires specific statistical methods in order to achieve predictive accuracy. The following sub-chapter 2.2.2 provides an overview of older and newer statistical methods used in personalized medical research.

#### 2.2.2 Statistical Approaches in Personalized Medicine

For investigating the question of "*what works for whom*?" in depression research, most studies to date have relied on single variables prediction models, thereby identifying isolated predictors or moderators of treatment outcome (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018). However, due to several reasons, multivariable prediction methods that use data from RCTs to build statistical models linking several patient characteristics to the outcome have been also developed and applied over time. The main methodological definitions and used statistical single- and multivariable approaches are presented and discussed in the following section.

**Predictor variables.** Let's assume one wants to learn whether a particular baseline variable (e.g., age at baseline) can predict the treatment outcome (e.g., post-treatment depression severity) of one or two treatments compared in an RCT (e.g., CBASP versus ADM). In an RCT, for a variable to be a predictor of an outcome, it must first timely precede both the treatment and the outcome (i.e., be measured before the treatment start or at randomisation/ baseline) and, second, be statistically correlated with the outcome variable obtained after the treatment or intervention (Kraemer, 2013). Theoretically, in an RCT comparing two treatments, a baseline variable can be a predictor of the treatment outcome in 1. the treatment group, 2. the control or comparison group, 3. both, or 4. neither (Kraemer, 2013). For instance, a higher age may predict a higher mean post-treatment depression severity in both the CBASP and ADM group, or only in one of the two groups. The strength of prediction can vary and is usually conveyed by a correlation coefficient between the baseline variable and the outcome variable (Kraemer, 2013). Importantly, with regard to the interpretation of results, the correlation between predictor and outcome variables implies no direct causality between them.

**Moderator variables.** A researcher may next want to learn whether a particular baseline variable (e.g., gender) can predict the difference in outcome (e.g., post-treatment depression severity) between two treatments directly compared in an RCT (e.g., CBASP versus ADM). In our example, we may want to explore the question of whether women do likely benefit more from CBASP than from ADM compared to men, and vice versa (i.e., do men likely benefit more from ADM than from CBASP compared to women). In an RCT, for being a moderator of the treatment effect on the outcome, a variable must fulfil three conditions: first, the moderator variable must timely precede the treatment (i.e., be measured before the treatment start or at randomisation/baseline) which, in turn, must timely precede the outcome. Second, the moderator variable and treatment allocation must be statistically independent form each other, which can be assured by randomisation (Kraemer, 2013). In our example with gender as potential moderator, statistically equal proportions of men and women would have to be distributed across the two treatment groups at baseline. Third, if the study sample is stratified by the moderator variable (e.g., men versus women), the treatment effect size (e.g., of CBASP versus ADM) is different in the stratified subgroups (Kraemer, 2013). In our example, CBASP might be associated with a lower post-treatment mean depression severity than ADM in women, whereas in men, ADM might be associated with a lower posttreatment mean depression severity than CBASP. In summary, a moderator of treatment effect is a baseline variable that identifies subgroups of patients within the study sample who have different treatment effect sizes (Kraemer et al., 2006).

Importantly, the term "moderator" must be differentiated from the term "mediator", given that both terms have been used inconsistently and often idiosyncratically by researchers in the last 60 years (Kraemer & Gibbons, 2009). In contrast to a moderator, a mediator is a variable that is measured *after* the treatment start or randomisation, thus occurring during, and not before, the treatment or intervention, being correlated with the treatment assignment, and explaining the relationship between treatment and outcome, thereby revealing possible causal mechanisms through which a treatment might achieve its effects (Kraemer et al., 2002). For instance, the quality of the therapeutic alliance between patient and therapist established within the treatment phase was found to mediate the effects of CBASP and Brief Supportive Therapy (Arnow et al., 2013). A moderator analysis may be thus meaningfully followed by a mediator analysis examining possible causal mechanisms in each identified subgroup (Kraemer, 2013).

Finally, both predictors and moderators can be of categorical as well as of metric nature, the latter stratifying the population to a higher degree (Kraemer, 2013). Baseline variables analysed as potential predictors or moderators might include gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic class, initial severity, certain biomarkers, or the subtype of the disorder. Moreover, because from a clinical perspective, one is usually interested in selecting the likely most beneficial treatment from a variety of available options for a given patient, moderators play a more important role for research that aims to inform clinical practice than predictors (Kraemer et al., 2006; Kraemer, 2013).

Multivariable prediction models. As pointed out by DeRubeis (2019), findings of statistically significant individual predictors or moderators were never quite likely to inform clinical practice. Despite the large body of evidence reporting single characteristics that influence the response to treatments for depression, no single biomarker, demographic, personal, or clinical variable has yet been selected to support personalized treatment recommendations in real practice (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018). This is primarily because individual moderators rarely account for enough variance in clinical populations to be replicated across multiple studies, especially since most RCTs are statistically underpowered and thereby fail to detect even modest interaction effects between moderator variables and the treatment group (Kraemer & Gibbons, 2009; Luedtke et al., 2019). Moreover, single moderator variables tend to have relatively small moderator effect sizes, which is further limiting their relevance for personalized treatment selection in clinical practice (Wallace & Smagula, 2018). Furthermore, different evidence-based recommendations, each based on different distinct moderator findings, may be contradictory for the same patient, whenever the case arises that moderator findings recommend different treatments for the same patient. To address these issues, researchers have developed multivariable prediction models, in which information from multiple baseline variables identified as moderators or predictors are combined in a way that captures a greater proportion of the variance in the population and simultaneously predict treatment outcome as a function of this variance (DeRubeis, 2019).

To start presenting one multivariable approach, about 20 years ago, Wolfgang Lutz and colleagues transferred a statistical method developed by avalanche researchers, also called the "nearest neighbour" method, to the question of clinical prediction (Lutz et al., 2005). Most of their work based on this method focused on predictors of treatment effectiveness, but they also described how it can be used to predict which of two treatments a particular person is more likely to benefit from (Lutz et al., 2006). Briefly, the nearest neighbour method examines the outcomes of several patients in a sample who are most similar to a fictitious target patient in

terms of baseline variables such as demographics, symptoms, and other measures. Predicting the outcomes of the target patient results from comparing the average outcomes of those nearest neighbours who received treatment X, to the average outcomes of those nearest neighbours who received treatment Y. However, the determination of the nearest neighbours depends on many factors and rather subjective decisions that the researcher must make in advance. These include choosing which baseline variables to use to determine the closeness, whether and how to weight the included baseline variables, and deciding how much of the neighbours' data to use to predict the outcome of the target patient (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018).

Several years after the introduction of this method, DeRubeis and colleagues (2014) developed an alternative method for treatment outcome prediction called the Personalized Advantage Index (PAI). The goal here is to estimate the outcomes that each patient in a sample would experience under each of two compared treatments, and to yield the difference between these estimates to predict which treatment is likely more effective for a certain patient. More precisely, this method first implies that single baseline variables are individually examined for their roles as predictors or moderators of treatment success (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018). This is usually done in the context of regression models in which the interaction term between the treatment condition and the baseline variable of interest is tested for statistical significance (see Fournier et al., 2009, for an application of this method). Next, from the set of baseline variables that have thus been identified as significant predictors or moderators of treatment effect, a multivariable statistical model is constructed, including the main terms of the treatment variable and the baseline variables as well as interaction terms between the treatment variable and moderators. To deliver a prediction for the outcomes of a given patient under treatment A or B, this researcher group has relied on the leave-one-out-technique, in which a patient's observed values for all independent variables and the value representing treatment A or B, respectively, are inserted into the prediction model which is estimated in the sample of all other patients. The PAI for a given patient is equivalent to the difference in the predicted outcomes for the two treatments (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018).

While this method has found its application in various studies (e.g., DeRubeis et al., 2014; Huibers et al., 2015; van Bronswijk et al., 2019; Webb et al., 2018) and helped to achieve some progress for personalized medicine in mental health research, methodologically, it has some weaknesses. First, selecting individual variables based on their isolated statistical significance as predictors or moderators can be problematic in the context of small samples sizes, which are underpowered for detecting significant interaction effects (Kraemer, 2013). Second, the statistical significance of a moderator is not indicative of its moderator effect size (i.e., the degree to which it differentiates the outcome per treatment condition), which is however more relevant for clinical practice (Kraemer et al., 2006). Finally, examining numerous baseline variables by many performed statistical tests will likely lead to false positives results that may reduce the predictive accuracy of the PAI regression model.

Simultaneously with the development of the PAI method and during a time where statistical methods assessing the strength or impact of a moderator in a clinically and/or scientifically meaningful way were largely lacking, Helena Kraemer (2013) developed the "combined moderator" method, sometimes also referred to as the "optimal composite moderator". As suggested by its name, this method combines multiple individual baseline variables identified as moderators based on their moderator effect size to a combined moderator  $M^*$ , which is further used to identify and subsequently characterize patients who are likely to benefit more from one treatment than from another (Kraemer, 2013; Wallace et al., 2018). Importantly, baseline variables are defined as moderators based on their moderator effect sizes rather than the *p*-values of their interaction effects with the treatment variable abstaining from including the statistical significance of interaction effects between treatment and moderator variables is thus in line with the exploratory character of most of moderator analyses (Kraemer, 2013; Wasserstein & Lazar, 2016). Moreover, moderator effect sizes obtained after this method are invariant over linear transformations of the baseline variable or the outcome, varying between -1 and +1, with higher magnitudes indicating a stronger moderation and zero indicating the absence of a moderation effect (Kraemer, 2013). Usually, an effect size  $\geq |0.10|$  (i.e., at least small) is set to consider a variable as a moderator (see
Smagula et al., 2016 and Wallace et al., 2018, as examples of applications of this method). Next, in a dataset pairing each patient who received treatment A with each one who received treatment B, weights of the single moderators are estimated by a multivariable regression model, in which the between-patients difference in outcome is predicted by the averages of all preselected individual moderators for each patient pair. Afterwards, the thereby resulting regression weights of all preselected moderators are extracted to calculate the value of  $M^*$  for each patient. Finally, in the unpaired dataset, a regression analysis predicting the outcome from the combined moderator  $M^*$ , the treatment group, and their interaction is performed. Additionally, the combined moderator can be further used to subdivide the total sample into two subgroups each of which is likely to benefit more from one treatment than the other. By characterizing these subgroups based on their baseline profiles, one can gain an understanding of which treatment is likely more effective for which type of patients (Kraemer, 2013). Thus, compared to the PAI method, the combined moderator method does not imply to conduct numerous statistical tests to pre-select baseline variables, and considers effect sizes which are comparable across different studies rather than statistical significances, which are sampledependent, when selecting moderators.

So far, the method of the combined moderator was applied in several secondary analyses of RCTs examining interventions for episodic depression (Wallace et al., 2013), latelife depression (Smagula et al., 2016), bipolar disorders (Frank et al., 2014) and anxiety disorders (Niles, Loerinc, et al., 2017; Niles, Wolitzky-Taylor, et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2017). Based on the discussed methodological advantages over the other two multivariable methods presented in this sub-chapter, the combined moderator method was also applied in Paper 1 and Paper 3 of this dissertation, both of which focused on moderator effects, being thus used for the first time in two populations with PDD.

#### 2.3 Personalized Medicine for PDD: State of the Art

In order to gain a better understanding regarding the effect of different psychotherapeutic and pharmacotherapeutic treatments for specific subgroups of patients

with PDD, several studies have examined the extent to which baseline characteristics predict or moderate the effectiveness of treatments for patients with PDD. In the following, the main findings of several secondary analyses are summarized grouped by examined baseline characteristics.

**Baseline severity of depression and anxiety**. In their IPD-NMA, Furukawa and colleagues (2018) analysed data from three RCTs (Keller et al., 2000; Kocsis, Gelenberg, et al., 2009; Schramm et al., 2015) aiming to understand for whom CBASP, ADM, or their combination work best. Primary outcomes were reduction in depression severity as well as dropout rates indicating treatment acceptability. Various baseline variables including baseline severity of depression and anxiety were examined as potential predictors and moderators of treatment effect. Results revealed that for patients with severe baseline depression and severe baseline anxiety, combination treatment was generally more effective than pharmacotherapy alone, which in turn was more effective than CBASP alone. In contrast, patients with moderate baseline depression and mild baseline anxiety benefited equally well from combination treatment and CBASP alone, but less from pharmacotherapy alone.

**Age.** So far, there exists only one finding examining age in its function for treatment outcome: in the IPD-NMA by Furukawa and colleagues (2018), pharmacotherapy alone was concluded to be likely more acceptable in younger patients with PDD, given the relatively high dropout rates in these patients for both combination therapy and CBASP alone.

**Childhood trauma.** Given the close association between PDD and childhood trauma (see also sub-chapter 2.1.2), several studies have focused on investigating the effect of childhood (sometimes also labelled as "early") trauma on the differential effectiveness of various treatments. Nemeroff and colleagues (2003) were the first to publish an analysis of the influence of childhood trauma (defined in their study as loss of parents at an early age, physical or sexual abuse, or neglect) on the effect of psychotherapy versus ADM in a sample of N = 681 patients with DSM-IV defined chronic depression randomized to receive a 12-week treatment with either Nefazodone, CBASP, or their combination (Keller et al., 2000). Monotherapy with CBASP was superior to monotherapy with Nefazodone among those with a history of childhood

trauma. Moreover, the combination of CBASP and Nefazodone was only marginally superior to monotherapy with CBASP among the subgroup of patients with childhood abuse. These results thus suggested that CBASP is an effective, recommendable treatment for patients with PDD who report childhood trauma, and likely superior to ADM.

In a later secondary analysis of a bi-centric RCT carried out in non-medicated adult outpatients meeting DSM-IV criteria for chronic depression (Schramm et al., 2015), Bausch and colleagues (2017) aimed to replicate these findings by analyzing the impact of childhood trauma as measured by the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein et al., 2003) and the Early Trauma Inventory (ETI; Bremner et al., 2000) on the effectiveness of CBASP versus Escitalopram plus Clinical Management (ESC/CM). In the original RCT, N = 60 patients were randomized to an 8-week acute treatment with CBASP or ESC/CM, followed by further 20 weeks of extended treatment. Contrary to the hypotheses, the presence of childhood trauma was not found to be a significant moderator of differential treatment effect regarding any outcome measure after 28 weeks of treatment. However, after eight weeks of treatment, patients with a history of childhood trauma receiving CBASP had a significantly lower response rate compared to patients without childhood trauma and to those receiving ESC/CM. Overall, it was concluded that CBASP and ESC/CM are equally effective in treating patients with PDD and childhood trauma, although CBASP may have a longer treatment latency. The data of this RCT by Schramm and colleagues (2015) have also been subject of the analyses conducted in Paper 3, so it will be referred to again in sub-chapters 4.3 and 5.1.

In another secondary analysis, Klein and colleagues (2018) investigated the effect of childhood trauma on the differential effect of 20 weeks of treatment with CBASP versus SP based on the data from an evaluator-blinded multi-centric RCT (Schramm et al., 2017). A total of N = 268 non-medicated adult outpatients meeting DSM-IV criteria for chronic depression with early onset were randomized to receive a total of 48 weeks of CBASP or SP. In the secondary analysis by Klein and colleagues (2018), the presence of childhood trauma as well as various subtypes measured by the CTQ were tested as predictors and moderators. As expected, childhood trauma was found to moderate the effect of treatment in terms of

depression severity and chances of remission, but not of response, in favour of CBASP after the 20-week treatment phase. Among the subtypes, early emotional abuse was found to moderate the effect of treatment in favour of CBASP, while emotional neglect predicted a less favourable outcome independent of treatment allocation. However, in sensitivity analyses in which the clinician-rated ETI was used to divide patients into subgroups with and without childhood trauma, the interaction effects were not found to be statistically significant, which may have been due to the low statistical power (Klein et al., 2018). Overall, CBASP was concluded to be more beneficial than SP for PDD patients with childhood trauma.

Finally, in a secondary analysis of the RCT comparing eight weeks of TAU to CBASP and TAU as well as to MBCT and TAU (Michalak et al., 2015), Michalak and colleagues (2016) found childhood trauma as measured by the CTQ at baseline not to moderate the differential treatment effect between CBASP and MBCT, but between CBASP and TAU as well as MBCT and TAU between the end of treatment and a six-month follow-up in favour of CBASP and MBCT. This moderator role was however not found for the time between baseline and posttreatment.

**Comorbid personality disorders.** In another secondary analysis of the previously mentioned RCT comparing CBASP to SP in patients with early-onset chronic depression (Schramm et al., 2017), Erkens and colleagues (2018) examined the association between comorbidity of personality disorders and the outcome under both treatments. In total, 38.4% of the patients met criteria for at least one comorbid personality disorder. Nevertheless, the authors detected neither a significant main effect of comorbidity of personality disorders on treatment outcome at week 20, nor a significant interaction between comorbidity of personality disorders and treatment. The generalizability of these results is limited as patients with antisocial, schizotypal, and borderline personality disorders were not included in the study.

**Treatment preference.** The RCT comparing CBASP, Nefazodone and their combination (Keller et al., 2000) served for a further secondary analysis in which Kocsis, Leon, and colleagues (2009) examined the patients' treatment preference at baseline as a potential

moderator of treatment outcome. The performed analyses revealed an interactive effect of treatment preference and treatment group on post-treatment depression severity and remission rates. More precisely, among those patients who preferred CBASP, those receiving it had better outcomes than those receiving Nefazodone and vice versa - among patients preferring Nefazodone, those receiving it scored better than those who received CBASP. These results could however not be replicated in another moderator analysis by Steidtmann and colleagues (2012), who reported no association between the baseline treatment preference and symptom reduction or attrition in Phase II of the REVAMP trial (Kocsis, Gelenberg, et al., 2009). In this phase, patients who did not remitted in a previous 12-week treatment phase received further 12 weeks of either CBASP plus ADM, Brief Supportive Psychotherapy plus ADM, or ADM alone. Cell sizes were furthermore too small to conduct further analyses in this study.

**Interpersonal problems**. Interpersonal problems are an important feature in patients with PDD (S. Köhler et al., 2018) and were therefore investigated as moderator in the following secondary analysis by Probst and colleagues (2020). In the original RCT, patients meeting DSM-IV criteria for chronic depression were randomized to eight weeks of TAU, CBASP and TAU, or MBCT and TAU, both delivered in a group format (Michalak et al., 2015). Interpersonal problems assessed by the different scales of the 32-item version of the Inventory of Interpersonal Problems (IIP; Bailey et al., 2018) were examined as moderators of post-treatment depression severity measured by the 24-item version of the HRSD. Interestingly, in terms of post-treatment depression severity, patients with higher scores on the "vindictive/self-centered" subscale of the IIP had a better outcome with MBCT than with CBASP, while those with higher scores on the "non-assertive" subscale achieved better outcomes with CBASP than with MBCT.

**Dysfunctional attitudes.** As a further secondary analysis of the REVAMP trial (Kocsis, Gelenberg, et al., 2009), the study by Shankman and colleagues (2013) examined whether the pre-treatment levels of dysfunctional attitudes moderated the treatment response. In the second phase of this trial, the level of dysfunctional attitudes predicted a differential

response in the ADM group, but not in the two psychotherapy (CBASP and Brief Supportive Psychotherapy) plus ADM groups. Specifically, in the ADM group, patients with higher dysfunctional attitudes improved better than those with lower ones, indicating that greater pre-treatment dysfunctional attitudes in PDD may be associated with a better response to pharmacotherapy.

# 3. Motivation, Aims and Research Questions of this Dissertation

The review of secondary analyses summarized in the previous chapter shows that most previous studies focused on analysing the impact of a single baseline variable coming from a certain domain by following a sample stratifying statistical approach, which divided the sample in patients meeting the criteria for a categorical variable (e.g., childhood trauma) and those who don't, or, as for continuous variables, which differentiated the sample in patients with higher values of that variable and those with relatively lower ones (e.g., baseline depression). Therefore, the majority of available moderator and predictor studies in PDD can be categorized to follow the aims of stratified medicine, rather than personalized medicine (Wium-Andersen et al., 2016).

Although relevant for theory and novel treatment development, research emphasizing individual baseline variables has several limitations with consequences for both research and clinical practice: first, although investigated baseline variables such as baseline depression severity or dysfunctional attitudes are plausibly decisive for (differential) treatment success, they do not reflect the entire individuality of a patient with PDD, who will have many other treatment success determining variables that are left unconsidered when relying on stratifying statistical approaches focusing on single variables. Second, the composition of further unconsidered baseline variables in a clinical sample may likely influence the results of a stratifying predictor or moderator analysis, which may explain why previous research has repeatedly produced contradictory results or failed to replicate earlier findings. Third, with regard to clinical practice, the examination of single baseline variables can lead to contradictory treatment recommendations. For example, to a patient preferring ADM and recalling a history of childhood trauma, one would indicate ADM over CBASP based on its treatment preference as suggested by Kocsis, Leon, and colleagues (2009), and at the same time, CBASP over ADM with regard to its childhood trauma experiences according to the results by Nemeroff and colleagues (2003). Fourth, for clinicians, the evidence-based treatment selection becomes increasingly complicated the more variables one wishes to simultaneously take into account when selecting between various treatment options. Taken together, these issues call for a new approach of personalized treatment prediction for patients with PDD that captures the heterogeneity of the disorder (Schramm et al., 2020) and yields findings that can be more easily translated into clinical practice. The three papers of this publication-based dissertation pursued the overarching goal of capturing the assessed baseline diversity of patients with PDD and using it to predict outcomes under different psychotherapeutic and pharmacological treatments, thereby increasing the evidence base needed to personalize treatment selection for patients with PDD. The resulting research questions are as follows:

- I. Which psychotherapeutic or pharmacotherapeutic treatment, among two options compared in an RCT, is more likely to lead to a comparable better response for certain subgroups of patients, depending on their multivariable baseline profile?
  - For answering this research question, Paper 1 combines multiple moderators to detect subgroups of patients with likely differential treatment benefit from disorder-specific psychotherapy with CBASP versus nonspecific psychotherapy with SP.
  - In addition, Paper 3 combines multiple moderators to detect subgroups of patients with likely differential treatment benefit from disorder-specific psychotherapy with CBASP versus ADM in the form of ESC/CM.
- II. Which patients are more likely than others to respond better to specific psychotherapeutic treatments, depending on their multivariable baseline profile?
  - For answering this question, Paper 2 examines various baseline characteristics as predictors of treatment outcome for psychotherapy with CBASP and SP, thereby detecting subgroups of patients who are likely to benefit more or less from both treatments.

#### 4. Synopsis of Empirical Findings

This chapter presents a synopsis of the three scientific papers of this dissertation focusing on the research objectives pursued, the scientific methodology applied, as well as the results obtained. Additionally, detailed information on each paper is provided in the corresponding full-text in the appendices.

## 4.1 Paper 1: Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive disorder

by Serbanescu, Walter, and colleagues (2020) - for full-text, see Appendix 1

This paper examined whether the baseline profile of patients with PDD moderates their benefit from disorder-specific psychotherapy with CBASP versus disorder non-specific SP. For this purpose, data from a 48-week multi-center RCT conducted by Schramm and colleagues (2017) was reanalysed, in which the effectiveness of 48 weeks of CBASP was compared to SP. The sample consisted of N = 237 outpatients with DSM-IV defined chronic depression with an early-onset who were not taking ADM throughout the entire treatment period. By using the combined moderator methodology by Kraemer (2013), a combined moderator was developed as a weighted combination of 13 preselected baseline variables and used for identifying and characterizing subgroups for which CBASP was likely to result in a better response than SP and vice versa. Baseline variables examined as potential moderators came from domains including socio-demography, self-reported and clinician-rated aspects of the clinical status, childhood trauma, treatment history and treatment preference. Methodologically, the method of the combined moderator was used in combination with least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) regression to select only relevant moderators as well as k-fold cross-validation in order to build a multivariable model that is more likely to have a good predictive performance in future new data sets (for more details, see the full-text of Paper 1 in Appendix 1). The percentage change in scores of the 24-item version of the HRSD from baseline to week 48 was used as outcome.

As for the results, two distinct subgroups were identified: one including 58.65% of the patients for whom treatment with CBASP was likely to result in a greater improvement, and another comprising 41.35% of the patients, for whom treatment with SP was likely to result in a greater improvement. A between-subgroup analysis of the baseline profiles of the two subgroups revealed that patients likely responding more favourably to CBASP were initially more severely depressed and more likely affected by moderate-to-severe childhood trauma including early emotional, physical, or sexual abuse, as well as emotional or physical neglect. Patients likely responding more favourably to SP had a higher baseline global and social functioning level, a higher quality of life and more often a recurrent illness pattern without complete remission between the episodes.

Altogether, the findings of Paper 1 emphasize the relevance of considering the multiple pre-treatment characteristics identified as moderators when selecting between CBASP and SP for treating PDD. Once validated in an independent sample with more flexible inclusion criteria, these results could support mental health practitioners to select between CBASP, SP, or similar approaches such as Brief Supportive Psychotherapy for long-term psychotherapeutic treatment of patients with PDD and to enhance their individual response chances.

## 4.2 Paper 2: Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder

by Serbanescu, Backenstrass, and colleagues (2020) - for full-text, see Appendix 2

The goal of this paper was to identify baseline characteristics that predict a comparable treatment effectiveness of CBASP and SP, thereby focusing on finding predictors of treatment success. Data from the same RCT by Schramm and colleagues (2017) presented in the summary of Paper 1 was analysed for this purpose. Baseline variables analysed as potential predictors of treatment effect came from domains including socio-demography, psychosocial and global functioning, life quality, interpersonal problems, childhood trauma, treatment

history, preference for psychotherapy, and treatment expectancy of patients measured at baseline. In order to rule out possible treatment effect moderator effects, these variables were also examined as potential moderators. For determining whether a variable was a predictor or moderator of treatment effect, linear regression models were constructed with post-treatment depression severity measured by the 24-item version of the HRSD as continuous dependent variable.

Results revealed that a poor response to both psychotherapies was predicted by higher baseline levels of clinician-rated depression, elevated suicidality, comorbid anxiety, lower social functioning, higher social inhibition, moderate-to-severe childhood emotional or sexual abuse, no preference for psychotherapy, and the history of at least one previous inpatient treatment. As for moderators, in line with results from Paper 1, patients with higher baseline levels of self-rated depression, comorbidity of at least one Axis-I disorder, self-reported moderate-to-severe childhood emotional or physical neglect, or at least one previous antidepressant treatment, had a significantly lower post-treatment depression severity with CBASP compared to SP.

In conclusion, these results suggest a complex multivariable baseline profile characterized by severe initial depression, suicidality, childhood abuse, social inhibition, and anxiety, that may impede response to both CBASP and SP in patients with early-onset chronic depression. Future research is needed to understand how to improve the effectiveness of these treatments or what other alternative treatments may be more appropriate for patients with this baseline profile.

## 4.3 Paper 3: Identifying subgroups with differential response to CBASP versus Escitalopram during the first eight weeks of treatment in outpatients with persistent depressive disorder

Serbanescu and colleagues (2022), revised and resubmitted – for full-text, see Appendix 3

The overarching aim of the third paper of this dissertation was to identify and characterize subgroups of patients with PDD who are likely to benefit more from an acute treatment with CBASP than from ADM and vice versa. For this purpose, data from another RCT conducted by Schramm and colleagues (2015) was re-analyzed. In this bi-centric RCT, a total of N = 60 non-medicated outpatients with DSM-IV defined chronic depression were randomized to receive eight weeks of acute treatment with CBASP or Escitalopram, a well-tolerated standard SSRI, combined with clinical management (ESC/CM). Findings of the original analysis by Schramm and colleagues (2015) revealed that the clinician-rated Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS; Montgomery & Asberg, 1979) scores decreased significantly after both eight and 28 weeks in both treatment groups, however without statistically significant differences between the two treatments at both time points. In case of non-improvement (defined in this study as < 20.0% reduction in depression severity) after the 8-week acute treatment phase, the other treatment condition was augmented for further 20 weeks of the extended treatment phase. The main analysis revealed that non-improvers to the initial treatment caught up with the initial improvers in terms of depression severity by the end of the extended treatment phase after being augmented with the respective other condition (Schramm et al., 2015).

The focus of the moderator analysis conducted in Paper 3 was to examine whether, despite the reported general equivalence of the two treatments, there were subgroups of patients who were likely to benefit more from CBASP than from ESC/CM and vice versa during the acute 8-week treatment phase. In addition, this secondary analysis investigated whether the initial lack of response in those patients augmented with the other treatment condition at week eight was because they did not receive their likely more effective treatment during the first eight weeks, and whether the observed improvement at week 28 was likely due to the augmentation with the treatment condition from which they would have likely benefitted more from the beginning of the trial. Similar to Paper 1, by using the combined moderator method by Kraemer together with lasso regression and k-fold cross-validation, several baseline variables were compiled into one combined moderator  $M^*$  that enabled to identify two subgroups of patients who were likely to benefit more from CBASP than from ESC/CM and vice versa. The baseline variables whose moderator effect sizes were large enough to be included in the calculation of  $M^*$  were the following seven: the number of previous suicide attempts, the number of adverse life events, the presence of at least one form of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma, age, an early illness onset, female gender, and the number of previous treatments with antidepressants. The main outcome was the percentage change in depression severity measured by the MADRS from baseline to week eight.

Results revealed that for 56.0% of the patients, ESC/CM was likely associated with a greater reduction in depression severity than CBASP, while for the remaining 44.0% of patients, CBASP was likely associated with a greater reduction in depression severity than ESC/CM. Between-subgroup analyses showed that patients likely to benefit more from ESC/CM were more often female, had higher rates of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma, more adverse life events as well as more previous suicide attempts. Patients likely to benefit more from CBASP were older, had more often an early illness onset and more previous treatments with ADM. Overall, after the 8-week acute treatment phase, symptomatic response, remission, and reductions in symptom severity occurred more often in those patients treated with their likely more effective treatment condition. Moreover, 95.0% of the patients augmented with the other treatment condition after week eight received their likely less beneficial treatment during the acute treatment phase.

Overall, the findings of Paper 3 suggest that the multivariable baseline profile of patients with PDD moderates their benefit from acute treatment with CBASP relative to ESC/CM. Furthermore, according to these results, the improvement during the extended treatment phase in initial non-responders can be explained by the fact that after the eighth week, most of these patients received the treatment that was likely to be more effective for them personally, in addition to the initial, probably less effective treatment that led to their non-response. These findings are especially relevant for patients who experience side effects when receiving or discontinuing treatment with ADM or who cannot access or afford treatment with CBASP. After confirmation by an independent sample, these results could be used to guide the selection between acute psychotherapy with CBASP and pharmacotherapy with Escitalopram or comparable antidepressants in patients with PDD.

#### 5. General Discussion

The overarching aim of the present dissertation was to advance the research field of prediction of treatment outcomes for the difficult-to-treat clinical population of patients with PDD, thereby paving the way for personalized medicine for PDD. Unlike population-based research, which provides general average treatment effects that are rarely indicative for individual patients, the pathway of personalized medicine moves beyond the "one size fits all" assumption and aims to answer the question of "what works for whom?" (Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018). Moreover, in contrast to the previous research on predictors and moderators of treatment outcomes in PDD, which mostly relied on the hypothesis-driven analysis of single, isolated baseline variables, the three papers of this dissertation captured a broader baseline diversity of the studied PDD populations and used it to predict outcomes of different psychotherapeutic and pharmacological treatments. In the following sub-chapter 5.1, the main empirical results of each paper are discussed and embedded in the framework of previous evidence summarized in sub-chapter 2.3. Finally, strengths and limitations of the three papers are discussed in sub-chapter 5.2, followed by a brief reflection on possible future directions in personalized medicine for PDD and their implications in sub-chapter 5.3, and a general conclusion provided in sub-chapter 5.4.

#### **5.1 Discussion of Main Empirical Findings**

The aim of the present thesis was to gain insight into which of the two treatments compared in an RCT is more likely to result in a better response for a particular subgroup of PDD patients (research question 1), and secondly, which PDD patients are more likely to respond to certain treatments compared to others (research question 2). The identified findings refer and are limited to the comparison of CBASP versus SP investigated in a multicentre RCT by Schramm and colleagues (2017) as well as to the comparison of CBASP versus ESC/CM analysed in a second, double-centre RCT by Schramm and colleagues (2015) in outpatients with PDD. Table 2 summarizes relevant aspects of the study design and the main empirical findings of the three papers of this publication-based dissertation.

#### Table 2

| Overview of main features of the studies of the three papers included in | this dissertation |
|--|-------------------|
|--|-------------------|

| Paper<br>Nr. | Sample<br>size | Compared<br>treatments                                      | Statistical<br>methods  | Main findings   |
|--------------|----------------|---|---|---|
| 1            | N = 237        | RCT<br>comparing<br>48 weeks of<br>CBASP<br>versus SP       | Combined<br>moderator<br>( <i>M</i> *) by<br>Kraemer,<br>lasso<br>regression,<br><i>k</i> -fold<br>cross-<br>validation | <ul> <li>Baseline variables compiled to M*, indicating that</li> <li>CBASP is superior to SP:</li> <li>Being separated, divorced, or widowed</li> <li>Higher depression severity (self- and clinician rated)</li> <li>Longer illness duration</li> <li>Subtype = chronic MDE</li> <li>≥ 1 comorbid Axis-I disorder</li> <li>Childhood emotional or physical neglect</li> <li>Lower quality of life</li> </ul>       |
|              |                |   |   | SP is superior to CBASP:<br>· Subtype = recurrent MDE without<br>complete remission between episodes<br>· ≥1 comorbid Axis-II disorder<br>· Higher social and global functioning  |
| 2            | N = 209        | RCT<br>comparing<br>48 weeks of<br>CBASP<br>versus SP       | Multiple<br>linear<br>regression<br>analyses  | <ul> <li>Baseline variables identified as predictors, indicating a lower response to both treatments:</li> <li>Higher depression severity, clinician rated</li> <li>Higher suicidality and general anxiety</li> <li>Lower social functioning and higher social inhibition</li> <li>Childhood emotional or sexual abuse</li> <li>≥1 previous inpatient treatment</li> <li>No preference for psychotherapy</li> </ul> |
| 3            | N = 53         | RCT<br>comparing<br>8 weeks of<br>CBASP<br>versus<br>ESC/CM | Combined<br>moderator<br>$(M^*)$ by<br>Kraemer,<br>lasso<br>regression,<br>k-fold<br>cross-<br>validation               | <ul> <li>Baseline variables compiled to M*, indicating that</li> <li>ESC/CM is superior to CBASP:</li> <li>Female gender</li> <li>Higher number of previous suicide attempts and adverse life events</li> <li>≥1 form of childhood trauma</li> <li>CBASP is superior to ESC/CM:</li> <li>Higher age</li> <li>Early illness onset</li> <li>Higher number of previous treatments with ADM</li> </ul>                  |

*Note.* ADM = Antidepressant medication; CBASP = Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; MDE = major depressive episode; RCT = randomized controlled trial; SP = Supportive Psychotherapy; ESC/CM = Escitalopram plus with Clinical Management. The sample sizes indicate the numbers of patients included in the statistical analyses. Moderator findings from Paper 2 are not shown due to overlap with results from Paper 1.

To elaborate on research question 1, Paper 1 (Serbanescu, Walter, et al., 2020) reanalysed data from the RCT comparing 48 weeks of disorder-specific psychotherapy with CBASP versus disorder non-specific psychotherapy with SP (Schramm et al., 2017) and exploratively detected two subgroups of patients with differential treatment responses for CBASP versus SP. Briefly, this analysis revealed that CBASP was likely to result in better outcomes than SP for initially more severely depressed patients who had higher rates of childhood trauma in form of sexual, emotional or physical abuse, or emotional or physical neglect. These last two neglect-based trauma forms were further used to compile the composite moderator because of their relatively large moderator effect sizes and are thus particularly noteworthy. They suggest that long-term treatment with CBASP may be more beneficial than SP particularly for patients with neglect-based childhood trauma. These conclusions are plausible considering that CBASP was developed specifically to treat behavioural and cognitive deficits related to childhood traumatic experiences in patients with early-onset PDD (McCullough, 2000). In addition, the finding that CBASP is likely more beneficial than SP in patients with childhood trauma is consistent with an older secondary analysis by Klein and colleagues (2018) of the same RCT, which applied more traditional regression analyses and revealed that childhood trauma moderated the treatment effect in terms of both depression severity and chances of remission, but not of response, in favour of CBASP after the 20-week treatment phase (see also sub-chapter 2.3). However, in their analysis, after 20 weeks of treatment, CBASP proved to be more beneficial than SP for patients with childhood emotional abuse, whereas for patients with emotional neglect, both psychotherapies showed a less favourable outcome. These results are striking considering that Papers 1 and 2 of this dissertation found a reverse effect after 48 weeks of treatment, when CBASP likely performed better than SP for patients with childhood emotional and physical neglect (see Paper 1, Appendix 1, Table 1 and 2), while childhood emotional and sexual abuse predicted a lower treatment response for both CBASP and SP (see Paper 2, Appendix 2, Table 3). The comparison of these findings suggests that the superiority of CBASP over SP for patients with childhood neglect experiences may require some treatment time for being established, while effectiveness is overall lower for those with childhood abuse experiences after a longer treatment period for both psychotherapies. Furthermore, in addition to the different treatment durations considered, methodological differences between the secondary analysis by Klein and colleagues (2018) and Papers 1 and 2 of this thesis may have contributed to the different findings, particularly given that the older moderator analysis relied its findings on statistical significances, whereas the moderator analysis in Paper 1 used an alternative statistical procedure based on moderator effect sizes (Kraemer, 2013).

In addition, Paper 1 found that patients who were more likely to benefit more from SP had higher baseline levels of life quality, social and global functioning, less childhood trauma, and a lower baseline depression severity. At its core, SP refrains from confronting biographical aspects such as childhood trauma and focuses instead on providing a liberal and supportive therapeutic framework that helps the patient to activate existing resources (Markowitz, 2014). Given its constellation of more favourable baseline characteristics, this subgroup may thus have benefited more from this resource-activating, supportive approach. The lower rates of childhood traumatic experiences and higher baseline social functioning level in this subgroup may also explain why the childhood trauma and interpersonal problem-solving focused approach of CBASP was likely less effective for these patients. The finding that patients with a higher baseline social functioning level likely benefitted more from SP than from CBASP further complements the moderators findings of Probst and colleagues (2020), who suggested that MBCT should be preferred to CBASP in PDD patients who are vindictive/self-centered, whereas CBASP should be preferred to MBCT in PDD who are non-assertive. The patients' pretreatment social profile appears thus to play a critical moderating role in the effectiveness of different psychotherapies for patients with PDD.

Interestingly, Paper 1 further found that CBASP likely performed better for patients with a comorbid Axis-I disorder, while SP performed better for those with a comorbid Axis-II (personality) disorder. Case numbers were too small to conclude which comorbid disorders were driving these moderator trends. Part of these results contrast with those of Erkens and colleagues (2018), who performed another moderator analysis of the RCT by Schramm and colleagues (2017) examining the impact of comorbid personality disorders on the treatment effect after 20 weeks. Contrary to their hypotheses, the authors did not find that the effect of CBASP compared to SP was moderated by the presence of comorbid personality disorders, nor did comorbidity of personality disorders statistically significantly predict treatment outcome across both treatment groups, which was likely due to the underpowered study (Erkens et al., 2018). Paper 1 of this thesis revealed that the exploratory identified subgroup more likely benefiting from SP had higher rates of comorbid Axis-II disorders (53.1% versus 26.6%; see Paper 1, Appendix 1, Table 2), and raises the possibility that SP may have exceeded CBASP in its effectiveness for these patients after 48 weeks of treatment, thereby appearing to be quite well suited for their needs. Further mediator analyses which go beyond the scope of this thesis are needed to understand which therapy-related processes were responsible for these effects during the treatment. Since most patients had an anxious-avoidant or obsessive-compulsive personality disorder (Erkens et al., 2018), it would be interesting to evaluate whether SP's supportive and resource-oriented approach also led to stronger improvements in the interpersonal problem domain.

Overall, the results of Paper 1 challenge the main conclusion of the principal statistical analysis of the RCT, which suggested that CBASP is more effective than disorder nonspecific SP in outpatients with early-onset chronic depression (Schramm et al., 2017). While this conclusion is entirely correct from a general, cross-sample perspective regarding the population in this trial, it remains however no longer valid as soon as one takes a more differentiated, subgroup-oriented view. The validity of results and conclusions thus becomes a matter of perspective, which can be more or less differentiated, depending on the research purpose. While providing general, population-wide evidence makes considerable sense from an epidemiological point of view, from a clinical perspective, the transfer of empirical evidence to the individual patient is much more relevant. Here, research for PDD has been strongly limited, with this paper being the first one to provide exploratorily identified multivariable baseline profiles of patient subgroups with differential treatment benefits. In the trial underlying this study, the number of patients likely benefiting more from CBASP than from SP and vice versa was in a modest range; however, in real clinical practice, these numbers could represent several million people. Treating large numbers of patients with a psychotherapy that has been found to be general superior to another, but that is not appropriate for these patients themselves, can imply major negative direct and indirect consequences such as lack of responses, worsening of symptoms, increased hopelessness of the patient, as well as wasteful use of time and financial resources within the mental health care system (Furukawa et al., 2018). On the other hand, these patients would not get what they most benefit from. Considering the results suggesting that SP may also prove quite beneficial for the described subgroup of patients with PDD and given that SP is largely available in clinical practice (Markowitz, 2014), future research may further explore its potential to treat certain patients with PDD.

The second research question resulted in the predictor findings of Paper 2 (Serbanescu, Backenstrass, et al., 2020), in which several subgroups of patients likely benefiting more (or less) from both treatments were identified. Consistent with previous research, the predictor results of Paper 2 suggest that patients who were initially psychologically more stable (i.e., less depressed, less anxious, less suicidal), better socially functioning, and preferring psychotherapy, likely responded better to both psychotherapies when compared to patients on the other side of the respective characteristic. It is plausible that an initial higher functioning and overall better mental condition facilitated psychotherapeutic learning and thereby also the recovery process in both treatment groups. From the opposite perspective, patients who were initially more pathologic likely benefitted less from both psychotherapies. In conclusion, and as recommended by others (Cuijpers et al., 2012; Furukawa et al., 2018), for initially more severe pathological patients, psychotherapy alone may not be sufficient to achieve significant symptom reduction and may lead to better outcomes when combined with ADM. Moreover, considering the results of Paper 1, the predictor findings of Paper 2 somewhat limit the superiority of CBASP for initially more affected PDD patients: although CBASP performed better than SP for more pathological patients, it also seems to reach its limits for the most pathological patients. For instance, although the subgroup of patients likely to benefit better from CBASP had all five trauma forms of the CTQ more frequently reported (see Paper 1, Appendix 1, Table 2), patients with experiences of childhood emotional and sexual abuse appeared to likely benefit more poorly from both psychotherapies than those without these trauma forms (see Paper 2, Appendix 2, Table 3).

Moreover, the finding that patients preferring psychotherapy responded better to both psychotherapies than those not preferring it sustains the results of the secondary analysis by Kocsis, Leon, and colleagues (2009), which revealed that patients preferring CBASP had better outcomes when receiving it compared with Nefazodone and vice versa. It however contrasts the secondary analysis by Steidtmann and colleagues (2012), who reported no association between the baseline patient treatment preference and symptom reduction or attrition in Phase II of the REVAMP trial (Kocsis, Gelenberg, et al., 2009). The fact that this study was based on patients who did not initially respond to treatment may explain the different results and warrants further investigation on the prediction of treatment effects in patients with PDD who did not initially respond to a particular treatment.

Finally, for adding evidence to research question 1 for a psychotherapypharmacotherapy comparison, Paper 3 (Serbanescu et al., revised and resubmitted) applied a similar statistical method as Paper 1 in order to exploratorily detect subgroups of patients with differential treatment effects with regard to an acute 8-week treatment with CBASP versus ESC/CM. Findings revealed that below the lack of statistically significant differences between the effects of the two treatments observed in the main analysis (Schramm et al., 2015), there however exist subgroup effects that imply that certain patients did not benefit from their assigned condition within the first eight weeks of treatment. More precisely, patients who received the treatment that was likely less effective for them personally not only did not improve within the first eight weeks of treatment, but worsened, with depression severity increasing by an average of 5.8% from baseline to week eight. In contrast, patients who received their personally likely more effective treatment experienced a decrease in depression severity by 42.9% and achieved more frequently response and remission after week eight. Taken together, these results speak out for the relevance of such moderator analyses for detecting "hidden" subgroup effects in RCTs after examining overall treatment effects. Similar to Paper 1, the results of the Paper 3 question the general conclusion of the main analysis (Schramm et al., 2015), which stated that CBASP and ESC/CM are equally effective treatment options for outpatients with PDD. This older conclusion may be still valid from a generalized perspective, but no longer from a more differentiated, subgroup-centered perspective.

In terms of the baseline profiles of the two identified subgroups, patients likely to benefit more from ESC/CM were more often female, had higher rates of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma, more adverse life events as well as more previous suicide attempts. Part of these trends are plausibly in line with an older, more traditional moderator analysis of this RCT by Bausch et al. (2017) who found that patients with moderate-to-severe childhood trauma were more likely to respond and remit to ESC/CM than to CBASP within the first eight weeks of treatment. They however contradict with the moderator analysis by Nemeroff et al. (2003), who found CBASP to be superior to antidepressant monotherapy with Nefazodone in patients with childhood trauma. However, this discrepancy could be caused by several differences between both studies: besides different applied statistical methods, Paper 3 investigated the comparison of CBASP with another antidepressant as well as a shorter treatment period (eight weeks versus 12 weeks in the original study by Keller et al., 2000). Moreover, in their study, Nemeroff et al. (2003) measured childhood trauma history by another scale which assessed parental loss - a trauma type not investigated in the analysis of Paper 3. Finally, the baseline profiles of the subgroups identified in Paper 3 were not only made up by the impact of childhood trauma, but also of several other baseline characteristics which went into the compilation of  $M^*$  (see Paper 3, Appendix 3, Table 2).

With regard to the interpretation of this childhood trauma related finding, as already suspected before (Bausch et al., 2017; Schramm et al., 2015), the recall of childhood traumatic memories through psychotherapy with CBASP may have led to an initial worsening of symptoms in patients with childhood trauma within the first eight weeks of treatment. In consequence, when treated with CBASP, patients with PDD and childhood trauma may need a longer treatment time to restructure past traumatic memories and recover from PDD. This assumption is also consistent with the findings from the secondary analysis by Michalak and colleagues (2016), who found that CBASP performed better than TAU in patients with childhood trauma in terms of change in depression severity between the post-treatment time point and a six-month follow-up, but not between baseline and week eight, which corresponds to the duration of the acute treatment phase analyzed in Paper 3. During this acute treatment period, an augmentation of CBASP with ADM or another psychotherapy focusing on coping with traumatic memories might be more beneficial for patients with this baseline profile than CBASP alone. In addition, the baseline profile of this subgroup also included other distinct characteristics mentioned before (see sub-chapter 4.3). Taken together, they suggest an association between female gender, childhood trauma and possibly also later traumatic events, as well as suicide attempts, which has already been evidenced by others (e.g., Dias de Mattos Souza et al., 2016; Roy & Janal, 2005; Sarchiapone et al., 2007; Zatti et al., 2017). This association is further complemented by the results of Paper 3 in that PDD patients with this baseline profile may likely benefit more from medication with Escitalopram in the acute treatment phase than from CBASP.

Furthermore, the analyses of Paper 3 revealed that patients more likely to benefit from CBASP were older. This is consistent with the IPD-NMA of Furukawa et al. (2018) conducted on three RCTs including the trial by Schramm et al. (2015), which found that younger PDD patients were more likely to discontinue CBASP monotherapy, possibly because of lack of response to or acceptance of CBASP. In addition, analyses of Paper 3 revealed that patients more likely to benefit from CBASP had more often an early illness onset, which is reasonable in view of the fact that CBASP was especially developed to target PDD with an early onset (McCullough, 2003; McCullough, 2021). Furthermore, patients in this subgroup also reported more previous treatments with antidepressant medication. Their ongoing PDD at the time point of the trial leads to the conclusion that previous interventions with ADM were not

successful, at least not in the long-term, which may reflect their tendency to not respond to ADM or experience recurrent MDEs after treatment with ADM.

Finally, Paper 3 was able to replicate to some extent the findings of Furukawa et al.'s (2018) IPD-NMA suggesting that pharmacotherapy is likely more beneficial than CBASP for patients with a severe baseline depression severity, as higher baseline MADRS scores were associated with a greater reduction in depression severity with ESC/CM compared with CBASP in this moderator analysis (see Paper 3, Appendix 3, Table 2). However, due to an insufficiently large moderator effect size, the MADRS baseline score was not further selected for compilation of  $M^*$ . Also, both subgroups did not differ statistically significantly in terms of their MADRS baseline scores (see Paper 3, Appendix 3, Table 3), which could, however, be explained by the small sample size and insufficient statistical power of the study. In this context, larger studies are needed to derive more conclusive subgroup differences.

#### 5.2 Strengths and Limitations of this Dissertation

**Strengths.** The findings of the three papers of this dissertation add to and extend the body of evidence for PDD in several ways: first, by employing novel statistical methods, they demonstrate that behind the general cross-sample effects reported in the two main studies (Schramm et al., 2015; Schramm et al., 2017), there exist underlying, clinically relevant subgroup effects, suggesting that the effectiveness of the investigated treatments varies greatly with regard to the patient multivariable baseline profile. The results are based on three widely used psychotherapeutic and pharmacological treatments for PDD (Schramm et al., 2020), and are further specifying their differential superiority. Future studies, and possibly also earlier RCTs, will hopefully be supplemented by similar secondary analyses yielding detailed subgroup findings. Second, they present novel methodological approaches and demonstrate the advantages of the consideration of the patient multivariable pre-treatment profile and its potential to predict treatment outcomes. Third and lastly, the three studies provide new, important evidence for whom the treatments studied are more or less likely to work, possible suggested underlying reasons, and other research questions that arise and are worthy to be

investigated by future research. Altogether, they achieve the overall goal of this thesis to advance personalized medicine for PDD.

Limitations. The findings of the three papers of this dissertation need to be also considered in the context of some limitations briefly discussed in the following. First, as for most studies, the transfer of the empirical findings into clinical practice is limited due to different factors: all three performed secondary analyses relied on RCTs with limiting inclusion and exclusion criteria (e.g., non-medicated outpatients, certain excluded comorbid disorders), rigorously predefined study protocols as well as relatively modest sample sizes. Overall, these factors are limiting the generalizability of the findings regarding clinical settings. Furthermore, the diagnosis of various subtypes of chronic depression was performed according to DSM-IV criteria (in the RCT comparing CBASP with ESC/CM by Schramm et al., 2015 even with a modification of one year of duration of symptoms). Thus, the transfer of these findings to patients diagnosed with PDD according to DSM-5 criteria is partially limited, since the DSM-5 includes pure dysthymia (which was not included in the two RCTs), but no longer the subtypes analysed as moderators and predictors in the papers of this thesis. Therefore, findings such as the predictive performance of the developed combined moderators in Paper 1 and Paper 3 must be externally validated in new PDD populations based on current diagnostical guidelines as well as real clinical settings.

Second, the treatments compared in the papers are just three out of many possibilities to treat PDD. Furthermore, the analyses were based on comparisons between two treatments at a time. In clinical practice, however, a choice must be usually made between several available psychotherapeutic and pharmacotherapeutic treatments. Future studies might therefore develop statistical approaches that rank the effectiveness of several treatments for various subgroups with PDD. Moreover, the secondary analyses performed in the three papers were based on a limited number of baseline variables assessed in the original RCTs. It is very likely that there were other not assessed baseline variables with a treatment outcome moderating or predicting role, such as biological characteristics or environmental factors. Finally, for the sake of methodological complexity, interactions between individual baseline variables or nonlinear moderation effects were not examined.

Third, in terms of the analysed outcome variables, the three papers investigated posttreatment depression severity (Paper 2) as well as pre-post-treatment depression severity reductions (Paper 1 and Paper 3). Other clinically relevant outcomes such as improvement in secondary outcomes (e.g., social skills, life quality or working ability) or possible side effects of treatments have not been addressed for reasons of quantity of content, but merit further investigation.

Fourth and finally, the moderator analyses performed do not allow conclusions to be drawn about underlying causal mechanisms linking the baseline condition to the treatment outcome, leaving the interpretation of the results in a rather speculative realm. Further mediator analyses are necessary to identify causal mechanism for a deeper understanding of these results.

## 5.3 Future Directions and Implications for Research and Clinical Practice

The relatively new field of personalized medicine for PDD is an overall promising one. Future research will hopefully emphasize the integration of multiple baseline variables in treatment outcome prediction more than has been done before in order to deliver reproducible, personalized treatment recommendations. The predictive performance of the combined moderators developed in Papers 1 and 3 should ideally be validated in follow-up studies with new clinical samples. A study design suitable for this purpose could start by calculating the value of  $M^*$  for all patients at baseline by using the regression weights of the baseline variables included in the compilation of  $M^*$  as reported in Paper 1 and 3 and the patient's actual value for this baseline variable. Next, one would predict a patient's outcomes under each of both treatments. Thereafter, patients would be randomized to receive either the treatment that is likely to be more effective, or the one that is likely to be less effective for them personally. With two treatment conditions compared, this would result in four treatment groups. Finally, at the end of the intervention phase, researchers would examine whether those patients who received the treatment that was predicted to be more effective for them actually improved more than those who received the treatment predicted to be likely less effective for them personally. The goodness of its predictive performance would provide an indication of the validity of the combined moderator. As for the predictors results of Paper 2, one could test these findings in single RCTs by stratifying samples according to the predictor variables. Especially, one could investigate whether combination treatments with ADM or other psychotherapeutic elements lead to better outcomes than monotherapy with CBASP or SP in those subgroups of patients who responded more poorly to both psychotherapies in Paper 2. Finally, to allow a good transfer of the results for clinical practice, replication studies would ideally be conducted in natural clinical populations.

In addition, effects of the duration of treatments, their structural organisation and long-term effects are further important factors to study (Schramm et al., 2020) in a more personalized manner. Data from older RCTs could be re-analysed cost-effectively and quickly using more advanced statistical approaches, such as those presented here, to exploratively detect previously hidden subgroups, while new RCTs could examine comparisons between available or newer treatment approaches such as modular psychotherapy.

Despite the many advantages and promises of personalized medicine for PDD and mental disorders in general, there also exist several implications and pitfalls that will arise in future research and clinical practice. Research based on the collection of multidimensional variables that are assessed by technologies at the interface of pharmacology, neuroimaging, and genetics, as well as clinical data, will be laborious and costly, requiring intensive interdisciplinary collaboration across various disciplines (Domschke et al., 2015). With regard to psychotherapy research, in addition to the comparison of different psychotherapies, the effects of other possible treatment effect-modulating factors such as the choice of therapists (e.g., in terms of gender, experience, or professional background), therapy formats (e.g., group versus individual therapy), therapy intensity, or even delivery form (e.g., online versus face-toface) need to be examined to enable accurate predictions. At the same time, the complexity of this field would increase together with the growing evidence base, and this could likely lead to professionals relying more on algorithm-based predictions than on their personal understanding and clinical experience, which could affect how they perceive their role and relationship with the patient. Furthermore, besides novel biostatistical approaches that can model the complex interplay of multiple variables, cost-utility analyses evaluating the socioeconomic benefit of personalized therapy approaches, data collection and protection as well as consensus guidelines to inform clinicians about the newest findings in this area will be necessary (Domschke et al., 2015). Moreover, given that mental disorder treatment guidelines in different countries are often based on generalized results obtained from RCTs, systematic reviews and meta-analyses, with the latter method generalising findings to an ever-higher degree, it will be essential to address the weight to be given to analyses from the field of personalized medicine in these guidelines.

Moreover, when research will reach the point that evidence is transferred into clinical practice and personalized treatment recommendations can be delivered to patients, it will be important to inform patients that there is no guarantee, but only a higher comparative probability that a recommended treatment will work (comparatively better) for them personally (Kalow, 2007). Finally, in those cases in which patients or practitioners will disagree with the treatment recommended by a personalized algorithm-based prediction and abstain from selecting it, further considerations must be encountered in how to choose the most appropriate treatment.

#### **5.4 Conclusion**

Altogether, this publication-based dissertation extends and complements previous research on treatment prediction for patients with PDD, thereby advancing the relatively young field of personalized medicine for PDD. As described in the previous chapters, the multivariable pre-treatment condition of patients with PDD seems to both predict a similar and moderate a differential response to various treatments. Although the trends of the identified subgroups need to be confirmed in further studies for being transferred into reliable clinical recommendations, they caution against generalizing sample-crossed results from RCTs to the entire PDD population, which is highly heterogenous and thereby varying in its responses to various treatments.

Altogether, the more precise and individual-oriented approach of personalized medicine holds many hopes regarding better treatment chances for patients with PDD, as well as regarding the reduction of the personal, economic and societal consequences resulting from poor treatment responses and continuing chronification. Nevertheless, the required progress in this field will also create new challenges for research, clinical practice, technology, and the health care system, which, however, will be worth solving by joint interdisciplinary forces in view of the burden of those affected.

#### 6. References

- Akiskal, H. S. (1983). Dysthymic disorder: psychopathology of proposed chronic depressive subtypes. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 140(1), 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.140.1.11
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed.).
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.).
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., text rev.).
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Angst, J., Gamma, A., Rössler, W., Ajdacic, V., & Klein, D. N. (2009). Long-term depression versus episodic major depression: Results from the prospective Zurich study of a community sample. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 115(1–2), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.09.023
- Arnow, B. A., & Constantino, M. J. (2003). Effectiveness of psychotherapy and combination treatment for chronic depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(8), 893–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.10181
- Arnow, B. A., Steidtmann, D., Blasey, C., Manber, R., Constantino, M. J., Klein, D. N., Markowitz, J. C., Rothbaum, B. O., Thase, M. E., Fisher, A. J., & Kocsis, J. H. (2013). The relationship between the therapeutic alliance and treatment outcome in two distinct psychotherapies for chronic depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *81*(4), 627–638. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031530
- Bailey, C., Abate, A., Sharp, C., & Venta, A. (2018). Psychometric evaluation of the Inventory of Interpersonal Problems 32. *Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic*, 82(2), 93–113. https://doi.org/10.1521/bumc.2018.82.2.93

Bausch, P., Fangmeier, T., Zobel, I., Schoepf, D., Drost, S., Schnell, K., Walter, H., Berger, M.,

Normann, C., & Schramm, E. (2017). The impact of childhood maltreatment on the differential efficacy of CBASP versus escitalopram in patients with chronic depression: A secondary analysis. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *24*(5), 1155–1162. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2081

- Benazzi, F. (1998). Chronic depression: a case series of 203 outpatients treated at a private practice. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, *23*(1), 51–55.
- Berndt, E. R., Koran, L. M., Finkelstein, S. N., Gelenberg, A. J., Kornstein, S. G., Miller, I. M., Thase, M. E., Trapp, G. A., & Keller, M. B. (2000). Lost human capital from early-onset chronic depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(6), 940–947. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.157.6.940
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., Stokes, J., Handelsman, L., Medrano, M., Desmond, D., & Zule, W. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 27(2), 169–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Blanco, C., Okuda, M., Markowitz, J. C., Liu, S.-M., Grant, B. F., & Hasin, D. S. (2010). The Epidemiology of Chronic Major Depressive Disorder and Dysthymic Disorder: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *71*(12), 1645–1656. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.09m05663gry
- Brakemeier, E.-L., Engel, V., Schramm, E., Zobel, I., Schmidt, T., Hautzinger, M., Berger, M.,
  & Normann, C. (2011). Feasibility and Outcome of Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System
  of Psychotherapy (CBASP) for Chronically Depressed Inpatients: A Pilot Study. *Psychotherapy* and *Psychosomatics*, 80(3), 191–194.
  https://doi.org/10.1159/000320779
- Brakemeier, E.-L., Radtke, M., Engel, V., Zimmermann, J., Tuschen-Caffier, B., Hautzinger, M., Schramm, E., Berger, M., & Normann, C. (2015). Overcoming Treatment Resistance in Chronic Depression: A Pilot Study on Outcome and Feasibility of the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy as an Inpatient Treatment Program. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *84*(1), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1159/000369586

- Bremner, J. D., Vermetten, E., & Mazure, C. M. (2000). Development and preliminary psychometric properties of an instrument for the measurement of childhood trauma: The early trauma inventory. *Depression and Anxiety*, *12*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6394(2000)12:1<1::AID-DA1>3.0.CO;2-W.
- Brown, S., Rittenbach, K., Cheung, S., McKean, G., MacMaster, F. P., & Clement, F. (2019).
  Current and Common Definitions of Treatment-Resistant Depression: Findings from a Systematic Review and Qualitative Interviews. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 64(6), 380–387. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743719828965
- Browne, G., Steiner, M., Roberts, J., Gafni, A., Byrne, C., Dunn, E., Bell, B., Mills, M., Chalklin,
  L., Wallik, D., & Kraemer, J. (2002). Sertraline and/or interpersonal psychotherapy for
  patients with dysthymic disorder in primary care: 6-month comparison with longitudinal
  2-year follow-up of effectiveness and costs. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *68*(2–3), 317–
  330. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(01)00343-3
- Bundesärztekammer (BÄK), Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung (KBV), &
  Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften (AWMF).
  (2022). Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Unipolare Depression Langfassung, Version 3.0. [cited: 2022-12-01]. https://doi.org/10.6101/AZQ/000493
- Cohen, Z. D., & DeRubeis, R. J. (2018). Treatment Selection in Depression. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *14*(1), 209–236. doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084746
- Cuijpers, P. (2018). The Challenges of Improving Treatments for Depression. *JAMA*, *320*(24), 2529–2530. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.17824
- Cuijpers, P., Andersson, G., Donker, T., & van Straten, A. (2011). Psychological treatment of depression: Results of a series of meta-analyses. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 65(6), 354–364. https://doi.org/10.3109/08039488.2011.596570
- Cuijpers, P., Huibers, M. J. H., & Furukawa, T. A. (2017). The Need for Research on Treatments of Chronic Depression. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74(3), 242–243. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.4070

Cuijpers, P., Reynolds, C. F., Donker, T., Li, J., Andersson, G., & Beekman, A. (2012).

Personalized treatment of adult depression: Medication, psychotherapy, or both? A systematic review. *Depression and Anxiety*, *29*(10), 855–864. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.21985

- Cuijpers, P., van Straten, A., Schuurmans, J., van Oppen, P., Hollon, S. D., & Andersson, G.
  (2010). Psychotherapy for chronic major depression and dysthymia: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(1), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.09.003
- Dalgleish, T., & Werner-Seidler, A. (2014). Disruptions in autobiographical memory processing in depression and the emergence of memory therapeutics. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *18*(11), 596–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2014.06.010
- Depue, R. A., Krauss, S., Spoont, M. R., & Arbisi, P. (1989). General Behavior Inventory identification of unipolar and bipolar affective conditions in a nonclinical university population. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 98(2), 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843x.98.2.117
- DeRubeis, R. J. (2019). The history, current status, and possible future of precision mental health. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *123*, 103506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103506
- DeRubeis, R. J., Cohen, Z. D., Forand, N. R., Fournier, J. C., Gelfand, L. A., & Lorenzo-Luaces,
  L. (2014). The Personalized Advantage Index: Translating Research on Prediction into Individualized Treatment Recommendations. A Demonstration. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(1), e83875. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083875
- Dias de Mattos Souza, L., Lopez Molina, M., Azevedo da Silva, R., & Jansen, K. (2016). History of childhood trauma as risk factors to suicide risk in major depression. *Psychiatry Research*, *246*, 612–616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.11.002
- Domschke, K., Müller, D. J., & Serretti, A. (2015). Personalized therapies in psychiatry: promises, pitfalls and perspectives. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 122(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-014-1340-x
- Elsaesser, M., Furukawa, T. A., & Schramm, E. (2022). Why one answer is not always enough: Reply to "CBASP may not be superior to other treatments for chronic depression."

Journal of Affective Disorders, 312, 144–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.06.033 Erkens, N., Schramm, E., Kriston, L., Hautzinger, M., Härter, M., Schweiger, U., & Klein, J. P. (2018). Association of comorbid personality disorders with clinical characteristics and outcome in a randomized controlled trial comparing two psychotherapies for early-onset persistent depressive disorder. Journal of Affective Disorders, 229, 262–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.12.091

- First, M. B., Williams, J. B. W., Karg, R. S., & Spitzer, R. L. (2016). Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 Disorders, Clinician Version (SCID-5-CV). American Psychiatric Association.
- Fournier, J. C., DeRubeis, R. J., Shelton, R. C., Hollon, S. D., Amsterdam, J. D., & Gallop, R. (2009). Prediction of response to medication and cognitive therapy in the treatment of moderate to severe depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77(4), 775–787. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015401
- Frank, E., Wallace, M. L., Hall, M., Hasler, B., Levenson, J. C., Janney, C. A., Soreca, I., Fleming, M. C., Buttenfield, J., Ritchey, F. C., & Kupfer, D. J. (2014). An Integrated Risk Reduction Intervention can reduce body mass index in individuals being treated for bipolar I disorder: results from a randomized trial. *Bipolar Disorders*, *17*(4), 424–437. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12283
- Furukawa, T. A., Efthimiou, O., Weitz, E. S., Cipriani, A., Keller, M. B., Kocsis, J. H., Klein, D. N., Michalak, J., Salanti, G., Cuijpers, P., & Schramm, E. (2018). Cognitive-Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy, Drug, or Their Combination for Persistent Depressive Disorder: Personalizing the Treatment Choice Using Individual Participant Data Network Metaregression. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *87*(3), 140–153. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489227
- Garcia-Toro, M., Rubio, J. M., Gili, M., Roca, M., Jin, C. J., Liu, S.-M., Bastianoni, C., & Blanco,
  C. (2013). Persistence of chronic major depression: A national prospective study. *Journal* of Affective Disorders, 151(1), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.06.013

Gopinath, S., Katon, W. J., Russo, J. E., & Ludman, E. J. (2007). Clinical factors associated

with relapse in primary care patients with chronic or recurrent depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *101*(1–3), 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.10.023

- Habtewold, T. D., van Bronswijk, S., Peeters, F., & Baştürk, N. (2022). Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy (CBASP) may not be superior to other treatments for chronic depression: Correspondence. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *308*, 188–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.04.049
- Hamburg, M. A., & Collins, F. S. (2010). The Path to Personalized Medicine. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *363*(4), 301–304. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1006304
- Hamilton, M. (1967). Development of a Rating Scale for Primary Depressive Illness. British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 6(4), 278–296. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8260.1967.tb00530.x
- Hellerstein, D. J., Batchelder, S. T., Lee, A., & Borisovskaya, M. (2002). Rating dysthymia: an assessment of the construct and content validity of the Cornell Dysthymia Rating Scale. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *71*(1–3), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0327(01)00371-8
- Hirschfeld, R. M. A. (1990). Personality and dysthymia. In S. W. Burton & H. S. Akiskal (Eds.), *Dysthymic Disorder*. Gaskell, London.
- Huibers, M. J. H., Cohen, Z. D., Lemmens, L. H. J. M., Arntz, A., Peeters, F. P. M. L., Cuijpers,
  P., & DeRubeis, R. J. (2015). Predicting Optimal Outcomes in Cognitive Therapy or
  Interpersonal Psychotherapy for Depressed Individuals Using the Personalized
  Advantage Index Approach. *PLoS ONE*, 10(11), e0140771.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140771
- Ildirli, S., Şair, Y. B., & Dereboy, F. (2015). Persistent Depression as a Novel Diagnostic Category: Results from the Menderes Depression Study. Nöro Psikiyatri Arşivi, 52(4), 359–366. https://doi.org/10.5152/npa.2015.7589
- Jobst, A., Brakemeier, E.-L., Buchheim, A., Caspar, F., Cuijpers, P., Ebmeier, K. P., Falkai, P., Jan van der Gaag, R., Gaebel, W., Herpertz, S., Kurimay, T., Sabaß, L., Schnell, K., Schramm, E., Torrent, C., Wasserman, D., Wiersma, J., & Padberg, F. (2016). European

Psychiatric Association Guidance on psychotherapy in chronic depression across Europe. *European Psychiatry*, *33*(1), 18–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.12.003

- Kalow, W. (2007). Personalized medicine: some thoughts. *McGill Journal of Medicine*, *10*(1), 58. https://doi.org/10.26443/mjm.v10i1.626
- Keller, M. B., McCullough, J. P., Klein, D. N., Arnow, B., Dunner, D. L., Gelenberg, A. J., Markowitz, J. C., Nemeroff, C. B., Russell, J. M., Thase, M. E., Trivedi, M. H., Blalock, J. A., Borian, F. E., Jody, D. N., DeBattista, C., Koran, L. M., Schatzberg, A. F., Fawcett, J., Hirschfeld, R. M. A., ... Zajecka, J. (2000). A Comparison of Nefazodone, the Cognitive Behavioral-Analysis System of Psychotherapy, and Their Combination for the Treatment of Chronic Depression. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *342*(20), 1462–1470. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200005183422001
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005).
  Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders in the National
  Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *62*(6), 593–602.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593
- Kessler, R. C., McGonagle, K. A., Zhao, S., Nelson, C. B., Hughes, M., Eshleman, S., Wittchen, H.-U., & Kendler, K. S. (1994). Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *51*(1), 8–19. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950010008002
- Klein, D. N., Riso, L. P., & Anderson, R. L. (1993). DSM-III-R dysthymia: antecedents and underlying assumptions. *Progress in Experimental Personality & Psychopathology Research*, 16, 222–253.
- Klein, D. N., Riso, L. P., Donaldson, S. K., Schwartz, J. E., Anderson, R. L., Ouimette, P. C., Lizardi, H., & Aronson, T. A. (1995). Family study of early-onset dysthymia: Mood and personality disorders in relatives of outpatients with dysthymia and episodic major depression and normal controls. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 52(6), 487–496.

Klein, J. P., Erkens, N., Schweiger, U., Kriston, L., Bausch, P., Zobel, I., Hautzinger, M.,

Schoepf, D., Serbanescu, I., Bailer, J., Backenstrass, M., Wambach, K., Walter, H., Härter, M., & Schramm, E. (2018). Does Childhood Maltreatment Moderate the Effect of the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy versus Supportive Psychotherapy in Persistent Depressive Disorder? *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *87*(1), 46–48. https://doi.org/10.1159/000484412

- Klein, J., Roniger, A., Schweiger, U., Späth, C., & Brodbeck, J. (2015). The association of childhood trauma and personality disorders with chronic depression: a cross-sectional study in depressed outpatients. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *76*(6), e794–e801. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.14m09158
- Kocsis, J. H. (2003). Pharmacotherapy for chronic depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(8), 885–892. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.10180
- Kocsis, J. H., Gelenberg, A. J., Rothbaum, B., Klein, D. N., Trivedi, M. H., Manber, R., Keller, M. B., Howland, R., & Thase, M. E. (2008). Chronic forms of major depression are still undertreated in the 21st century: Systematic assessment of 801 patients presenting for treatment. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 110(1), 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.01.002
- Kocsis, J. H., Gelenberg, A. J., Rothbaum, B. O., Klein, D. N., Trivedi, M. H., Manber, R., Keller, M. B., Leon, A. C., Wisniewski, S. R., Arnow, B. A., Markowitz, J. C., Thase, M. E., & REVAMP Investigators. (2009). Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy and Brief Supportive Psychotherapy for Augmentation of Antidepressant Nonresponse in Chronic Depression: The REVAMP Trial. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *66*(11), 1178–1188. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.144
- Kocsis, J. H., Leon, A. C., Markowitz, J. C., Manber, R., Arnow, B., Klein, D. N., & Thase, M. E. (2009). Patient preference as a moderator of outcome for chronic forms of major depressive disorder treated with nefazodone, cognitive behavioral analysis aystem of psychotherapy, or their combination. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *70*(3), 354–361. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.08m04371

Köhler, C., Carvalho, A. F., Alves, G. S., McIntyre, R. S., Hyphantis, T. N., & Cammarota, M.
(2015). Autobiographical Memory Disturbances in Depression: A Novel Therapeutic Target? *Neural Plasticity*, *15*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/759139

- Köhler, S., Chrysanthou, S., Guhn, A., & Sterzer, P. (2018). Differences between chronic and nonchronic depression: Systematic review and implications for treatment. *Depression and Anxiety*, 36(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22835
- Köhler, S., Wiethoff, K., Ricken, R., Stamm, T., Baghai, T. C., Fisher, R., Seemüller, F., Brieger, P., Cordes, J., Malevani, J., Laux, G., Hauth, I., Möller, H.-J., Zeiler, J., Heinz, A., Bauer, M., & Adli, M. (2015). Characteristics and differences in treatment outcome of inpatients with chronic vs. episodic major depressive disorders. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *173*, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.059
- Kraemer, H. C. (2013). Discovering, comparing, and combining moderators of treatment on outcome after randomized clinical trials: a parametric approach. *Statistics in Medicine*, 32(11), 1964–1973. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.5734
- Kraemer, H. C. (2016). Messages for clinicians: Moderators and mediators of treatment outcome in randomized clinical trials. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *173*(7), 672–679.
- Kraemer, H. C., Frank, E., & Kupfer, D. J. (2006). Moderators of Treatment Outcomes:
  Clinical, Research, and Policy Importance. *JAMA*, 296(10), 1286–1289.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.10.1286
- Kraemer, H. C., & Gibbons, R. D. (2009). Why Does the Randomized Clinical Trial Methodology So Often Mislead Clinical Decision Making? Focus on Moderators and Mediators of Treatment. *Psychiatric Annals*, 39(7), 736–745. https://doi.org/10.3928/00485713-20090625-06
- Kraemer, H. C., Wilson, G. T., Fairburn, C. G., & Agras, W. S. (2002). Mediators and Moderators of Treatment Effects in Randomized Clinical Trials. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(10), 877–883. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.10.877
- Kriston, L., von Wolff, A., Westphal, A., Hölzel, L. P., & Härter, M. (2014). Efficacy and acceptability of acute treatments for persistent depressive disorder: A network metaanalysis. *Depression and Anxiety*, 31(8), 621–630. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22236

- Lizardi, H., Klein, D. N., Ouimette, P. C., Riso, L. P., Anderson, R. L., & Donaldson, S. K. (1995).
  Reports of the childhood home environment in early-onset dysthymia and episodic major depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *104*(1), 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.104.1.132
- Luedtke, A., Sadikova, E., & Kessler, R. C. (2019). Sample size requirements for multivariate models to predict between-patient differences in best treatments of major depressive disorder. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 7(3), 445–461. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702618815466
- Lutz, W., Leach, C., Barkham, M., Lucock, M., Stiles, W. B., Evans, C., Noble, R., & Iveson, S. (2005). Predicting change for individual psychotherapy clients on the basis of their nearest neighbors. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(5), 904–913. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.5.904
- Lutz, W., Saunders, S. M., Leon, S. C., Martinovich, Z., Kosfelder, J., Schulte, D., Grawe, K., & Tholen, S. (2006). Empirically and clinically useful decision making in psychotherapy: Differential predictions with treatment response models. *Psychological Assessment*, 18(2), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.18.2.133
- Mallon, J. C., Klein, D. N., Bornstein, R. F., & Slater, J. F. (1986). Discriminant validity of the General Behavior Inventory: an outpatient study. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 50(4), 568–577. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa5004\_4
- Manber, R., Kraemer, H. C., Arnow, B. A., Trivedi, M. H., Rush, A. J., Thase, M. E., Rothbaum,
  B. O., Klein, D. N., Kocsis, J. H., Gelenberg, A. J., & Keller, M. E. (2008). Faster remission of chronic depression with combined psychotherapy and medication than with each therapy alone. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *76*(3), 459–467. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.76.3.459
- Markkula, N., Suvisaari, J., Saarni, S. I., Pirkola, S., Peña, S., Saarni, S., Ahola, K., Mattila, A.
  K., Viertiö, S., & Strehle, J. (2015). Prevalence and correlates of major depressive disorder and dysthymia in an eleven-year follow-up–results from the Finnish Health 2011 Survey. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *173*, 73–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.015

- Markowitz, J. C. (2014). What is Supportive Psychotherapy? *FOCUS*, *12*(3), 285–289. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.12.3.285
- Markowitz, J. C., Kocsis, J. H., Bleiberg, K. L., Christos, P. J., & Sacks, M. (2005). A comparative trial of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy for "pure" dysthymic patients. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 89(1), 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2005.10.001
- Markowitz, J. C., Moran, M. E., Kocsis, J. H., & Frances, A. J. (1992). Prevalence and comorbidity of dysthymic disorder among psychiatric outpatients. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 24(2), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0327(92)90020-7
- Mason, B. J., Kocsis, J. H., Leon, A. C., Thompson, S., & Frances, A. J. (1995). Assessment of symptoms and change in dysthymic disorder. In J. H. Kocsis & D. N. Klein. (Eds.), *Diagnosis and treatment of chronic depression* (pp. 73–88). Guilford Press.
- McCullough, J. P. (2000). Treatment for Chronic Depression: Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy. Guilford Press.
- McCullough, J. P. (2003). Treatment for Chronic Depression: Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP). *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, *13*(3–4), 241– 263. https://doi.org/10.1037/1053-0479.13.3-4.241
- McCullough, J. P. (2021). Characteristics of the Optimal Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) Therapist Role. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, 609954. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.609954
- McCullough, J. P., McCune, K. J., Kaye, A. L., Braith, J. A., Friend, R., Roberts, W. C., Belyea-Caldwell, S., Norris, S. L. W., & Hampton, C. (1994). Comparison of a community dysthymia sample at screening with a matched group of nondepressed community controls. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 182(7), 402–407. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005053-199407000-00006
- McCullough Jr, J. P., Clark, S. W., Klein, D. N., & First, M. B. (2016). Introducing a Clinical Course-Graphing Scale for DSM-5 Mood Disorders. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 70(4), 383–392. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2016.70.4.383

- McCullough Jr, J. P., Klein, D. N., Borian, F. E., Howland, R. H., Riso, L. P., Keller, M. B., & Banks, P. L. C. (2003). Group comparisons of DSM-IV subtypes of chronic depression: validity of the distinctions, part 2. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *112*(4), 614–622. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.112.4.614
- McCullough Jr, J. P., Klein, D. N., Keller, M. B., Holzer III, C. E., Davis, S. M., Kornstein, S. G., Howland, R. H., Thase, M. E., & Harrison, W. M. (2000). Comparison of DSM-III-R chronic major depression and major depression superimposed on dysthymia (double depression): validity of the distinction. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *109*(3), 419– 427.
- Michalak, J., Probst, T., Heidenreich, T., Bissantz, N., & Schramm, E. (2016). Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy and a Group Version of the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis
  System of Psychotherapy for Chronic Depression: Follow-Up Data of a Randomized Controlled Trial and the Moderating Role of Childhood Adversities. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *85*(6), 378–380. https://doi.org/10.1159/000447014
- Michalak, J., Schultze, M., Heidenrich, T., & Schramm, E. (2015). A randomized controlled trial on the efficacy of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and a group version of cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy for chronically depressed patients. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *83*(5), 951–963. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000042
- Montgomery, S. A., & Asberg, M. (1979). A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 134(4), 382-389.
  https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.134.4.382
- Murphy, J. A., & Byrne, G. J. (2012). Prevalence and correlates of the proposed DSM-5 diagnosis of Chronic Depressive Disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 139(2), 172–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.01.033
- National Research Council (US) Committee on A Framework for Developing a New Taxonomy of Disease. (2011). *Toward Precision Medicine: Building a Knowledge Network for Biomedical Research and a New Taxonomy of Disease*. National Academies Press (US).

- Negele, A., Kaufhold, J., Kallenbach, L., & Leuzinger-Bohleber, M. (2015). Childhood Trauma and Its Relation to Chronic Depression in Adulthood. *Depression Research and Treatment*, 2015, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/650804
- Negt, P., Brakemeier, E.-L., Michalak, J., Winter, L., Bleich, S., & Kahl, K. G. (2016). The treatment of chronic depression with cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized-controlled clinical trials. *Brain and Behavior*, *6*(8), e00486. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.486
- Nelson, J., Klumparendt, A., Doebler, P., & Ehring, T. (2017). Childhood maltreatment and characteristics of adult depression: Meta-analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 210(2), 96–104. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.115.180752
- Nemeroff, C. B., Heim, C. M., Thase, M. E., Klein, D. N., Rush, A. J., Schatzberg, A. F., Ninan,
  P. T., McCullough, J. P., Weiss, P. M., Dunner, D. L., Rothbaum, B. O., Kornstein, S.,
  Keitner, G., & Keller, M. B. (2003). Differential responses to psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy in patients with chronic forms of major depression and childhood trauma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(24), 14293–14296. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2336126100
- Niles, A. N., Loerinc, A. G., Krull, J. L., Roy-Byrne, P., Sullivan, G., Sherbourne, C., Bystritsky,
  A., & Craske, M. G. (2017). Advancing Personalized Medicine: Application of a Novel
  Statistical Method to Identify Treatment Moderators in the Coordinated Anxiety Learning
  and Management Study. *Behavior Therapy*, 48(4), 490–500.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2017.02.001
- Niles, A. N., Wolitzky-Taylor, K. B., Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2017). Applying a novel statistical method to advance the personalized treatment of anxiety disorders: A composite moderator of comparative drop-out from CBT and ACT. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *91*, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2017.01.001
- Osório, F. L., Loureiro, S. R., Hallak, J. E. C., Machado-de-Sousa, J. P., Ushirohira, J. M., Baes, C. V. W., Apolinario, T. D., Donadon, M. F., Bolsoni, L. M., Guimarães, T., Fracon, V. S.,

Silva-Rodrigues, A. P. C., Pizeta, F. A., Souza, R. M., Sanches, R. F., dos Santos, R. G., Martin-Santos, R., & Crippa, J. A. S. (2019). Clinical validity and intrarater and test–retest reliability of the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 – Clinician Version (SCID-5-CV). *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *73*(12), 754–760. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12931

- Ozomaro, U., Wahlestedt, C., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2013). Personalized medicine in psychiatry: problems and promises. *BMC Medicine*, *11*(1), 132. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-132
- Parker, G., & Malhi, G. S. (2019). Persistent Depression: Should Such a DSM-5 Diagnostic Category Persist? *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie*, 64(3), 177–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718814429
- Paul, G. L. (1967). Strategy of outcome research in psychotherapy. Journal of Consulting Psychology, 31(2), 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0024436
- Pepper, C. M., Klein, D. N., Anderson, R. L., Riso, L. P., Ouimette, P. C., & Lizardi, H. (1995).
  DSM-III—R Axis II comorbidity in dysthymia and major depression. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 152(2), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.152.2.239
- Probst, T., Schramm, E., Heidenreich, T., Klein, J., & Michalak, J. (2020). Patients' interpersonal problems as moderators of depression outcomes in a randomized controlled trial comparing mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and a group version of the cognitive-behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy in chronic depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *76*(7), 1241–1254. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22931
- Rhebergen, D., Beekman, A. T. F., de Graaf, R., Nolen, W. A., Spijker, J., Hoogendijk, W. J., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2009). The three-year naturalistic course of major depressive disorder, dysthymic disorder and double depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *115*(3), 450–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.10.018
- Rief, W., Bleichhardt, G., Dannehl, K., Euteneuer, F., & Wambach, K. (2018). Comparing the Efficacy of CBASP with Two Versions of CBT for Depression in a Routine Care Center: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *87*(3), 164–178.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000487893

- Riso, L. P., Miyatake, R. K., & Thase, M. E. (2002). The search for determinants of chronic depression: a review of six factors. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 70(2), 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0327(01)00376-7
- Rothschild, L., & Zimmerman, M. (2002). Personality disorders and the duration of depressive episode: a retrospective study. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, *16*(4), 293–303. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.16.4.293.24129
- Roy, A., & Janal, M. (2005). Family history of suicide, female sex, and childhood trauma: separate or interacting risk factors for attempts at suicide? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *112*(5), 367–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00647.x
- Rubio, J. M., Markowitz, J. C., Alegría, A., Pérez-Fuentes, G., Liu, S., Lin, K., & Blanco, C. (2011). Epidemiology of chronic and nonchronic major depressive disorder: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. *Depression and Anxiety*, 28(8), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20864
- Sabaß, L., Padberg, F., Normann, C., Engel, V., Konrad, C., Helmle, K., Jobst, A., Worlitz, A., & Brakemeier, E.-L. (2018). Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy as group psychotherapy for chronically depressed inpatients: a naturalistic multicenter feasibility trial. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 268(8), 783–796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-017-0843-5
- Sarchiapone, M., Carli, V., Cuomo, C., & Roy, A. (2007). Childhood trauma and suicide attempts in patients with unipolar depression. *Depression and Anxiety*, *24*(4), 268–272. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20243
- Satyanarayana, S., Enns, M. W., Cox, B. J., & Sareen, J. (2009). Prevalence and Correlates of Chronic Depression in the Canadian Community Health Survey: Mental Health and Well-Being. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *54*(6), 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370905400606
- Schleidgen, S., Klingler, C., Bertram, T., Rogowski, W. H., & Marckmann, G. (2013). What is personalized medicine: sharpening a vague term based on a systematic literature review.

BMC Medical Ethics, 14, 55. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6939-14-55

- Schramm, E., Klein, D. N., Elsaesser, M., Furukawa, T. A., & Domschke, K. (2020). Review of dysthymia and persistent depressive disorder: history, correlates, and clinical implications. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(9), 801–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30099-7
- Schramm, E., Kriston, L., Zobel, I., Bailer, J., Wambach, K., Backenstrass, M., Klein, J. P.,
  Schoepf, D., Schnell, K., Gumz, A., Bausch, P., Fangmeier, T., Meister, R., Berger, M.,
  Hautzinger, M., & Härter, M. (2017). Effect of disorder-specific vs nonspecific
  psychotherapy for chronic depression: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*,
  74(3), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.3880
- Schramm, E., Zobel, I., Dykierek, P., Kech, S., Brakemeier, E.-L., Külz, A., & Berger, M. (2011).
  Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus interpersonal psychotherapy for early-onset chronic depression: A randomized pilot study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *129*(1–3), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.08.003
- Schramm, E., Zobel, I., Schoepf, D., Fangmeier, T., Schnell, K., Walter, H., Drost, S., Schmidt,
  P., Brakemeier, E.-L., Berger, M., & Normann, C. (2015). Cognitive Behavioral Analysis
  System of Psychotherapy versus Escitalopram in Chronic Major Depression. *Psychotherapy* and *Psychosomatics*, 84(4), 227–240.
  https://doi.org/10.1159/000381957
- Serbanescu, I., Backenstrass, M., Drost, S., Weber, B., Walter, H., Klein, J. P., Zobel, I., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter, M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, 607300. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.607300
- Serbanescu, I., Walter, H., Schnell, K., Kessler, H., Weber, B., Drost, S., Groß, M., Neudeck, P.,
  Klein, J. P., Assmann, N., Zobel, I., Backenstrass, M., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter,
  M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle

response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *124*, 103512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512

- Shankman, S. A., Campbell, M. L., Klein, D. N., Leon, A. C., Arnow, B. A., Manber, R., Keller, M. B., Markowitz, J. C., Rothbaum, B. O., Thase, M. E., & Kocsis, J. H. (2013). Dysfunctional attitudes as a moderator of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy for chronic depression. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47(1), 113–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.09.018
- Simon, G. E., & Perlis, R. H. (2010). Personalized Medicine for Depression: Can We Match Patients With Treatments? *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167(12), 1445–1455. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09111680
- Smagula, S. F., Wallace, M. L., Anderson, S. J., Karp, J. F., Lenze, E. J., Mulsant, B. H., Butters, M. A., Blumberger, D. M., Diniz, B. S., Lotrich, F. E., Dew, M. A., & Reynolds, C. F. (2016).
  Combining moderators to identify clinical profiles of patients who will, and will not, benefit from aripiprazole augmentation for treatment resistant late-life major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *81*, 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.07.005
- Spijker, J., van Straten, A., Bockting, C. L. H., Meeuwissen, J. A. C., & van Balkom, A. J. L. M.
  (2013). Psychotherapy, Antidepressants, and Their Combination for Chronic Major
  Depressive Disorder: A Systematic Review. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *58*(7), 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371305800703
- Steidtmann, D., Manber, R., Arnow, B. A., Klein, D. N., Markowitz, J. C., Rothbaum, B. O., Thase, M. E., & Kocsis, J. H. (2012). Patient Treatment Preference As a Predictor of Response and Attrition in Treatment for Chronic Depression. *Depression and Anxiety*, 29(10), 896–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.21977
- Stulz, N., Thase, M. E., Klein, D. N., Manber, R., & Crits-Christoph, P. (2010). Differential effects of treatments for chronic depression: A latent growth model reanalysis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(3), 409–419. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019267

- Thase, M. E. (2006). Preventing Relapse and Recurrence of Depression: A Brief Review of Therapeutic Options. CNS Spectrums, 11(12 Suppl 15), 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1092852900015212
- Topol, E. J., & Lauer, M. S. (2003). The rudimentary phase of personalised medicine: coronary risk scores. *Lancet (London, England)*, *362*(9398), 1776–1777. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14941-0
- van Bronswijk, S. C., DeRubeis, R. J., Lemmens, L. H. J. M., Peeters, F. P. M. L., Keefe, J. R., Cohen, Z. D., & Huibers, M. J. H. (2019). Precision medicine for long-term depression outcomes using the Personalized Advantage Index approach: cognitive therapy or interpersonal psychotherapy? *Psychological Medicine*, *51*(2), 279–289. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291719003192
- Vandeleur, C. L., Fassassi, S., Castelao, E., Glaus, J., Strippoli, M.-P. F., Lasserre, A. M., Rudaz, D., Gebreab, S., Pistis, G., Aubry, J.-M., Angst, J., & Preisig, M. (2017). Prevalence and correlates of DSM-5 major depressive and related disorders in the community. *Psychiatry Research*, *250*, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.060
- Victor, D., Backenstrass, M., Herdtle, B., Fiedler, P., Mundt, C., & Kronmüller, K.-T. (2006).
  Zur Erfassung der depressiven Persönlichkeitsstörung Eine Validierung einer deutschen Version des «Diagnostischen Interviews für die Depressive Persönlichkeit» (DID). *PPmP Psychotherapie* · *Psychosomatik* · *Medizinische Psychologie*, *56*(02), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2005-915234
- von Wolff, A., Hölzel, L. P., Westphal, A., Härter, M., & Kriston, L. (2012). Combination of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy in the treatment of chronic depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *12*, 61. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-12-61
- Wallace, M. L., Banihashemi, L., O'Donnell, C., Nimgaonkar, V. L., Kodavali, C., McNamee, R., & Germain, A. (2018). Using optimal combined moderators to define heterogeneity in neural responses to randomized conditions: Application to the effect of sleep loss on fear learning. *NeuroImage*, *181*, 718–727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.07.051

- Wallace, M. L., Frank, E., & Kraemer, H. C. (2013). A novel approach for developing and interpreting treatment moderator profiles in randomized clinical trials. JAMA Psychiatry, 70(11), 1241–1247. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1960
- Wallace, M. L., McMakin, D. L., Tan, P. Z., Rosen, D., Forbes, E. E., Ladouceur, C. D., Ryan, N. D., Siegle, G. J., Dahl, R. E., Kendall, P. C., Mannarino, A., & Silk, J. S. (2017). The role of day-to-day emotions, sleep, and social interactions in pediatric anxiety treatment. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 90, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.12.012
- Wallace, M. L., & Smagula, S. F. (2018). Promise and Challenges of Using Combined Moderator
   Methods to Personalize Mental Health Treatment. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(6), 678–679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2018.02.001
- Wasserstein, R. L., & Lazar, N. A. (2016). The ASA Statement on p-Values: Context, Process, and Purpose. *The American Statistician*, 70(2), 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2016.1154108
- Webb, C. A., Trivedi, M. H., Cohen, Z. D., Dillon, D. G., Fournier, J. C., Goer, F., Fava, M., McGrath, P. J., Weissman, M., Parsey, R., Adams, P., Trombello, J. M., Cooper, C., Deldin, P., Oquendo, M. A., McInnis, M. G., Huys, Q., Bruder, G., Kurian, B. T., ... Pizzagalli, D. A. (2018). Personalized prediction of antidepressant v. placebo response: evidence from the EMBARC study. *Psychological Medicine*, *49*(7), 1118–1127. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718001708
- Weissman, M. M., Leaf, P. J., Bruce, M. L., & Florio, L. (1988). The epidemiology of dysthymia in five communities: rates, risks, comorbidity, and treatment. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 145(7), 815–819. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.145.7.815
- Wiersma, J. E., Hovens, J. G. F. M., Van Oppen, P., Giltay, E. J., Van Schaik, D. J. F., Beekman,
  A. T. F., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2009). The importance of childhood trauma and childhood life events for chronicity of depression in adults. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *70*(7), 983–989. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.08m04521

Wiersma, J. E., Van Schaik, D. J. F., Hoogendorn, A. W., Dekker, J. J., Van, H. L., Schoevers,

R. A., Blom, M. B. J., Maas, K., Smit, J. H., McCullough, J. P., Beekman, A. T. F., & Van Oppen, P. (2014). The effectiveness of the cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy for chronic depression: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *83*(5), 263–269. https://doi.org/10.1159/000360795

- Wium-Andersen, I. K., Vinberg, M., Kessing, L. V., & McIntyre, R. S. (2016). Personalized medicine in psychiatry. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 71(1), 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2016.1216163
- World Health Organization. (1993). *The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Diagnostic criteria for research*. World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2017). *Depression and other common mental disorders: global health estimates*. Rep. CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO, World Health Organization, Geneva.
- World Health Organization. (2019). *ICD-11: International classification of diseases (11th revision)*. Retrieved from https://icd.who.int/.
- Zatti, C., Rosa, V., Barros, A., Valdivia, L., Calegaro, V. C., Freitas, L. H., Ceresér, K. M. M., Rocha, N. S. da, Bastos, A. G., & Schuch, F. B. (2017). Childhood trauma and suicide attempt: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies from the last decade. *Psychiatry Research*, 256, 353–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.082

### Paper 1 | Appendix 1

This appendix includes the full text of the following paper published in *Behaviour Research and Therapy*:

Serbanescu, I., Walter, H., Schnell, K., Kessler, H., Weber, B., Drost, S., Groß, M., Neudeck, P., Klein, J. P., Assmann, N., Zobel, I., Backenstrass, M., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter, M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 124,* 103512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512

> The final authenticated version is available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512

**Contributions of doctoral candidate:** Ilinca Serbanescu designed the concept of this secondary study, developed the applied combination of statistical methods, selected the software for processing and analysing the data, analysed the data, interpreted the findings, drafted the manuscript, revised the manuscript as part of the peer-review process, and coordinated the publication of the manuscript.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





### Behaviour Research and Therapy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/brat

# Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive disorder



Ilinca Serbanescu<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Henrik Walter<sup>c</sup>, Knut Schnell<sup>d</sup>, Henrik Kessler<sup>e</sup>, Bernd Weber<sup>a,b</sup>, Sarah Drost<sup>f</sup>, Magdalena Groß<sup>f</sup>, Peter Neudeck<sup>f</sup>, Jan Philipp Klein<sup>g</sup>, Nele Assmann<sup>g</sup>, Ingo Zobel<sup>h</sup>, Matthias Backenstrass<sup>i,j</sup>, Martin Hautzinger<sup>k</sup>, Ramona Meister<sup>l</sup>, Martin Härter<sup>l</sup>, Elisabeth Schramm<sup>m</sup>, Dieter Schoepf<sup>f,n</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Center for Economics and Neuroscience, University of Bonn, Nachtigallenweg 86, D-53127, Bonn, Germany

<sup>c</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Charité-University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, D-10117, Berlin, Germany

- <sup>d</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center Göttingen, vonsiebold Straße 5, D-37075, Göttingen, Germany
- <sup>e</sup> Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, LWL University Hospital, Ruhr University Bochum, Alexandrinenstrasse 1-3, D-44791, Bochum, Germany
- Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, CBASP Center of Competence, University of Bonn, Sigmund-Freud-Strasse 25, D-53127, Bonn, Germany
- <sup>8</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Lübeck University, Ratzeburger Allee 160, D-23538, Lübeck, Germany

<sup>h</sup> Psychology School at the Fresenius University of Applied Sciences Berlin, Jägerstrasse 32, D-10117, Berlin, Germany

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, University of Heidelberg, Hauptstrasse 47-51, D-69117, Heidelberg, Germany

- <sup>1</sup> Institute of Clinical Psychology, Hospital Stuttgart, Prießnitzweg 24, D-70374, Stuttgart, Germany
- <sup>k</sup> Department of Psychology, Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Schleichstrasse 4, D-72076, Tübingen, Germany

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medical Psychology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Martinistrasse 52, D-20246, Hamburg, Germany

<sup>n</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Vitos Weil-Lahn, Mönchberg 8, D-65589, Hadamar, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Persistent depressive disorder CBASP Supportive psychotherapy Childhood trauma Optimal composite moderator Personalized medicine

#### ABSTRACT

Does the pre-treatment profile of individuals with persistent depressive disorder (PDD) moderate their benefit from disorder-specific Cognitive Behavioral System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) versus supportive psychotherapy (SP)? We investigated this question by analyzing data from a multi-center randomized clinical trial comparing the effectiveness of 48 weeks of CBASP to SP in n = 237 patients with early-onset PDD who were not taking antidepressant medication. We statistically developed an optimal composite moderator as a weighted combination of 13 preselected baseline variables and used it for identifying and characterizing subgroups for which CABSP may be preferable to SP or vice versa. We identified two distinct subgroups: 58.65% of the patients had a better treatment outcome with CBASP, while the remaining 41.35% had a better outcome with SP. At baseline, patients responding more favorably to CBASP were more severely depressed and more likely affected by moderate-to-severe childhood trauma including early emotional, physical, or sexual abuse, as well as emotional or physical neglect. In contrast, patients responding more favorably to SP had a higher pre-treatment global and social functioning level, a higher life quality and more often a recurrent illness pattern without complete remission between the episodes. These findings emphasize the relevance of considering pre-treatment characteristics when selecting between disorder-specific CBASP and SP for treating PDD. The practical implementation of this approach would advance personalized medicine for PDD by supporting mental health practitioners in their selection of the most effective psychotherapy for an individual patient.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512

Received 12 June 2019; Received in revised form 14 September 2019; Accepted 3 November 2019 Available online 04 November 2019 0005-7967/ © 2019 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Institute of Experimental Epileptology and Cognition Research, University of Bonn, Sigmund-Freud-Strasse 25, D-53127, Bonn, Germany

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>m</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Center, University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Hauptstrasse 5, D-79104, Freiburg,

Germany

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Center for Economics and Neuroscience (CENs), University of Bonn, Nachtigallenweg 86, D-53127, Bonn, Germany. *E-mail address:* ilinca.serbanescu@ukbonn.de (I. Serbanescu).

#### 1. Introduction

Approximately one-third of all individuals with a lifetime depressive disorder develop a chronic course that lasts two years or longer (Murphy & Byrne, 2012), also referred to as persistent depressive disorder (PDD). PDD often begins early in life (i.e., before the age of 21), and is commonly associated with childhood trauma, mental comorbidities, as well as a low interpersonal and occupational functioning level (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Berndt et al., 2000; Klein et al., 1999). A large number of patients with PDD experience side effects, relapses or resistances when treated with antidepressant medication (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Kocsis, Gelenberg, et al., 2009; Schramm et al., 2017) and many report a preference for psychological over pharmacological treatments (McHugh, Whitton, Peckham, Welge, & Otto, 2013). For these reasons, psychotherapy is an indispensable tool in the treatment of many patients with PDD.

So far, the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP; McCullough, 2003) is the only psychotherapy model specially designed for treating PDD. As a manualized cognitive-behavioral-oriented therapy, CBASP uses techniques including situation analysis, interpersonal discrimination exercises, and behavioral skills training to improve the patients' social functioning and recovering from PDD (McCullough, 2003; Neudeck, Walter, & Schoepf, 2012). There is strong empirical evidence of the effectiveness of CBASP for the treatment of PDD (e.g. Furukawa et al., 2018; Jobst et al., 2016; Schramm et al., 2011; Wiersma et al., 2014).

Due to the body of evidence that indicates its general superiority over alternative psychotherapeutic approaches, CBASP has been recommended as first-choice psychotherapy for treating PDD (Jobst et al., 2016). However, CBASP is poorly accessible in many communities where it is not routinely implemented in the mental health care system (Schramm et al., 2017).

Supportive psychotherapy (SP), which is more widely used, emphasizes non-specific, common core therapeutic factors like empathic listening, building a therapist-patient alliance, and therapeutic optimism (Markowitz, 2014). Unlike CBASP, SP does not use specific techniques like problem-solving or exposure exercises (Markowitz, 2014). In a meta-analysis, Cuijpers et al. (2012) found that SP has a considerable effect on mild to moderate depression in adult patients and is equally effective as cognitive-behavioral-oriented psychotherapies when controlling for investigator allegiance. Moreover, the authors concluded that non-specific factors account the most for the effectiveness of all investigated psychotherapies, while the contribution of specific techniques was limited at best. This may suggest that for some patients with PDD, SP might be equally or even more effective than CBASP. For others, disorder-specific CBASP might be more beneficial than a supportive approach. However, so far, little has been understood about which psychotherapeutic approach works for which patients with PDD (Cuijpers, Huibers, & Furukawa, 2017; Jobst et al., 2016).

In randomized clinical trials, an essential step in understanding who benefits from which treatment is to identify moderators of treatment response, i.e. pretreatment or baseline characteristics that are independent of the assigned treatment and show a different treatment effect depending on their value (Kraemer, 2013). For example, Nemeroff et al. (2003) found that for chronically depressed patients with a history of childhood trauma (i.e., early loss of parents, physical or sexual abuse, or neglect), CBASP was superior to monotherapy with nefazodone. Another analysis revealed that the effectiveness of CBASP and nefazodone varied depending on the patients' preference, in that they responded better to their preferred treatment (Kocsis, Leon, et al., 2009). The results of a meta-analysis of individual participant data (Furukawa et al., 2018) indicated that for PDD patients with severe depression and anxiety, the combination of CBASP and antidepressant medication was more effective than monotherapy with CBASP or antidepressant medication.

Although relevant for theory and treatment development, research emphasizing individual moderators often produces inconsistent results across different trials (Kraemer, 2013; Wallace & Smagula, 2018). For example, Bausch et al. (2017) failed to replicate the moderating role of childhood trauma (Nemeroff et al., 2003) in a comparison trial of CBASP and escitalopram in patients with PDD. Moreover, the isolated examination of individual moderators can lead to contradictory treatment recommendations. For instance, for a patient who prefers antidepressant medication and who has a history of early trauma, one might indicate medication over CBASP based on the treatment preference (Kocsis, Leon, et al., 2009), and at the same time, CBASP over medication with regard to the early trauma history (Nemeroff et al., 2003). Another issue with individual moderators is that they often have weak effects (Kraemer, 2013), and many studies do not report effect sizes that capture their moderation effect. To address these issues, Kraemer (2013) developed the optimal composite moderator approach, in which multiple individual moderators are combined to an optimal composite moderator 'M\*', which is used to identify and subsequently characterize patients who benefit more from one treatment than from another. This approach was applied to a number of randomized clinical trials examining interventions for episodic depression (Wallace, Frank, & Kraemer, 2013), late-life depression (Smagula et al., 2016), bipolar disorders (Frank et al., 2014) and anxiety disorders (Niles, Loerinc, et al., 2017; Niles, Wolitzky-Taylor, Arch, & Craske, 2017; Wallace et al., 2017). In all of these studies, the effect size of M\* was larger than any effect size of an individual moderator. So far, no previous work has applied this approach to a trial conducted in patients with PDD.

In a multi-center randomized clinical trial, Schramm et al. (2017) compared the effectiveness of 48 weeks of CBASP to SP in outpatients with early-onset PDD who were not taking antidepressant medication. The findings suggested that both interventions were associated with pre- to post-treatment reductions in depression severity, but that CBASP was modestly superior to SP. The present exploratory study used data from the trial conducted by Schramm et al. (2017) to identify and characterize subgroups of patients for whom CBASP was more likely to result in symptom reduction than SP, and vice versa. By addressing the question of what worked for whom, we aimed to generate findings that may be validated in future independent clinical populations, serve for developing treatment recommendations, and thus meet the need to advance personalized medicine for chronic forms of depression (Cuijpers et al., 2017).

#### 2. Method

The data used had been collected as part of an evaluator-blinded, prospective, parallel-group randomized clinical trial conducted at eight university centers throughout Germany (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT00970437). The trial was carried out following the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki and was separately approved by the ethics committees of all study centers. Patients provided written informed consent after receiving explanations of all procedures. Detailed information on the study trial can be found in the published protocol (Schramm, Hautzinger, et al., 2011) and the published main results of the trial (Schramm et al., 2017).

#### 2.1. Participants

Among 622 patients assessed for eligibility, 268 were randomized to either CBASP (n = 137) or SP (n = 131). Study participants were outpatients aged 18–65 years who met the DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association, 1994) criteria for a current major depressive disorder (MDD) of at least two years duration (chronic MDD; 31.5%), MDD superimposed on a pre-existing dysthymic disorder (double depression; 45.8%), or recurrent MDD without complete remission between episodes (22.7%), all with an early illness onset (before age 21). At the screening, patients scored at least 20 points on the 24-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD-24; Hamilton, 1967). Exclusion criteria included: an acute risk of suicide; a primary diagnosis of another Axis I disorder; a lifetime history of psychotic symptoms; a diagnosis of bipolar disorder, antisocial, schizotypal, or borderline personality disorder; a severe medical condition; an organic brain disorder; severe cognitive impairment; no response to a previous trial with CBASP or SP; or an ongoing treatment with a psychotherapy or antidepressant medication. The intake of any antidepressant medication was prohibited during the entire trial.

#### 2.2. Interventions

The CBASP is a highly structured, theory-driven psychotherapy from the third generation of behavioral therapy models specially designed to treat PDD. During the therapy, the patients are trained to develop a better understanding of the consequences of their behavior on others. The therapist uses techniques such as situation analysis, interpersonal discrimination exercises, and behavioral skill training to facilitate this (McCullough, 2003). Supportive psychotherapy is a disorder non-specific psychotherapy that emphasizes "common" factors that are supposed to be relevant tools across all psychotherapies including empathic listening and therapeutic optimism (Markowitz, 2014). In our trial, treatments were delivered by trained and experienced therapists who followed standardized CBASP and SP manuals. Sessions of CBASP and SP were held twice weekly for the first four weeks and weekly for the next 16 weeks in the acute treatment phase, followed by eight continuation sessions during the next 28 weeks, resuming to 32 sessions.

#### 2.3. Baseline variables examined as potential individual moderators

Before treatment randomization, study participants completed several diagnostic interviews, psychological questionnaires, and rating scales related to socio-demography, clinical characteristics, and treatment history. In our exploratory analysis, we considered 36 baseline variables as potential individual moderators and calculated moderator effect sizes as developed by Kraemer (2013) for each of them. Details on the assessment of all analyzed baseline variables are provided in Supplemental Table 1 in the supplemental materials (SM).

**Demographic characteristics:** Gender, age at randomization (years), being single, married or cohabiting, separated, divorced, or widowed, having a high educational level (= at least 12 years), being employed and the presence of morbidities were each considered as a potential moderator.

**Questionnaires administered at baseline:** We considered the baseline sum scores of the following questionnaires: HRSD-24 (Hamilton, 1967), self-rated Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (IDS-SR; Rush, Gullion, Basco, Jarrett, & Trivedi, 1996), the sum scores of the anxiety and phobic anxiety subscales of the Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI; Derogatis & Melisaratos, 1983), Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7 (GAD-7; Spitzer, Kroenke, Williams, & Löwe, 2006), Beck Scale for Suicidal Ideation (BSSI; Beck, Kovasac, & Weissman, 1979), Inventory of Interpersonal Problems (IIP-64; Horowitz, Strauß, & Kordy, 2000), Global Assessment Functioning Scale (GAF; Endicott, Spitzer, Fleiss, & Cohen, 1976), Quality of Life in Depression Scale (QLDS; Hunt & McKenna, 1992), and Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale (SASS; Duschek, Schandry, & Hege, 2003).

*Mental comorbidities*: We examined the presence of any comorbid Axis I disorders (diagnosed by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, SCID-I; First, Spitzer, Gibbon, & Williams, 2002) as well as the presence of any comorbid Axis II personality disorders (diagnosed by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders, SCID-II; First, Gibbon, Spitzer, & Williams, 1997).

*Illness characteristics and history:* We examined the three subtypes (chronic MDD, double depression, and recurrent MDD without

complete remission between episodes), the illness duration (in years), the age of illness onset (in years), and the history of at least one previous suicide attempt.

*Early trauma*: Early trauma was assessed using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein, Stein, & Newcomb, 2003). The CTQ assesses five types of early trauma that happened before the age of 18: emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect. In our analysis, the presence of each type was defined as at least moderate-to-severe, corresponding to a specific cutoff on the respective scale (for details, please refer to Supplemental Table 1 in the SM).

**Treatment history and preference for psychotherapy**: The examined variables included a history of at least one previous psychotherapy (with a duration of at least eight sessions) to treat depression, a history of at least one treatment with antidepressant medication (taken for at least four weeks), a history of combination treatment of psychotherapy with antidepressant medication, and a history of inpatient treatment for depression. Lastly, because we compared the effectiveness of two forms of psychotherapy, we analyzed the patients' preference for psychotherapy over other treatments for depression as a potential moderator.

#### 2.4. Outcome

In the present analysis, we used the percentage change in HRSD-24 scores from baseline to week 48 as an outcome. Negative scores reflect a reduction in depression severity, a score of zero reflects no change and positive scores indicate an increase in depression severity from baseline to week 48. The HRSD-24 ratings were performed by trained and experienced evaluators who were blind to treatment assignment. The interrater reliability of the HRSD-24 ratings was calculated based on data from 21 evaluators' ratings of nine audio- or videotaped interviews and had an intra-class correlation coefficient of 0.973 (95% CI, 0.889-0.999). Missing HRSD-24 data at week 48 (n = 59; 22.0%) were replaced by the last observation carried forward method, as specified in the study protocol (Schramm, Hautzinger, et al., 2011).

#### 2.5. Statistical analyses

Individual moderator effect sizes: First, we used the method described by Kraemer (2013) to examine moderator effect sizes for all 36 candidate variables. We started by pairing each patient assigned to CBASP to each patient assigned to SP. Next, for each pair in this dataset, we calculated the difference in the outcome (i.e., the percentage change in HRSD-24 scores) and the average value of each baseline variable. Next, to obtain the effect sizes, we computed non-parametric Spearman correlations between the difference in the outcome and each average, and estimated their 95% bootstrap confidence intervals (CI) based on 100 replications. Effect sizes obtained after this method are invariant over linear transformations of the baseline variable or the outcome, varying between -1 and +1, with higher magnitudes indicating a stronger moderation and 0 indicating the absence of a moderation effect (Kraemer, 2013). Variables were considered to be moderators if their effect size was  $\geq |0.10|$  (i.e., at least small). This cutoff is similar to those used in previously published applications of Kraemer's composite moderator method (e.g., Smagula et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2017). Given the exploratory character of this analysis, we abstained from including the statistical significance of interaction effects between the treatment and the moderator as a selection criterion (Wasserstein & Lazar, 2016).

**Model selection of the composite moderator:** Next, we wanted to identify which of the variables with effect sizes  $\geq |0.10|$  to include in the composite moderator (M\*) and to determine their weights contributing to M\*. According to Kraemer (2013), in the paired dataset, the weights of the single moderators have to be estimated by a multivariable regression model, in which the difference in outcome is

predicted by the averages of all preselected individual moderators. Similar to previous applications of the composite moderator approach (e.g., Smagula et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2018), we chose to perform least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) regression (Tibshirani, 1996) in the multivariable model. In principle, lasso regression selects the most useful independent variables and shrinks the regression weights of the least useful variables (e.g., those with little predictive power or correlated with other predictors) to zero, thereby removing them from the model (Tibshirani, 1996). Moreover, to optimize the model's predictive performance and to avoid overfitting, we combined lasso regression with k-fold cross-validation (James, Witten, Hastie, & Tibshirani, 2013). Other recent applications of the composite moderator approach have discussed the advantages of combining k-fold cross-validation with Kraemer's method, and have successfully applied it to develop composite moderators of continuous and dichotomous outcomes (refer to Niles, Loerinc, et al., 2017; Niles, Wolitzky-Taylor et al., 2017). In k-fold cross-validation, the data is randomly sampled into k folds: (k-1) folds are used as the training dataset, and the kth fold constitutes the validation dataset. The model is estimated within the training dataset, and its predictive performance is assessed within the held-out validation dataset (James et al., 2013). The entire procedure is repeated k times so that each fold is used for validation once. When applied to lasso regression, k-fold cross-validation can be used to identify the value of the tuning parameter ( $\lambda$ ) that minimizes the estimated mean-squared prediction error (MSPE) in the validation dataset. Thus, k-fold cross-validation enables to select a model that is more likely to have a good predictive performance in future new data, than a model that was trained and tested within the same data. In our analysis, for defining the tuning parameter that yields the smallest MSPE, we applied 10-folds cross-validation as described by Ahrens, Hansen, and Schaffer (2019) and implemented in their package lassopack developed for use in STATA. Within the paired dataset, we ran the 10-folds cross-validation by using the command "cvlasso", which internally repeats lasso regression and finally selects the model with the optimal tuning parameter ( $\lambda_{opt}$ ) that yields the smallest MSPE.

Identification of subgroups: After selecting the optimal model based on the procedure described before, we extracted the weights from each of the moderators selected by this model and calculated the value of M\* for each patient as described by Kraemer (2013). Finally, in the unpaired full dataset, we conducted a regression analysis predicting the outcome (i.e., percentage change in HRSD-24 scores) from the composite moderator M\*, the treatment group, and their interaction, and computed the effect size of M\* together with the 95% bootstrap CI. We calculated the value of M\* at which the predicted outcomes for CBASP and SP group crossed one another. When they crossed, we divided the sample into two subgroups, one below and one above the cross-point, each with a different treatment associated with a more favorable outcome. Within both subgroups, we calculated Cohen's d treatment effect sizes with 95% CI. Finally, we characterized the baseline profiles of each subgroup. Analyses were conducted in STATA version 15.1 (StataCorp, 2017).

#### 3. Results

*Effect sizes of individual moderators:* Table 1 displays effect sizes with 95% CI for each of the 36 baseline variables. Effect sizes ranged from -0.209 (IDS-SR; self-rated depression severity) to 0.084 (past psychotherapy). Negative values indicate a better outcome (i.e., a greater reduction in HRSD-24 scores from pre-to post-treatment) with CBASP than with SP for higher values of the moderator. Positive values indicate a better outcome with SP than with CBASP for higher values of the moderator. In total, we identified 13 baseline variables with an effect size  $\geq |0.10|$ . These were self-rated depression severity (IDS-SR), clinician-rated depression severity (HRSD-24), having at least one comorbid Axis I disorder, early moderate-to-severe emotional neglect, early moderate-to-severe physical neglect, quality of life (QLDS, with

higher values indicating lower quality of life), being divorced, separated, or widowed, illness duration (years), chronic MDD as subtype, recurrent MDD without complete remission between the episodes as subtype, having at least one comorbid Axis II disorder, social functioning (SASS), and global functioning (GAF).

**Optimal composite moderator**  $M^*$ : By using 10-fold cross-validation as described in the methods, we selected an optimal model that contained all 13 moderators with an effect size  $\geq |0.10|$ . Supplemental Fig. 1 of the SM provides a plot of the estimated MSPEs as a function of the tuning parameter resulting from the 10-fold cross-validation. The estimated weights for the composite moderator M\* are provided in Table 1. They represent the extent to which each moderator distinguishes differences in the outcome between patients from CBASP and those from SP in the context of the other selected moderators. The effect size of the composite moderator M\* was r = 0.34 (95% CI, 0.32; 0.36). In comparison, the effect size of the largest individual moderator, selfrated baseline depression severity (IDS-SR), was r = -0.209 (95% CI of -0.227 to -0.190).

*Identified subgroups:* Values of M\* were calculated for n = 237 patients who had complete data on all 13 moderators. Next, in the unpaired dataset, we performed the regression analysis explained in the methods. Fig. 1 illustrates the predicted pre- to post-treatment percentage change in HRSD-24 scores for CBASP and SP across the range of M\*. The lines cross at M\* = 8.40. Below this cross-point (M\* < 8.40), CBASP was moderately preferable to SP (Cohen's d = -0.57; 95% CI: 0.91; -0.23) for n = 139 (58.65%) patients. Above this cross-point (M\* > 8.40), SP was little preferable to CBASP (Cohen's d = 0.29; 95% CI: 0.11; 0.68) for n = 98 (41.35%) patients.

Table 2 provides descriptive statistics to characterize patients in both subgroups. Patients responding more favorably to CBASP had a more prolonged illness duration, were more often divorced, separated, or widowed, and more likely diagnosed with chronic MDD. More often, they had at least one comorbid Axis I disorder as well as higher initial self- and clinician-rated depression severity. All five forms of moderateto-severe childhood trauma (emotional abuse, emotional neglect, physical abuse, physical neglect, and sexual abuse) were more often reported by these patients. Conversely, patients responding more favorably to SP tended to have higher baseline general and social functioning levels. Their baseline quality of life was less affected by PDD. They were also more likely to have recurrent MDD without complete remission between the episodes as well as at least one Axis II disorder. Note that, because of the explorative character of this analysis, we abstained from testing any of these subgroup differences.

#### 4. Discussion

The aim of this study was to identify and characterize subgroups of patients with early-onset PDD who responded more favorably to 48 weeks of CBASP versus SP and vice versa. By using the approach described by Kraemer (2013) and two statistical learning methods (lasso regression and *k*-fold cross-validation), we preselected and combined single baseline variables into an optimal composite moderator to predict whether a patient will be more likely to benefit from CBASP or SP. In line with previous applications of the composite moderator approach (e.g. Niles, Loerinc, et al., 2017; Niles, Wolitzky-Taylor et al., 2017; Smagula et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2017), the effect size of M\* was larger than the effect size of any individual moderator. We found two subgroups: one comprising approximately 59% of patients for whom CBASP was preferable to SP, and another comprising 41% of patients for whom SP was preferable to CBASP. We finally characterized and compared both subgroups in terms of their pre-treatment profiles.

The CBASP was associated with a better outcome than SP for more severely depressed patients who had higher rates of early trauma in the form of sexual, emotional or physical abuse, or emotional or physical neglect. Importantly, CBASP was specially developed to treat earlytrauma-driven behavioral and cognitive deficits in chronically

#### Table 1

Moderator effect sizes for analyzed baseline variables and weights for the composite moderator.

| Baseline variable  | Moderator effect size (95% CI) | Weight in the final model |  |
|--|--------------------------------|---------------------------|--|
| Included in the final model  |                                |                           |  |
| IDS-SR   | -0.209(-0.227; -0.190)         | -1.610                    |  |
| HRSD-24  | -0.162(-0.180; -0.144)         | 0.124                     |  |
| At least one comorbid Axis-I disorder                                  | -0.141(-0.155; -0.127)         | -18.821                   |  |
| Early emotional neglect  | -0.121(-0.136; -0.106)         | -6.326                    |  |
| QLDS   | -0.118(-0.132; -0.103)         | 0.674                     |  |
| Separated, divorced or widowed   | -0.114(-0.128; -0.100)         | -15.680                   |  |
| Illness duration   | -0.108(-0.121; -0.095)         | -0.034                    |  |
| Chronic major depression   | -0.108(-0.122; -0.094)         | -9.941                    |  |
| Early physical neglect   | -0.102(-0.116; -0.089)         | -6.518                    |  |
| Recurrent major depression without complete remission between episodes | 0.100 (0.084; 0.117)           | 20.919                    |  |
| At least one comorbid Axis-II disorder                                 | 0.106 (0.092; 0.119)           | 30.943                    |  |
| SASS   | 0.113 (0.098; 0.127)           | 0.456                     |  |
| GAF  | 0.144 (0.126; 0.163)           | 0.744                     |  |
| Not included in the final model  |                                |                           |  |
| GAD-7  | -0.098(-0.115; -0.081)         |                           |  |
| Age at randomization   | -0.095(-0.108; -0.081)         |                           |  |
| At least one lifetime suicide attempt                                  | -0.086(-0.102; -0.071)         |                           |  |
| At least 12 years of education   | -0.075 (-0.089; -0.061)        |                           |  |
| Early physical abuse   | -0.069 (-0.084; -0.055)        |                           |  |
| BSI, subscale anxiety  | -0.064 (-0.080; -0.047)        |                           |  |
| Past treatment with antidepressant medication                          | -0.060 (-0.074; -0.046)        |                           |  |
| Having at least one morbidity  | -0.047 (-0.062; -0.032)        |                           |  |
| IIP-64   | -0.042(-0.058; -0.027)         |                           |  |
| Gender (= female)  | -0.027(-0.042; -0.011)         |                           |  |
| Early emotional abuse  | -0.026 (-0.040; -0.011)        |                           |  |
| Past inpatient treatment   | -0.009 (-0.023; 0.005)         |                           |  |
| BSSI   | -0.003 (-0.018; 0.013)         |                           |  |
| BSI, subscale phobia   | -0.001 (-0.014; 0.013)         |                           |  |
| Past combination treatment   | 0.003 (-0.012; 0.019)          |                           |  |
| Early sexual abuse   | 0.013 (-0.005; 0.031)          |                           |  |
| Double depression  | 0.017 (0.002; 0.032)           |                           |  |
| Preference for psychotherapy   | 0.029 (0.015; 0.043)           |                           |  |
| Being single   | 0.034 (0.020; 0.049)           |                           |  |
| Married or cohabiting  | 0.052 (0.037; 0.068)           |                           |  |
| Employed   | 0.061 (0.050; 0.073)           |                           |  |
| Age at illness onset   | 0.072 (0.056; 0.087)           |                           |  |
| Past psychotherapy   | 0.084 (0.068; 0.100)           |                           |  |

*Abbreviations*: BSI = Brief Symptom Inventory; BSSI = Beck Scale for Suicidal Ideation; CI = confidence interval; GAD-7 = Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7; GAF = Global Assessment Functioning Scale; HRSD-24 = 24-Item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; IDS-SR = Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology, self-rated; IIP-64 = Inventory of Interpersonal Problems; QLDS = Quality of Life in Depression Scale; SASS = Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale. *Notes*: Negative values indicate a better outcome with CBASP than with SP for higher values of the moderator. Positive values indicate a better outcome with SP than



with CBASP for higher values of the moderator.

Fig. 1. Predicted percentage change in HRSD-24 scores with 95% confidence intervals for CBASP and SP across the observed range of the composite moderator  $M^*$ .

*Abbreviations*: CBASP, Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; HRSD-24, 24-Item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; SP, supportive psychotherapy.

depressed patients (McCullough, 2003). The CBASP therapist seeks to help his clients to recognize the negative consequences of their dysfunctional behavior on others, as well as to improve their stress management skills and emotional control over depression by applying bottom-up and top-down techniques to encourage formal operative thinking and behavior (McCullough, 2003; Neudeck et al., 2012; Schramm et al., 2017). Thus, it is plausible that this approach was more useful than non-structured SP for those patients with a lower social and global functioning level at baseline, who were also more early traumatized and who had a higher initial depression severity. Their baseline profile corresponds more to the picture of the chronically depressed patient portrayed by McCullough in the early years of the development of CBASP (McCullough, 2003) than the pre-treatment characteristics dominating in the subgroup benefiting more from SP. Patients who responded more favorably to SP had a higher initial social and global functioning level, less early trauma, and a lower baseline depression severity. According to Markowitz (2014), SP bypasses the confrontation with biographical aspects while offering a more liberal and supportive therapeutic setting that focuses on activating available resources. Given the constellation of more beneficial baseline features, this subgroup might have benefited from the resources that were activated through the approach of SP. The lower rates of early traumatic experiences in this subgroup might also explain why the early-trauma emphasizing approach of CBASP was less beneficial for these patients. Given the

#### Table 2

Baseline profiles of patients within the two subgroups above and below  $M^{\star}$  = 8.40

| Baseline characteristics   | CBASP is preferable to SP (M* $<$ 8.40; n = 139) | SP is preferable to CBASP (M* $>$ 8.40; n = 98) |
|--|--|---|
| Illness duration, y, mean (SD)   | 34.1 (13.2)                                      | 28.7 (13.4)                                     |
| Separated, divorced or widowed (%)                                     | 25.2   | 8.2   |
| Chronic major depression (%)   | 46.8   | 12.2  |
| Recurrent major depression without complete remission between episodes | 10.1   | 39.8  |
| (%)  |  |   |
| Any Axis I disorder (%)  | 53.2   | 23.5  |
| Any Axis II disorder (%)   | 26.6   | 53.1  |
| CTQ emotional neglect (%)  | 74.8   | 52.0  |
| CTQ emotional abuse (%)  | 66.9   | 48.0  |
| CTQ physical neglect (%)   | 41.7   | 15.3  |
| CTQ sexual abuse (%)   | 29.0   | 15.5  |
| CTQ physical abuse (%)   | 28.8   | 10.2  |
| Self-rated depression severity, IDS-SR, mean (SD)                      | 43.1 (8.4)                                       | 33.3 (8.1)                                      |
| Clinician-rated depression severity, HRSD-24, mean (SD)                | 27.0 (6.7)                                       | 21.7 (6.3)                                      |
| Quality of life, QLDS, mean (SD)                                       | 20.7 (7.1)                                       | 16.6 (7.8)                                      |
| Social functioning, SASS, mean (SD)                                    | 28.6 (6.5)                                       | 32.0 (5.9)                                      |
| Global functioning, GAF, mean (SD)                                     | 51.1 (8.1)                                       | 58.5 (8.5)                                      |

Abbreviations: CBASP, Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; GAF, Global Assessment Functioning Scale; HRSD-24, 24-Item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; IDS-SR, self-rated Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology; QLDS, Quality of Life in Depression Scale; SASS, Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale; SD, standard deviation; SP, supportive psychotherapy; y, years. *Notes*: Higher values of the QLDS indicate a lower quality of life due to depressive disorder.

greater availability of SP in clinical practice (Markowitz, 2014), future research should investigate its potential to treat PDD in patients with such pre-treatment characteristics.

Importantly, we want to emphasize that these subgroup effects apply, so far, only to the here investigated population of outpatients with PDD who were not taking antidepressant medication. Although we performed cross-validation, the replicability of the model generated to calculate M\*, as well as the effect size of M\*, have to be tested in a rigorous external validation before these findings can be generalized and applied to clinical practice. Besides the validation of the model provided in this work, one might also select prominent baseline differences that differed (e.g., early trauma, PDD subtype) between both subgroups and stratify new populations according to them in order to test specific hypotheses or new treatment combinations. For the prediction of treatment response, models based on integrating several multi-domain characteristics might, however, be more realistic and useful than the traditional approach of examining one moderator per model (for a discussion, refer to Cohen & DeRubeis, 2018 and Wallace & Smagula, 2018).

#### 4.1. Limitations and outlook

Our findings should be considered in the context of some limitations. First, we want to emphasize that our study was a hypothesisgenerating one. As already mentioned, the predictive performance of the developed composite moderator must be externally validated in a new population. Also, mediator analyses are further necessary to identify the factors that have influenced the process between randomization and post-treatment within each subgroup. Second, the psychotherapies compared here (i.e., CBASP and SP) are two out of many possibilities to treat PDD. Future studies might develop composite moderator approaches that rank the effectiveness of several treatments. Another necessity is to develop more sophisticated models that consider the benefits and the side effects of treatments. Third, we only had a limited number of variables, with which to develop the composite moderator. It is likely that other moderators, which were not assessed, would have enhanced the effect size of M\* if included. Forth, in order to restrict the model's complexity, we did not examine interactions between single variables or non-linear moderator effects. Due to the many possible models, sophisticated machine learning methods might represent a more useful alternative for testing this diversity. Finally, further analyses should be performed to determine whether the composite moderator is also reflective of outcomes at a given follow-up time point.

#### 5. Conclusion

By using the composite moderator methodology, we have identified two subgroups with differential benefits from disorder-specific CBASP compared to SP. These results emphasize the relevance of detecting subgroups with differential treatment benefits in randomized clinical trials by methods such as the one applied here. After validation in an independent sample, algorithms based on this method could help mental health practitioners select the most promising psychotherapy for patients in the community. Further progress in this research field is urgently needed to personalize treatment selection for patients suffering from PDD.

#### Acknowledgements

This trial was funded by grants of the German Research Foundation (SCHR443/11-1, SCHR 443/11-2, and WA1539/4-1). The sponsor (German Research Foundation) has reviewed and approved the study protocol in the context of the grant application process. It had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

We want to express our thanks to Professor Helena Chmura Kraemer, Stanford University, USA, for her invaluable help regarding the statistical analyses. We are grateful to all participating patients and their families, as well as to all therapists and outcome evaluators. This study would not have been possible without their efforts and dedication.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512.

#### References

 Ahrens, A., Hansen, C. B., & Schaffer, M. E. (2019). lassopack: Model selection and prediction with regularized regression in Stata. ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:1901.05397.
 American Psychiatric Association. (1994). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-IV. 4th. American psychiatric association. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

- Arnow, B. A., & Constantino, M. J. (2003). Effectiveness of psychotherapy and combination treatment for chronic depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(8), 893–905.
- Bausch, P., Fangmeier, T., Zobel, I., Schoepf, D., Drost, S., Schnell, K., et al. (2017). The impact of childhood maltreatment on the differential efficacy of CBASP versus escitalopram in patients with chronic depression: A secondary analysis. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 24(5), 1155–1162. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2081.
- Beck, A., Kovasac, M., & Weissman, A. (1979). Assessment of suicidal intention: The scale for suicide ideation. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 47(2), 343–352.
- Berndt, E. R., Koran, L. M., Finkelstein, S. N., Gelenberg, A. J., Kornstein, S. G., Miller, I. M., et al. (2000). Lost human capital from early-onset chronic depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(6), 940–947.
- Bernstein, D., Stein, J., & Newcomb, M. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 27(2), 169–190.
- Cohen, Z. D., & DeRubeis, R. J. (2018). Treatment selection in depression. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 14(1), 209–236. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084746.
- Cuijpers, P., Driessen, E., Hollon, S. D., van Oppen, P., Barth, J., & Andersson, G. (2012). The efficacy of non-directive supportive therapy for adult depression: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(4), 280–291.
- Cuijpers, P., Huibers, M. J. H., & Furukawa, T. A. (2017). The need for research on treatments of chronic depression. JAMA Psychiatry, 74(3), 242. https://doi.org/10. 1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.4070.
- Derogatis, L. R., & Melisaratos, N. (1983). The brief symptom inventory: An introductory report. Psychological Medicine, 13(3), 595–605.
- Duschek, S., Schandry, R., & Hege, B. (2003). Soziale Aktivität Selbstbeurteilungs- Skala (SASS). Diagnostik sozialer Funktionsstörungen bei depressiven Störungen. Göttingen: Beltz Test GmbH.
- Endicott, J., Spitzer, R., Fleiss, J., & Cohen, J. (1976). The global assessment scale: A procedure for measuring overall severity of psychiatric disturbance. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 33(6), 766–771.
- First, M., Gibbon, M., Spitzer, R., & Williams, J. (1997). Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV Axis II personality disorders (SCID-II). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- First, M., Spitzer, R., Gibbon, M., & Williams, J. (2002). Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I disorders, research version, clinical trials version (SCID-CT). New York: Biometrics Research. New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- Frank, E., Wallace, M. L., Hall, M., Hasler, B., Levenson, J. C., Janney, C. A., et al. (2014). An integrated risk reduction intervention can reduce body mass index in individuals being treated for bipolar I disorder: Results from a randomized trial. *Bipolar Disorders*, 17(4), 424–437. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12283.
- Furukawa, T. A., Efthimiou, O., Weitz, E. S., Cipriani, A., Keller, M. B., Kocsis, J. H., et al. (2018). Cognitive-behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy, drug, or their combination for persistent depressive disorder: Personalizing the treatment choice using individual participant data network metaregression. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 87(3), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489227.
- Hamilton, M. (1967). Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. British Journal of Social & Clinical Psychology, 6(4), 278–296.
- Horowitz, L., Strauß, B., & Kordy, H. (2000). Inventar zur Erfassung interpersonaler Probleme IIP-D-Manual. Göttingen: Göttingen Beltz - Test.
- Hunt, S. M., & McKenna, S. P. (1992). The QLDS: A scale for the measurement of quality of life in depression. *Health Policy*, 22(3), 307–319.
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). An introduction to statistical learning with applications in R. New York, NY: Springer.
- Jobst, A., Brakemeier, E.-L., Buchheim, A., Caspar, F., Cuijpers, P., Ebmeier, K. P., et al. (2016). European psychiatric association guidance on psychotherapy in chronic depression across europe. *European Psychiatry*, 33, 18–36.
- Klein, D. N., Schatzberg, A. F., McCullough, J. P., Dowling, F., Goodman, D., Howland, R. H., et al. (1999). Age of onset in chronic major depression: Relation to demographic and clinical variables, family history, and treatment response. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 55, 149–157.
- Kocsis, J. H., Gelenberg, A. J., Rothbaum, B. O., Klein, D. N., Trivedi, M. H., Manber, R., et al. (2009). Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy and brief supportive psychotherapy for augmentation of antidepressant nonresponse in chronic depression: The REVAMP trial. Archives of General Psychiatry, 66(11), 1178–1188. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.144.
- Kocsis, J. H., Leon, A. C., Markowitz, J. C., Manber, R., Arnow, B., Klein, D. N., et al. (2009). Patient preference as a moderator of outcome for chronic forms of major depressive disorder treated with nefazodone, cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy, or their combination. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 70(3), 354–361.
- Kraemer, H. C. (2013). Discovering, comparing, and combining moderators of treatment

on outcome after randomized clinical trials: A parametric approach. *Statistics in Medicine*, *32*(11), 1964–1973.

- Markowitz, J. C. (2014). What is supportive psychotherapy? Focus, 12(3), 285–289.
- McCullough, J. P. (2003). Treatment for chronic depression: Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy (CBASP). *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 13(3–4), 241–263.
- McHugh, R. K., Whitton, S. W., Peckham, A. D., Welge, J. A., & Otto, M. W. (2013). Patient preference for psychological vs. pharmacological treatment of psychiatric disorders: A meta-analytic review. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 74(6), 595–602.
- Murphy, J. A., & Byrne, G. J. (2012). Prevalence and correlates of the proposed DSM-5 diagnosis of chronic depressive disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 139(2), 172–180.
- Nemeroff, C. B., Heim, C. M., Thase, M. E., Klein, D. N., Rush, A. J., Schatzberg, A. F., et al. (2003). Differential responses to psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy in patients with chronic forms of major depression and childhood trauma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(24), 14293–14296.
- Neudeck, P., Walter, H., & Schoepf, D. (2012). Exposure aspects of the interpersonal discrimination exercise (IDE) and the situational analysis (SA) in Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP). *Exposure therapy* (pp. 153– 166). Springer.
- Niles, A. N., Loerinc, A. G., Krull, J. L., Roy-Byrne, P., Sullivan, G., Sherbourne, C., et al. (2017). Advancing personalized medicine: Application of a novel statistical method to identify treatment moderators in the coordinated anxiety learning and management study. *Behavior Therapy*, 48(4), 490–500.
- Niles, A. N., Wolitzky-Taylor, K. B., Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2017). Applying a novel statistical method to advance the personalized treatment of anxiety disorders: A composite moderator of comparative drop-out from CBT and ACT. *Behaviour Research* and Therapy, 91, 13–23.
- Rush, A., Gullion, C., Basco, M., Jarrett, R., & Trivedi, M. (1996). The inventory of depressive Symptomatology (IDS): Psychometric properties. *Psychological Medicine*, 26(3), 477–486.
- Schramm, E., Hautzinger, M., Zobel, I., Kriston, L., Berger, M., & Härter, M. (2011). Comparative efficacy of the cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus supportive psychotherapy for early onset chronic depression: Design and rationale of a multisite randomized controlled trial. *BMC Psychiatry*, 11, 134.
- Schramm, E., Kriston, L., Zobel, I., Bailer, J., Wambach, K., Backenstrass, M., et al. (2017). Effect of disorder-specific vs nonspecific psychotherapy for chronic depression: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry, 74(3), 233–242.
- Schramm, E., Zobel, I., Dykierek, P., Kech, S., Brakemeier, E. L., Külz, A., et al. (2011). Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus interpersonal psychotherapy for early-onset chronic depression: A randomized pilot study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 129(1–3), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.08.003.
- Smagula, S. F., Wallace, M. L., Anderson, S. J., Karp, J. F., Lenze, E. J., Mulsant, B. H., et al. (2016). Combining moderators to identify clinical profiles of patients who will, and will not, benefit from aripiprazole augmentation for treatment resistant late-life major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 81, 112–118.
- Spitzer, R., Kroenke, K., Williams, J., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. Archives of Internal Medicine, 166(10), 1092–1097.
- StataCorp (2017). Stata statistical software: Release 15. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC. Tibshirani, R. (1996). Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso. Journal of the
- Royal Statistical Society: Series B, 58(1), 267–288.
- Wallace, M. L., Banihashemi, L., O'Donnell, C., Nimgaonkar, V. L., Kodavali, C., McNamee, R., et al. (2018). Using optimal combined moderators to define heterogeneity in neural responses to randomized conditions: Application to the effect of sleep loss on fear learning. *NeuroImage*, 181, 718–727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2018.07.051.
- Wallace, M. L., Frank, E., & Kraemer, H. C. (2013). A novel approach for developing and interpreting treatment moderator profiles in randomized clinical trials. JAMA Psychiatry, 70(11), 1241–1247.
- Wallace, M. L., McMakin, D. L., Tan, P. Z., Rosen, D., Forbes, E. E., Ladouceur, C. D., et al. (2017). The role of day-to-day emotions, sleep, and social interactions in pediatric anxiety treatment. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 90, 87–95.
- Wallace, M. L., & Smagula, S. F. (2018). Promise and challenges of using combined moderator methods to personalize mental health treatment. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(6), 678–679.
- Wasserstein, R. L., & Lazar, N. A. (2016). The ASA statement on p-values: Context, process, and purpose. *The American Statistician*, 70(2), 129–133. https://doi.org/10. 1080/00031305.2016.1154108.
- Wiersma, J. E., Van Schaik, D. J. F., Hoogendorn, A. W., Dekker, J. J., Van, H. L., Schoevers, R. A., et al. (2014). The effectiveness of the cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy for chronic depression: A randomized controlled trial. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 83(5), 263–269. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000360795.

### Paper 2 | Appendix 2

This appendix includes the full text of the following paper published in *Frontiers in Psychiatry*:

Serbanescu, I., Backenstrass, M., Drost, S., Weber, B., Walter, H., Klein, J. P., Zobel, I., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter, M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *11*, 607300. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.607300

> The final authenticated version is available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.607300

The ownership of copyright<sup>1</sup> belongs to the listed authors and is not affected by the publication by Frontiers in Psychiatry.

**Contributions of doctoral candidate:** Ilinca Serbanescu designed the concept of this secondary study, developed the applied combination of statistical methods, selected the software for processing and analysing the data, analysed the data, interpreted the findings, drafted the manuscript, revised the manuscript as part of the peer-review process, and coordinated the publication of the manuscript.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For more information, please refer to: https://www.frontiersin.org/legal/copyright-statement





## Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Angela Fang, University of Washington, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Kate Bentley, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Joseph Trombello, University of Texas Southwestem Medical Center, United States

\*Correspondence:

llinca Serbanescu lz008@uni-heidelberg.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychological Therapies, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 September 2020 Accepted: 11 November 2020 Published: 21 December 2020

#### Citation:

Serbanescu I, Backenstrass M, Drost S, Weber B, Walter H, Klein JP, Zobel I, Hautzinger M, Meister R, Härter M, Schramm E and Schoepf D (2020) Impact of Baseline Characteristics on the Effectiveness of Disorder-Specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) and Supportive Psychotherapy in Outpatient Treatment for Persistent Depressive Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 11:607300. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.607300 Ilinca Serbanescu<sup>1\*</sup>, Matthias Backenstrass<sup>1,2</sup>, Sarah Drost<sup>3</sup>, Bernd Weber<sup>4,5</sup>, Henrik Walter<sup>6</sup>, Jan Philipp Klein<sup>7</sup>, Ingo Zobel<sup>8</sup>, Martin Hautzinger<sup>9</sup>, Ramona Meister<sup>10</sup>, Martin Härter<sup>10</sup>, Elisabeth Schramm<sup>11</sup> and Dieter Schoepf<sup>3,12</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Institute of Clinical Psychology, Hospital Stuttgart, Stuttgart, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy Center of Competence, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Institute of Experimental Epileptology and Cognition Research, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany, <sup>5</sup> Center for Economics and Neuroscience, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany, <sup>7</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Charité-University Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>7</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Lübeck Germany, <sup>8</sup> Psychology School at the Fresenius University of Applied Sciences Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>10</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>11</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Faculty of Medicine, Medical Center-University of Freiburg, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, <sup>12</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Vitos Weil-Lahn, Weilmünster, Germany

**Importance:** In the treatment of persistent depressive disorder (PDD), disorder-specific Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) has been shown to be superior to Supportive Psychotherapy (SP) in outpatients. It remains to clear which subgroups of patients benefit equally and differentially from both psychotherapies.

**Objective:** To identify those patient-level baseline characteristics that predict a comparable treatment effectiveness of CBASP and SP and those that moderate the differential effectiveness of CBASP compared to SP.

**Design, setting and participants:** In this analysis of a 48-week multicenter randomized clinical trial comparing CBASP to SP in adult antidepressant-free outpatients with early-onset PDD, we evaluated baseline variables from the following domains as potential predictors and moderators of treatment effectiveness: socio-demography, clinical status, psychosocial and global functioning, life quality, interpersonal problems, childhood trauma, treatment history, preference for psychotherapy, and treatment expectancy.

**Interventions:** A 48-week treatment program with 32 sessions of either CBASP or SP. **Main outcomes and measures:** Depression severity measured by the 24-item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD-24) at week 48.

1

**Results:** From N = 268 randomized outpatients, N = 209 completed the 48-week treatment program. CBASP completers had significantly lower post-treatment HRSD-24 scores than SP completers (mean<sub>CBASP</sub> =13.96, sd<sub>CBASP</sub> = 9.56; mean<sub>SP</sub> = 16.69, sd<sub>SP</sub> = 9.87; p = 0.04). A poor response to both therapies was predicted by higher baseline levels of clinician-rated depression, elevated suicidality, comorbid anxiety, lower social functioning, higher social inhibition, moderate-to-severe early emotional or sexual abuse, no preference for psychotherapy, and the history of at least one previous inpatient treatment. Moderator analyses revealed that patients with higher baseline levels of self-rated depression, comorbidity of at least one Axis-I disorder, self-reported moderate-to-severe early emotional or physical neglect, or at least one previous antidepressant treatment, had a significantly lower post-treatment depression severity with CBASP compared to SP (all p < 0.05).

**Conclusions and relevance:** A complex multifactorial interaction between severe symptoms of depression, suicidality, and traumatic childhood experiences characterized by abuse, social inhibition, and anxiety may represent the basis of non-response to psychotherapy in patients with early onset PDD. Specific psychotherapy with CBASP might, however, be more effective and recommendable for a variety of particularly burdened patients compared to SP.

Keywords: persistent depressive disorder, CBASP, supportive psychotherapy, moderator analysis, predictor analysis, childhood trauma, personalized medicine

### INTRODUCTION

Over 20% of the patients with major depressive disorder (MDD) develop a chronic course lasting two years or longer (1), called Persistent Depressive Disorder (PDD) (2, 3). Compared to single major depressive episodes, PDD is characterized by a longer illness duration with a more complicated treatment course, lower quality of life, concurrent generalized anxiety disorder, more frequent suicide attempts, comorbid psychiatric and personality disorders, dysfunctional interpersonal behavior and more complicated treatment courses (1, 4, 5). More than two-thirds of all patients with PDD report an early illness onset (before age 21) often associated with severe experiences of childhood maltreatment characterized by emotional, physical, and sexual abuse or by deprivation in form of emotional or physical neglect (1, 4, 6, 7). Importantly, a large majority of patients with PDD experience side effects, relapses or resistances in the treatment with antidepressant medication (1, 7, 8) and report to prefer psychological over pharmacological treatment (9). Thereby, psychotherapy is an indispensable tool in the treatment of PDD.

So far, the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) (10) is the only psychotherapymodel especially designed to address the specific needs of patients with early-onset PDD. Its principle lies on treating early trauma related dysfunctionalities by focusing on the patient's interpersonal problems through systematic social problem solving and discriminative interpersonal learning (10, 11). Its effectiveness has been evidenced in a number of clinical trials that compared CBASP to other psychotherapies (7), antidepressant medication (12, 13), or to combined treatments (8, 12). The European Psychiatric Association has recommended CBASP as the first-line psychotherapy for PDD, which is largely justified by its superiority over alternative, non-specific psychotherapies (5).

Nevertheless, little progress has been achieved in understanding which PDD subpopulations may or may not profit from psychotherapy in general and which benefit from CBASP in particular, leaving the questions for whom and when exactly CBASP should be recommended largely unanswered (5, 14).

This is particularly problematic, as PDD is a heterogeneous disorder, and different PDD subpopulations may benefit to varying degrees from CBASP (15). Gaining evidence is crucial not only for further explaining its general effectiveness, but also for detecting specific subpopulations for which CBASP can be recommended as first-choice psychotherapy.

One possibility to examine its disorder-specific effectiveness is by comparing it to alternative forms of psychotherapy. In a multicenter randomized clinical trial, Schramm and colleagues (7) evaluated the effectiveness of CBASP by comparing it with non-specific supportive psychotherapy (SP) in N = 268antidepressant-free, adult outpatients with early-onset PDD (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT00970437). Overall, CBASP was found to be more effective and acceptable than SP. Patients treated with CBASP showed small, but significant advantages in most primary and secondary outcomes, as well as in response and remission rates.

So far, a number of secondary analyses of this trial have been performed in order to analyze if CBASP outperformed SP for patients with early trauma (16), comorbid personality

disorders (17), comorbid anxiety disorders (18), as well as various baseline characteristics combined to one single moderator (19). With regard to early trauma, only those patients reporting early severe-to-moderate emotional abuse seemed to benefit significantly more from CBASP than from SP at week 20 (16). The presence of comorbid personality disorders was neither a predictor nor a moderator of depression severity at week 20 (17). However, the CBASP was significantly more effective than SP in patients with comorbid anxiety disorders compared to those without anxiety disorders in terms of both depression severity and interpersonal problems as outcomes (18). In a more recent secondary analysis (19), the data of this trial was analyzed with a modern moderator approach combined with two machine learning algorithms. An optimal composite moderator (M\*) was developed as a weighted combination of 13 preselected baseline variables and used for identifying and characterizing subgroups for which CABSP was more beneficial to SP and vice versa, focusing on the change in depression severity from baseline to week 48. Of the analyzed sample of patients, 58.65% experienced a better treatment outcome with CBASP, while 41.35% showed a better outcome with SP. In terms of baseline characteristics, patients responding more favorably to CBASP were more severely depressed, had more often a comorbid Axis-I disorder, were more often previously hospitalized, and were more likely affected by moderate-to-severe early emotional or physical neglect. In contrast, patients responding more favorably to SP had a higher pre-treatment global and social functioning level, a higher quality of life, and more often a recurrent MDD without complete remission between the episodes.

An important outstanding question which remains to be clarified is which subgroups of patients respond to both therapies. The main goal of this analysis will therefore be to identify *predictors*, i.e. baseline variables which predict treatment success regardless of treatment assignment. Discovering predictors is especially helpful for understanding which factors contribute to non-response to psychotherapy and consequently to the persistent course in chronically depressed patients. In contrast to the common practice of limiting analyses to a few characteristics and in order to gain a complex understanding, we investigated a large span of baseline characteristics including socio-demography, clinical status, psychosocial and global functioning, quality of life, interpersonal problems, childhood trauma, treatment history, preference for psychotherapy, and treatment expectancy.

Baseline characteristics which have been previously associated with a better treatment response for psychotherapy in patients with PDD and thus plausible to have contributed to a greater alleviation of depression severity in both arms are: lower baseline levels of depression and anxiety (20), having a preference for psychotherapy at the baseline (21, 22), as well as a positive treatment expectancy at baseline (23). We therefore expected an equally high effectiveness of both therapies in patients characterized by these features at baseline.

In addition, the present analysis will also examine the same baseline variables as moderators of differential treatment effectiveness of CBASP vs. SP at week 48. This will be done for statistical reasons (for determining if a variable is a predictor, one

has to examine its interaction effect with the group variable), as well as for reasons of comparability with the previous moderator analysis (19) which was based on a more modern approach. Statistical models such as the one applied in the previous analysis (19), which are based on integrating several multi-domain baseline variables into one moderator to identify subpopulations with different treatment responses, are particularly useful for the prediction of treatment response in samples which are sufficiently statistically powered, and can be further validated as a prediction algorithm in new clinical populations. In comparison, the more classical approach of selecting and testing one baseline variable as predictor and moderator per model, which will be used in the analysis presented here, provides evidence about the individual impact of single baseline characteristics on the treatment outcome. These findings can further be used for selecting those clinical subpopulations which seem to respond particularly poorly to one or both therapies for testing new treatments or combination of treatments, which can be especially developed to target their needs (for instance, patients with childhood trauma, or comorbid anxiety). As for moderators, in view of its emphasis in treating cognitive-behavioral consequences of childhood trauma and previous moderator findings (19), we expected CBASP to outperform SP in reducing depression severity in patients marked by an elevated baseline depression severity, at least one comorbid Axis-I disorder, experiences of early emotional or physical neglect, lower quality of life, a longer illness duration, and those which were separated, divorced or widowed. Conversely, we expected to replicate those moderators of a higher effectiveness of SP vs. CBASP, which were: a recurrent MDD without remission between the episodes, having at least one comorbid Axis-II disorder, and a higher social and global functioning at baseline. Although these variables were not defined as moderators by testing for statistical significance in the previous approach (19), but by their moderator effect size, we expect many of them to significantly interact with the group variable in the present analysis.

### METHODS

### **Participants**

As described in (7), eligible outpatients were fluent in the German language, 18-65 years old and met DSM-IV criteria for a current episode of chronic major depressive disorder (MDD) with a total duration of at least two years, MDD superimposed on a preexisting dysthymic disorder ("double depression"), or a recurrent MDD with incomplete remission between two major depressive episodes (MDEs) with a current MDD and a total duration of at least 2 years. In addition, an early illness onset (i.e. before the age of 21) and a score of at least 20 on the 24-item version of the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HRSD-24) (24) at screening as well as a 2-week medicationfree period at baseline were required for inclusion. Patients were excluded from study participation if they had an acute risk for suicide and/or the need for hospitalization; a primary diagnosis of another Axis I disorder; a diagnosis of antisocial, schizotypal, or borderline personality disorder; a serious medical condition; severe cognitive impairment; a history of psychotic symptoms, bipolar or organic brain disorder; an absence of a response to a previous adequate trial with CBASP and/or SP; or an ongoing psychotherapy or antidepressant medication. Intake of antidepressant medication during the trial was forbidden.

From the N = 622 patients assessed for eligibility, N = 268 met inclusion criteria and were randomized to receive CBASP (N = 137) or SP (N = 131). For further details on the inclusion process, refer to the chart flow of the main publication (7). The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the following participating institutions: University of Freiburg, University of Bonn, University of Heidelberg, University of Tübingen, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, University of Marburg, and University of Lübeck. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

### Interventions

During the entire duration of the study, both CBASP and SP were each applied following a standardized treatment manual: The CBASP was applied based on a manual developed by James P McCullough (10), while SP was applied by a revised manual developed by John C Markowitz, which was translated into German by the trial coordinators. Eligible participants were allocated to one of the intervention groups by a 1:1 treatment ratio drawing on a computer-generated block randomization sequence with randomly varying block size, stratified for trial site.

The CBASP is a highly structured psychotherapy especially developed for treating patients with chronic depression. It builds on techniques such as situation analysis, interpersonal discrimination exercises, and behavioral skill training/rehearsal (25). It was designed to address the typical preoperational cognitive-emotive functioning of patients with chronic depression by demonstrating to patients that their behavior has (negative) consequences on their environment, leading to interpersonal difficulties. Predominantly relying on the administration of negative reinforcement, CBASP supports the patient in the process of recognizing and understanding the consequences of one's behavior on their environment, which, in turn, leads to a modification of one's behavior and, consequently, to an alleviation of chronic depression. In comparison to the widely used Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT), the CBASP focuses primarily on the person's behavior and interaction with its environment, and not on the pure cognitive content, which is the case for CBT (26). There is strong evidence supporting the effectiveness of CBASP with or without antidepressant medication in early-onset chronic depression: For instance, one large study (27) demonstrated that CBASP was particularly effective for the subgroup of chronically depressed patients marked by early trauma when compared to Nefazodone as antidepressant medication (remission rates: 33% with Nefazodone, 48% with CBASP, and 54% with a combination of both). Moreover, in a trial (11) conducted in N = 30 chronically depressed outpatients with early onset, statistically significant differences were found between CBASP and Interpersonal Therapy (IPT) regarding remission rates (57% in CBASP vs. 20% in IPT) and the decrease of self-rated depressive symptoms in favor of CBASP.

In contrast, SP is a disorder non-specific, non-confrontational psychotherapy. The supportive therapist builds an emotional connection to the patient, follows his affect, encourages catharsis, inspires hopes, and emphasizes patient's strengths (28). The main effect of this approach is the enforcement of the patient's awareness of its self-efficacy in changing its own circumstances. In a 16-week study conducted in N = 94 patients with dysthymia, which is a milder form of PDD, SP equaled IPT in treatment effect (29).

In an earlier trial (8), CBASP did not prove to be superior to SP when applied as a short-term (12 sessions) augmentation strategy in chronically depressed patients who showed partial or non-response to a pharmacotherapy algorithm. The present study comparing CBASP to SP was designed in order to meet the need for more and larger trials in patients with earlyonset PDD, controlling for medication, and including CBASP as a disorder-specific intervention with a more intensive (larger number of sessions) and a longer course of treatment to unfold beneficial and lasting effects in PDD. In this trial, during the acute treatment phase, patients received bi-weekly sessions of CBASP or SP in the first four weeks and weekly sessions for the next 16 weeks. For the following 28 weeks, eight further continuation sessions were delivered, resuming in a total of 32 sessions extended over 48 weeks.

Both the CBASP (N = 42 study therapists) and SP (N = 39 study therapists) sessions were conducted by psychotherapists or psychiatrists with experience in the treatment of depression (mean of 5.45 years for CBASP; mean of 4.00 years for SP). Age, gender, and experience of the therapists were similar in both study conditions. All study therapists had completed a 3-year, post-graduate psychotherapy training program or were in an advanced stage of their training. In addition, both groups of study therapists were trained in CBASP or SP during a 2-day training workshop. Before treatment start, study therapists' mastery of CBASP or SP methods was assessed by specific rating scales during two videotaped pilot cases (7).

The fidelity of the therapists to the therapy manuals was measured by adherence scales including standardized scales for disciplined personal involvement and situation analysis for the CBASP. Therapy sessions of both interventions were videotaped and reviewed by site supervisors regularly on a random basis to assess psychotherapists' fidelity to the treatment procedures. In addition, an independent team of trained expert raters randomly evaluated one video-taped session of each therapy. The evaluations revealed that of N = 244 evaluable sessions (N = 123 in CBASP and N = 121 in SP), N = 227 (93.0%; with N = 112 in CBASP and N = 115 in SP) met criteria for fidelity.

In order to ensure compliance with ethical principles and the study protocol, as well as to check data quality and accuracy, monthly telephone conferences, semi-annual Data and Safety Monitoring Board conferences, and annual monitoring visits at trial sites were conducted by the Principal Investigator in cooperation with all trial site coordinators (7).

#### Measurements

All ratings were performed by trained and experienced raters. Raters were furthermore blinded to patients' treatment allocation in order to avoid their possible subjective influence on the rating. For ensuring the blinding of raters, they were separately located from the therapists. In addition, patients were instructed not to mention any information that could reveal their intervention to their rater. Furthermore, back-up raters were provided in case of unintentional unblinding (7).

The HRSD-24 was used to screen for participants' eligibility before randomization (approx. two weeks before treatment start), as a main outcome after 12 and 20 weeks of acute treatment, as well as at the end of the extended treatment phase, which was 48 weeks after randomization. The interrater reliability for the HRSD-24 scores was measured based on data from 21 evaluators who rated nine audio- or video-taped interviews (intra-class correlation coefficient, 0.973; 95% CI, 0.889–0.999). Further baseline variables which were rated and subject to the present secondary analysis are described in the following section.

### **Analyzed Baseline Characteristics**

In the present secondary analysis of the trail by Schramm et al. (7), we tested the following baseline characteristics as potential predictors and moderators of depression severity measured by the HRSD-24 at week 48.

### Socio-Demographic Characteristics

Gender (female/ male), age at the time point of randomization (years), marital status (single/ married or cohabiting/ separated, divorced or widowed), high educational level (corresponding to at least 12 years of education in the German school system with the possibility of university studies), employment status (employed/unemployed), working hours per week, and the presence of at least one physical illness (yes/no).

### **Clinical Characteristics**

Illness subtype (chronic MDD, "double depression," or recurrent MDD with incomplete remission between episodes), age at illness onset (years), illness duration (years), baseline severity of depression by patients' self-rating using the Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (IDS-SR) (30) and by clinicians' rating through the HRSD-24 (24), acute suicidality assessed by the Beck Scale for Suicide Ideation (BSSI) (31), a history of previous suicidal attempts (yes/no), generalized and phobic anxiety measured by the Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI) (32) and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7) (33), as well as comorbidity of any Axis I or II disorder diagnosed by the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders (SCID-I) (34) and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders (SCID-II) (35). For examining comorbid anxiety as a predictor and moderator, we decided to only use the BSI and GAD-7 as self-report questionnaires for several reasons: First, they are continuous scales representing the current expression of anxiety, thereby providing more variance for the statistical analyses compared to diagnoses made by the SCID-I, which are of binary character, thus containing less variance. Second, we assessed all forms of anxiety disorders by the SCID-I (both lifetime and current diagnoses), and to test all these variables as predictors and moderators would needlessly increase the number of statistical tests. Third, we have less missing cases for the BSI and GAD-7 compared to the SCID-I.

## Global, Psycho-Social Functioning, and Quality of Life

Baseline degree of global functioning and overall psychiatric burden assessed by the Global Assessment Functioning Scale (GAF) (36), dysfunctional social attitudes assessed by the Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale (SASS) (37) and impairment of life quality through depression assessed by the Quality of Life in Depression Scale (QLDS) (38).

### Interpersonal Problems

Self-reported, repeatedly occurring difficulties in interpersonal relationships assessed on the eight scales of the Inventory of Interpersonal Problems (IIP-64) (39); these are: domineering, suspicious/ distrustful, cold, socially inhibited, non-assertive, overly accommodating, self-sacrificing, and intrusive.

### Childhood Trauma

Retrospective, self-reported forms of childhood trauma before the age of 18 assessed on the five scales of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) (40). In this analysis, we defined the presence of the different types of childhood maltreatment as at least moderate-to-severe, corresponding to a pre-defined, specific cut-off of the respective scale set by Bernstein and Fink (41): emotional abuse ( $\geq$  13 points), emotional neglect ( $\geq$  15 points), physical abuse ( $\geq$  10 points), physical neglect ( $\geq$  10 points), and sexual abuse ( $\geq$  8 points).

### **Treatment History**

Previous underwent antidepressant medication received for a minimum of 4 weeks, psychotherapy underwent for at least eight sessions, a combination of both, as well as any form of previous inpatient treatment (yes/no).

### Treatment Preference for Psychotherapy

All patients were asked to indicate which treatment option they generally prefer: antidepressant medication alone; psychotherapy alone; combined treatment of antidepressant medication and psychotherapy; or no preference. In the present analysis, we classified the answers in preferring psychotherapy (=1) or not (=0; all other options).

### Treatment Expectancy

Self-ratings of the expected depression severity at week 48 assessed by the e-IDS-SR, which is an unpublished adaptation of the IDS-SR, used in this trial.

There is a large overlap with those baseline variables tested in the previous analysis relying on the combined moderator (19); however, due to an insufficient moderator effect size, not all tested baseline variables were entered as moderators into the final regression analysis there. In this analysis, we tested all enumerated variables as both individual predictor *and* moderator, enabling to discuss the roles of each one of these variables in conclusion.

### **Treatment Outcome**

The main outcome variable for all predictor/ moderator analyses was the HRSD-24 total score at week 48. Both groups did not differ in their baseline HRSD-24 scores (CBASP: mean=24.50, sd=7.60; SP: mean=25.18, sd=6.63; p=0.50).

### **Statistical Analyses**

All statistical analyses were performed on treatment completers, i.e patients who completed the whole therapy program of 32 sessions of CBASP or SP and presented valid HRSD-24 ratings at week 48. Between-group analyses were conducted to compare general differences in post-treatment scores (*Student's t*-test). We tested differences in demographic variables between patients allocated to CBASP and those allocated to SP, as well as between completers and non-completers (i.e., patients who dropped out from the trial before week 48).

With regard to the predictor and moderator analyses, linear regression models were built as depression severity was a continuous outcome. By following the recommendations of Kraemer et al. (42), we first z-standardized all continuous baseline variables in order to facilitate the interpretation of their effects. Predictors were defined as those baseline variables that showed a significant main effect in predicting the outcome without demonstrating an interaction with the treatment group variable, while moderators were defined as baseline variables that interacted with the treatment group variable in predicting the outcome, independently of the significance of the main effect (42). Models were built for each candidate baseline variable separately and were adjusted for study site and baseline depression severity, which were implemented as covariates into the models. Models testing predictors thus contained the main effects of study site, standardized baseline HRSD-24 scores, treatment group and the respective candidate baseline variable. For identifying moderators, separate models were built by adding the interaction term of the candidate variable and the treatment assignment to the main effects of the predictor model accordingly. Results are presented by regression coefficients and reported as significant at the conventional threshold of p < 0.05, two-sided. Analyses were performed with STATA 15.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas).

### RESULTS

From the N = 268 randomized outpatients, N = 209 completed the 48-week treatment program with 32 sessions of either CBASP (N = 113) or SP (N = 96). For a detailed description of the completer population, see **Table 1**. At baseline, the only significant difference between CBASP and SP completers was a higher percentage of employment in the group treated with CBASP. We found no significant differences in baseline variables between completers and non-completers (see **Table 2** for descriptive statistics).

The between-group comparisons at week 48 revealed that CBASP completers had significantly lower HRSD-24 scores (CBASP: mean = 13.96, sd = 9.56; SP: mean = 16.69, sd = 9.87; p = 0.044).

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 1}}$  ] Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the completers subdivided by treatment arm.

| Variable   | CBASP         | SP            |  |
|--|---------------|---------------|--|
|  | (N = 113)     | (N = 96)      |  |
| Age at randomization, mean (SD), y                       | 45.20 (11.98) | 45.78 (11.98) |  |
| Female sex, No. (%)                                      | 81 (71.7)     | 57 (59.4)     |  |
| Single, No. (%)  | 47 (41.6)     | 43 (44.8)     |  |
| Married or cohabiting, No. (%)                           | 45 (39.8)     | 40 (41.7)     |  |
| Separated, divorced or widowed, No. (%)                  | 21 (18.6)     | 13 (13.5)     |  |
| High level of education, No. (%)                         | 73 (64.6)     | 56 (58.3)     |  |
| Employed, No. (%)*                                       | 90 (79.6)     | 59 (61.5)     |  |
| Working hours per week, mean (SD), h                     | 24.46 (16.51) | 21.36 (20.13) |  |
| Presence of at least one physical illness, No. (%)       | 8 (7.3)       | 5 (5.4)       |  |
| Subtype, No. (%)   |               |               |  |
| Double depression  | 47 (42.3)     | 43 (46.7)     |  |
| Chronic MDD  | 35 (31.5)     | 31 (33.7)     |  |
| Recurrent MDD with incomplete remission between episodes | 29 (26.1)     | 18 (19.6)     |  |
| Age at illness onset, mean (SD), y                       | 13.01 (4.41)  | 13.02 (4.49)  |  |
| Illness duration, mean (SD), y                           | 32.19 (13.80) | 32.77 (13.18) |  |
| HRSD-24 baseline score, mean (SD)                        | 24.50 (7.60)  | 25.18 (6.63)  |  |
| Remitters, No. (%)                                       | 41 (36.3)     | 24 (25.0)     |  |

HRSD-24, 24-Item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; MDD, major depressive disorder; SD, standard deviation; y, years.

\*Significant between-group difference at p = 0.004.

## Predictors of Depression Severity at Week 48

In total, our analyses identified 10 predictors (all main effects with p < 0.05): Higher HRSD-24 scores at week 48 were predicted by higher baseline scores on the HRSD-24 scale, BSSI scale, BSI anxiety scale, GAD-7 scale, and IIP-64 social inhibition scale. In addition, higher HRSD-24 scores at week 48 were also predicted by the presence of early emotional or sexual abuse at baseline, as well as by the presence of at least one previous inpatient treatment. In contrast, lower HRSD-24 scores at week 48 were predicted by higher baseline scores on the SASS scale, as well as by the presence of preference for psychotherapy rated as baseline (for more details, please see **Table 3**).

## Moderators of Depression Severity at Week 48

Baseline variables identified as moderators of lower posttreatment HRSD-24 scores for patients treated with CBASP were: Higher levels of self-rated depression severity (IDS-SR scores), comorbidity of at least one Axis I disorder, a history of childhood moderate-to-severe emotional or physical neglect (CTQ scales), and a history of at least one previous treatment with antidepressant medication. This means that CBASP patients showing these features at baseline had lower post-treatment scores at week 48 than those with similar features treated with SP. Concerning the PDD subtype, we found a crossover-effect in that patients with chronic MDD and Double Depression treated

| TABLE 2   Differences in baseline variables between completers and |
|--|
| non-completers.  |

| Baseline variable  | Completers    | Non-completers |      |  |
|--|---------------|----------------|------|--|
| Continous variables                                      | Mean (SD)     | Mean (SD)      | р    |  |
| Age at randomization                                     | 45.47 (11.96) | 42.93 (11.18)  | 0.15 |  |
| Age at illness onset                                     | 13.01 (4.44)  | 12.95 (4.36)   | 0.92 |  |
| Illness duration (y)                                     | 32.45 (13.49) | 29.98 (12.51)  | 0.21 |  |
| IDS-SR score   | 38.90 (9.82)  | 38.83 (8.33)   | 0.96 |  |
| HRSD-24 score  | 24.81 (7.16)  | 24.70 (6.41)   | 0.91 |  |
| BSSI score   | 6.30 (7.19)   | 7.49 (7.95)    | 0.30 |  |
| GAD-7 score  | 10.86 (4.65)  | 11.02 (4.20)   | 0.83 |  |
| BSI anxiety score  | 6.14 (3.78)   | 6.58 (3.82)    | 0.45 |  |
| BSI phobia score   | 2.62 (2.48)   | 3.17 (2.76)    | 0.16 |  |
| GAF score  | 54.38 (9.25)  | 54.09 (8.87)   | 0.84 |  |
| SASS score   | 30.22 (6.55)  | 29.39 (6.19)   | 0.41 |  |
| QLDS score   | 18.91 (7.70)  | 19.98 (7.72)   | 0.37 |  |
| IIP-64 total score                                       | 14.89 (3.63)  | 14.77 (3.83)   | 0.83 |  |
| Binary variables   | Ν             | Ν              | p    |  |
| Female gender  | 138           | 39             | 0.99 |  |
| Single   | 90            | 27             | 0.71 |  |
| Married or cohabiting                                    | 85            | 21             | 0.48 |  |
| Separated, divorced or widowed                           | 34            | 11             | 0.67 |  |
| High level of education                                  | 129           | 43             | 0.11 |  |
| Employed   | 149           | 41             | 0.79 |  |
| Presence of morbidities (≥1 physical illness)            | 13            | 2              | 0.37 |  |
| Chronic MDD  | 66            | 16             | 0.52 |  |
| Double depression  | 90            | 29             | 0.38 |  |
| Recurrent MDD with incomplete remission between episodes | 47            | 12             | 0.74 |  |
| History of suicidal attempts                             | 58            | 18             | 0.47 |  |
| Any Axis I disorder <sup>a</sup>                         | 87            | 26             | 0.74 |  |
| Any Axis II disorder <sup>a</sup>                        | 82            | 21             | 0.61 |  |
| Early physical abuse <sup>b</sup>                        | 42            | 13             | 0.55 |  |
| Early physical neglect <sup>b</sup>                      | 61            | 21             | 0.18 |  |
| Early emotional abuse <sup>b</sup>                       | 119           | 32             | 0.82 |  |
| Early sexual abuse <sup>b</sup>                          | 48            | 9              | 0.99 |  |
| Early emotional neglect <sup>b</sup>                     | 132           | 35             | 0.76 |  |
| Prior medication <sup>c</sup>                            | 117           | 31             | 0.64 |  |
| Prior psychotherapy <sup>d</sup>                         | 117           | 36             | 0.49 |  |
| Prior combination therapy <sup>e</sup>                   | 39            | 14             | 0.39 |  |
| Prior inpatient treatment <sup>f</sup>                   | 105           | 33             | 0.44 |  |
| Preference for psychotherapy                             | 157           | 41             | 0.47 |  |

BSI, Brief Symptom Inventory; BSSI, Beck Scale for Suicidal Ideation; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7; GAF, Global Assessment Functioning Scale; HRSD-24, 24-Item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; IDS-SR, self-rated Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology; IIP-64, Inventory of Interpersonal Problems; MDD, major depressive disorder; QLDS, Quality of Life in Depression Scale; SASS, Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale; y, years.

<sup>a</sup>Diagnosed by the SKID-I or SKID-II according to DSM-IV classification.

<sup>b</sup>Presence indicates a clinical severity of at least moderate to severe on the CTQ.

 $^{c}\textit{History}$  of  $\geq4$  weeks of treatment with antidepressant medication.

<sup>d</sup>History of  $\geq$  8 sessions of psychotherapy.

 $^{\rm e} {\rm History}$  of combination treatment with antidepressant medication ( $\geq$  4 weeks) and psychotherapy ( $\geq$  8 sessions).

<sup>f</sup> History of any kind of psychiatric inpatient treatment.

with CBASP had lower post-treatment scores at week 48 than those with these features treated with SP. In line with this, those classified to have a recurrent MDE without complete remission between the episodes benefited more from SP than from CBASP (**Table 3**). **Figure 1** illustrates all six identified moderators by plots of their interaction effects with the treatment group. All other baseline variables lacked statistical significance for being declared as predictors or moderators (all p > 0.05).

#### DISCUSSION

In a large randomized clinical trial conducted in adult, antidepressant-free outpatients with early-onset PDD, CBASP has been shown to outperform SP with response rates of 38,7% compared to 24,3% at the end of the extended treatment phase after 48 weeks (7). In this secondary-analysis conducted in patients who completed the interventions of this randomized clinical trial, we examined the roles of a wide range of baseline variables as predictors and moderators of the effectiveness of CBASP and SP on depression severity at the end of the extended treatment phase at week 48.

In terms of predictors, we found that a poor response to both psychotherapies was predicted by a higher baseline severity of depression (higher HRSD-24 baseline scores), more pronounced suicidality (higher BSI baseline scores), more intense anxiety (higher BSI anxiety and GAD-7 baseline scores), stronger social inhibition (higher IIP-64 baseline scores), a self-reported history of moderate-to-severe emotional or sexual abuse, as well as at least one inpatient treatment. Patients who had higher baseline levels of social functioning (higher SASS baseline scores) and a preference for psychotherapy had, contrarily, lower levels of depression severity at week 48 independent of the assigned treatment form.

The findings of the performed predictor analyses largely confirmed our hypotheses and are in line with previous research confirming that those patients who were initially more mentally stable (i.e less depressed, less anxious, less suicidal), higher socially functioning and preferring psychotherapy, responded better to both treatments when compared to patients on the other side of the respective continuum or category. It is reasonable that a less pathological and higher functioning baseline status has facilitated the psychotherapeutic learning and enabled a better recovery process in both groups. Moreover, the confirmed positive impact of having a preference for psychotherapy on the outcomes of both psychotherapies is in line with previous results (21, 22) and supports the conclusion that psychotherapy is more effective and recommendable than other treatments options for PDD patients who prefer psychotherapy over other alternative treatments for depression (9).

From the opposite perspective, we can also conclude that patients who were initially more pathologic benefitted less from both therapies. Thus, for more severely affected patients, both psychotherapies might be insufficient for achieving significant symptom reductions when delivered as monotherapies, as was the case in this trial. These subpopulations might respond better to a combined approach between antidepressant medication and

#### TABLE 3 | Predictors and moderators of depression severity at week 48.

|   | Variable main effect |         | Variable x Group      |        | Role |
|---|----------------------|---------|-----------------------|--------|------|
| Baseline variable   | B (95% CI)           | p       | B (95% CI)            | p      |      |
| SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHY  |                      |         |                       |        |      |
| Female gender <sup>a</sup>  | 0.50 (-2.14; 3.15)   | 0.71    | -1.05 (-6.34; 4.23)   | 0.69   |      |
| Age at randomization <sup>b</sup>                                     | 0.72 (-0.53; 1.98)   | 0.26    | -2.03 (-4.45; 0.39)   | 0.10   |      |
| Single <sup>a</sup>   | 0.44 (-2.11; 3.00)   | 0.73    | 1.91 (-3.12; 6.95)    | 0.45   |      |
| Married or cohabiting <sup>a</sup>                                    | -1.07 (-3.61; 1.47)  | 0.41    | 0.97 (-4.17; 6.11)    | 0.71   |      |
| Separated, divorced or widowed <sup>a</sup>                           | 1.11 (-2.28; 4.51)   | 0.52    | -5.61 (-2.42; 1.20)   | 0.17   |      |
| High level of education <sup>a</sup>                                  | -0.11 (-2.70; 2.48)  | 0.93    | -0.83 (-5.94; 4.29)   | 0.75   |      |
| Employed <sup>a</sup>   | -1.65 (-4.47; 1.17)  | 0.25    | 2.68 (-2.90; 8.27)    | 0.34   |      |
| Working hours per week <sup>b</sup>                                   | -0.27 (-1.64; 1.09)  | 0.69    | -0.75 (-3.57; 2.07)   | 0.60   |      |
| Presence of morbidities (≥1 physical illness) <sup>a</sup>            | 1.53 (-3.57; 6.63)   | 0.55    | -2.50 (-12.97; 7.97)  | 0.64   |      |
| CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS  |                      |         |                       |        |      |
| Double depression <sup>a</sup>  | 0.11 (-2.53; 2.76)   | 0.93    | -1.09 (-6.25; 4.07)   | 0.68   |      |
| Chronic MDD <sup>a</sup>  | 0.94 (-1.92; 3.81)   | 0.52    | -3.51 (-8.98; 2.96)   | 0.21   |      |
| Recurrent MDD with incomplete remission between episodes <sup>a</sup> | -1.32 (-4.49; 1.84)  | 0.41    | 6.18 (0.16; 12.20)    | 0.044* | М    |
| Age at illness onset <sup>b</sup>                                     | 0.36 (-0.91; 1.63)   | 0.57    | 1.55 (-0.92; 4.03)    | 0.22   |      |
| Illness duration <sup>b</sup>   | 0.53 (-0.73; 1.79)   | 0.41    | -2.39 (-4.82; 0.04)   | 0.054  |      |
| HRSD-24 score <sup>b</sup>  | 2.43 (1.17; 3.70)    | <0.001* | -1.10 (-3.62; 1.41)   | 0.39   | Р    |
| IDS-SR score <sup>b</sup>   | 1.50 (-0.11; 3.11)   | 0.069   | -3.68 (-6.14; -1.21)  | 0.004* | М    |
| BSSI score <sup>b</sup>   | 2.32 (0.93; 3.71)    | 0.001*  | 1.13 (-1.45; 3.72)    | 0.39   | Р    |
| History of suicidal attempts <sup>a</sup>                             | 0.28 (-2.58; 3.14)   | 0.85    | -4.33 (-10.00; 1.33)  | 0.13   |      |
| BSI anxiety score <sup>b</sup>  | 1.80 (0.38; 3.23)    | 0.014*  | -1.83 (-4.31; 0.66)   | 0.15   | Р    |
| BSI phobia score <sup>b</sup>   | 1.10 (-0.36; 2.56)   | 0.14    | -0.35 (-2.96; 2.27)   | 0.79   |      |
| GAD-7 score <sup>b</sup>  | 1.57 (0.14; 2.99)    | 0.031*  | -2.13 (-4.59; 0.32)   | 0.09   | Р    |
| Any Axis I disorder <sup>a,c</sup>                                    | 1.43 (-1.21; 4.08)   | 0.29    | -6.02 (-11.04; -0.99) | 0.019* | М    |
| Any Axis II disorder <sup>a,c</sup>                                   | 2.25 (-0.51; 5.01)   | 0.11    | 0.03 (-5.14; 5.21)    | 0.99   |      |
| FUNCTIONALITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE <sup>b</sup>                        |                      |         |                       |        |      |
| GAF score   | 0.25 (-1.49; 1.99)   | 0.78    | 2.12 (-0.45; 4.70)    | 0.11   |      |
| SASS score  | -2.05 (-3.39; -0.72) | 0.003*  | 1.06 (-1.42; 3.54)    | 0.40   | Р    |
| QLDS score  | 0.85 (-0.63; 2.33)   | 0.26    | -1.19 (-3.80; 1.41)   | 0.37   |      |
| INTERPERSONAL PROBLEMS <sup>b,d</sup>                                 |                      |         |                       |        |      |
| Domineering   | -0.46 (-1.80; 0.88)  | 0.50    | -2.33 (-4.93; 0.28)   | 0.08   |      |
| Suspicious/distrustful  | 0.92 (-0.42; 2.26)   | 0.18    | -1.31 (-3.99; 1.38)   | 0.34   |      |
| Cold  | 1.06 (-0.24; 2.37)   | 0.11    | -1.32 (-3.91; 1.27)   | 0.32   |      |
| Socially inhibited  | 2.34 (1.04; 3.65)    | 0.001*  | -1.35 (-3.86; 1.15)   | 0.29   | Р    |
| Non-assertive   | 1.04 (-0.29; 2.38)   | 0.13    | -1.14 (-3.70; 1.41)   | 0.38   |      |
| Overly accommodating  | 1.00 (-0.33; 2.33)   | 0.14    | -1.45 (-3.95; 1.06)   | 0.26   |      |
| Self-sacrificing  | 0.76 (-0.56; 2.07)   | 0.26    | -2.02 (-4.52; 0.48)   | 0.11   |      |
| Intrusive   | -0.15 (-1.43; 1.13)  | 0.82    | -0.67 (-3.24; 1.89)   | 0.60   |      |
| EARLY TRAUMA <sup>a,e</sup>   |                      |         |                       |        |      |
| Emotional abuse   | 3.40 (0.79; 6.01)    | 0.011*  | -3.93 (-9.00; 1.14)   | 0.13   | Р    |
| Emotional neglect   | 2.81 (0.08; 5.53)    | 0.043*  | -6.72 (-12.04; -1.41) | 0.013* | М    |
| Physical abuse  | -0.91 (-4.14; 2.33)  | 0.58    | -4.09 (-10.39; 2.20)  | 0.20   |      |
| Physical neglect  | 1.44 (-1.37; 4.26)   | 0.31    | -7.06 (-12.51; -1.61) | 0.011* | М    |
| Sexual abuse  | 6.03 (3.17; 8.88)    | <0.001* | 0.81 (-4.89; 6.52)    | 0.78   | Р    |
| PREVIOUS TREATMENTS <sup>a</sup>                                      |                      |         |                       |        |      |
| Medication <sup>f</sup>   | 1.27 (-1.33; 3.87)   | 0.34    | -5.58 (-10.50; -0.65) | 0.027* | М    |
| Psychotherapy <sup>g</sup>  | 1.80 (-0.71; 4.30)   | 0.16    | 0.95 (-4.11; 6.02)    | 0.71   |      |
| Combination <sup>h</sup>  | 1.94 (-1.26; 5.14)   | 0.23    | -2.79 (-9.14; 3.55)   | 0.39   |      |
| Inpatient <sup>i</sup>  | 4.52 (2.00; 7.04)    | 0.001*  | -4.41 (-9.24; 0.40)   | 0.07   | Р    |

(Continued)

#### TABLE 3 | Continued

|   | Variable main et     | Variable main effect |                     | Variable x Group |   |
|---|----------------------|----------------------|---------------------|------------------|---|
| Baseline variable                         | B (95% CI)           | p                    | B (95% CI)          | p                |   |
| Preference for psychotherapy <sup>a</sup> | -3.01 (-6.00; -0.01) | 0.049*               | -2.64 (-8.56; 3.28) | 0.38             | Р |
| Therapy expectancy <sup>b</sup>           | 0.64 (-0.60; 1.88)   | 0.31                 | -2.08 (-4.53; 0.36) | 0.09             |   |

BSI, Brief Symptom Inventory; BSSI, Beck Scale for Suicidal Ideation; CI, confidence interval; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale-7; GAF, Global Assessment Functioning Scale; HRSD-24, 24-Item Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; IDS-SR, self-rated Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology; IIP-64, Inventory of Interpersonal Problems; M, moderator; MDD, major depressive disorder; P, predictor; QLDS, Quality of Life in Depression Scale; SASS, Social Adaptation Self-Evaluation Scale. <sup>a</sup> Categorical variable (0=no; 1=yes).

<sup>b</sup>Z-standardized continuous variable (0=mean; 1=mean + 1SD).

<sup>c</sup>Diagnosed by the SKID-I or SKID-II according to DSM-IV classification.

<sup>d</sup>As assessed by the IIP-64.

<sup>e</sup>Presence indicates a clinical severity of at least moderate to severe on the CTQ.

<sup>*f*</sup>History of  $\geq$  4 weeks of treatment with antidepressant medication.

<sup>g</sup>History of  $\geq$  8 sessions of psychotherapy.

<sup>h</sup>History of combination treatment with antidepressant medication ( $\geq$  4 weeks) and psychotherapy ( $\geq$  8 sessions).

<sup>i</sup>History of any kind of psychiatric inpatient treatment.

\*significant at p < 0.05.



Depression; MDD, major depressive disorder.

person-centered psychotherapy which flexibly and adaptively combines unspecific, transdiagnostic, and disorder-specific interventions. For example, it has been shown that the combination of CBASP and an antidepressant medication was more effective for PDD patients with a higher baseline symptom severity and pronounced anxiety (43, 44) than monotherapy with CBASP, indicating that an augmentation with pharmacotherapy

is more recommendable for these patients than treatment with CBASP alone (7). This conclusion has also been supported in a participant data network meta-analysis which compared the effectiveness of CBASP as monotherapy to that of antidepressant medication and their combination (20). In a 2-year follow-up study of this trial, Schramm et al. (45) evaluated the effects of CBASP and SP one and two years after treatment termination.

CBASP outperformed SP in the number of well weeks with no/minimal symptoms, self-rated depressive symptoms, and depression-related quality of life one year after treatment termination, but not after two years. This result could be strongly attributed to a worsening of symptoms in the subgroups marked by baseline characteristics here identified as predictors, who benefitted less favorable from both interventions, and indicates the necessity of maintenance treatment for PDD patients.

Interestingly, we detected a lower effectiveness of both interventions for patients reporting a history of moderateto-severe early emotional or sexual abuse, while CBASP was found to be more effective than SP for patients reporting early emotional or physical neglect. These results suggest that earlylife trauma in form of abuse might be an important factor that contributes to non-response to psychotherapy in chronically depressed patients, while cognitive-behavioral consequences of early neglect might be modifiable by disorder-specific psychotherapy with CBASP. If different types of early trauma are associated with different responses to psychotherapy, then this information may prove crucial in designing and selecting optimal treatments for chronically depressed patients.

Finally, treatment expectancy had no influence on the posttreatment depression severity in our trial. We did not identify predictors or moderators from the socio-demographic domain, which could be attributable to the relatively homogeneous population of this trial (7).

In terms of moderators, CBASP displayed a multifaceted superiority over SP, meaning that patients with an elevated selfperceived depression severity (higher IDS-SR baseline scores), no recurrent MDE without complete remission between the episodes, comorbidity of Axis-I disorders, a history of at least one previous antidepressant treatment, and, as mentioned before, early trauma in form of moderate-to-severe emotional or physical neglect, had a lower depression severity at week 48 when treated with CBASP than those who were treated with SP. These results are in line with the previous moderator analysis (19) based on the data of this trial, which applied a modern machine learning method in order to identify subgroups of patients who respond better to CBASP than to SP and vice versa. With except of previous antidepressant medication, all here identified moderators had a moderator effect size large enough to be entered into the final regression model used in the analysis by Serbanescu et al. (19) to combine the most relevant moderators in order to exploratory identify the subgroups. The fact that the moderating role of these variables could be replicated in this more classical analysis underlines its robustness and validity in this trial. A more detailed interpretation of the moderating role of these variables is provided in the previous article (19). As emphasized there, these promising findings are in need of additional detailed investigations in order to be understood, as well as replication in future trials for enabling reliable treatment choice recommendations for the clinical practice.

This study has a number of important strengths: First, the antidepressant-free status of the patients allows ascribing the findings to the two tested psychotherapies alone. Second, we tested a relatively wide range of baseline characteristics. Third, the here performed analysis provides evidence for predictors as well as for moderators of two widely used therapies. We tested a relatively high number of variables, yielding many interesting results that open new questions which remain to be further investigated. However, some limitations must be also considered: Possible undesired, side-effects including transient worsening of symptoms and transient risk of suicidality at the beginning of therapy or in the context of unexpected psychosocial stress might have occurred in both treatment groups, and were not subject of this analysis. As a further limitation, our sample included only medication-free patients who were evaluated as enough mentally stable to be able to participate in the study. It can be assumed that the effectiveness of both therapies would have been smaller in more severely depressed patients. The exclusion criteria of the trial therefore may limit the generalizability of the findings to the general PDD population. Furthermore, the therapy duration of 48 weeks has revealed numerous clinically relevant predictors and moderators, but may be very resourceintensive for implementation in clinical practice. Finally, given the exploratory approach and large number of performed tests, the possibility of false positive findings has to be taken into account when considering the results. Thereby, our results need replication in future trials in order to permit valid treatment choice recommendations.

### CONCLUSION

A multifactorial combination between elevated depression severity, suicidality, traumatic childhood experiences characterized by abuse, social inhibition and anxiety may represent the basis of non-response to psychotherapy in patients with PDD and consequently contribute to the persistence of the illness and its refractoriness. Nevertheless, disorder-specific psychotherapy with CBASP might be more effective and recommendable for a variety of particularly burdened patients with PDD than Supportive Psychotherapy. Further personalized clinical research is needed in order to understand and develop the (combination of) treatments that meet the needs of the most affected patients with PDD.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The dataset of the initial clinical randomized trial is not available to the public. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to elisabeth.schramm@uniklinik-freiburg.de.

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the University of Freiburg, University of Bonn, University of Heidelberg, University of Tübingen, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, University of Marburg, and University of Lübeck. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

IS and DS: had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis and drafting of the manuscript. IS: was responsible for statistical data analysis. IS, HW, SD, and DS: study concept and design. IS, HW, SD, JK, IZ, MB, MHa, RM, MHä, ES, and DS: acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data. IS, BW, IZ, RM, MHa, MHä, DS, and ES: administrative, technical, or material support. All authors gave critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

### REFERENCES

- Arnow BA, Constantino MJ. Effectiveness of psychotherapy and combination treatment for chronic depression. J Clin Psychol. (2003) 59:893–905. doi: 10.1002/jclp.10181
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Schramm E, Klein DN, Elsaesser M, Furukawa TA, Domschke K. Review of dysthymia and persistent depressive disorder: history, correlates, and clinical implications. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:801–12. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30099-7
- Berndt ER, Koran LM, Finkelstein SN, Gelenberg AJ, Kornstein SG, Miller IM, et al. Lost human capital from early-onset chronic depression. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2000) 157:940–7. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.6.940
- Jobst A, Brakemeier E-L, Buchheim A, Caspar F, Cuijpers P, Ebmeier KP, et al. European psychiatric association guidance on psychotherapy in chronic depression across Europe. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2016) 33:18–36. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.12.003
- Klein DN, Schatzberg AF, McCullough JP, Dowling F, Goodman D, Howland RH, et al. Age of onset in chronic major depression: relation to demographic and clinical variables, family history, and treatment response. J Affect Disord. (1999) 55:149–57. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(99) 00020-8
- Schramm E, Kriston L, Zobel I, Bailer J, Wambach K, Backenstrass M, et al. Effect of disorder-specific vs nonspecific psychotherapy for chronic depression: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2017) 74:233–42. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.3880
- Kocsis JH, Gelenberg AJ, Rothbaum BO, Klein DN, Trivedi MH, Manber R, et al. Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy and brief supportive psychotherapy for augmentation of antidepressant nonresponse in chronic depression: the REVAMP trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2009) 66:1178– 88. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.144
- McHugh RK, Whitton SW, Peckham AD, Welge JA, Otto MW. Patient preference for psychological vs. pharmacological treatment of psychiatric disorders: a meta-analytic review. J Clin Psychiatry. (2013) 74:595–602. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12r07757
- McCullough JP. Treatment for Chronic Depression: Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy. New York, NY: Guilford Press (2000).
- Schramm E, Zobel I, Dykierek P, Kech S, Brakemeier EL, Külz A, et al. Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus interpersonal psychotherapy for early-onset chronic depression: a randomized pilot study. J Affect Disord. (2011) 129:109–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010. 08.003
- Keller MB, McCullough JP, Klein DN, Arnow B, Dunner DL, Gelenberg AJ. A comparison of nefazodone, the cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy, and their combination for the treatment of chronic depression. N Engl J Med. (2000) 342:1462–70. doi: 10.1037/e492572004-001
- Schramm E, Zobel I, Schoepf D, Fangmeier TKS, Walter H. Cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus escitalopram in chronic major depression. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2015) 84:227–40. doi: 10.1159/000381957

### FUNDING

The trial was funded by a grant of the German Research Foundation (SCHR443/11-2). The sponsor (German Research Foundation) has reviewed and approved the study protocol in the context of the grant application process. It had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

- Cuijpers P, Huibers MJH, Furukawa TA. The need for research on treatments of chronic depression. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2017) 74:242. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.4070
- Stulz N, Thase ME, Klein DN, Manber R, Crits-Christoph P. Differential effects of treatments for chronic depression: a latent growth model reanalysis. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2010) 78:409–19. doi: 10.1037/a0019267
- Klein JP, Erkens N, Schweiger U, Kriston L, Bausch P, Zobel I, et al. Does childhood maltreatment moderate the effect of the cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus supportive psychotherapy in persistent depressive disorder? *Psychother Psychosom.* (2018) 87:46–8. doi: 10.1159/000484412
- Erkens N, Schramm E, Kriston L, Hautzinger M, Härter M, Schweiger U, et al. Association of comorbid personality disorders with clinical characteristics and outcome in a randomized controlled trial comparing two psychotherapies for early-onset persistent depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 229:262–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.12.091
- Assmann N, Schramm E, Kriston L, Hautzinger M, Härter M, Schweiger U, et al. Moderating effect of comorbid anxiety disorders on treatment outcome in a randomized controlled psychotherapy trial in early-onset persistently depressed outpatients. *Depress Anxiety*. (2018) 35:1001–8. doi: 10.1002/da.22839
- Serbanescu I, Walter H, Schnell K, Kessler H, Weber B, Drost S, et al. Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients with persistent depressive disorder. *Behav Res Ther.* (2020) 124:103512. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512
- Furukawa TA, Efthimiou O, Weitz ES, Cipriani A, Keller MB, Kocsis JH, et al. Cognitive-behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy, drug, or their combination for persistent depressive disorder: personalizing the treatment choice using individual participant data network metaregression. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2018) 87:1–14. doi: 10.1159/000489227
- Kocsis JH, Leon AC, Markowitz JC, Manber R, Arnow B, Klein DN, et al. Patient preference as a moderator of outcome for chronic forms of major depressive disorder treated with nefazodone, cognitive behavioral analysis aystem of psychotherapy, or their combination. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2009) 70:354–61. doi: 10.4088/JCP.08m04371
- Steidtmann D, Manber R, Arnow BA, Klein DN, Markowitz JC, Rothbaum BO, et al. Patient treatment preference as a predictor of response and attrition in treatment for chronic depression. *Depress Anxiety.* (2012) 29:896–905. doi: 10.1002/da.21977
- Meyer B, Pilkonis PA, Krupnick JL, Egan MK, Simmens SJ, Sotsky SM. Treatment expectancies, patient alliance and outcome: further analyses from the National Institute of Mental Health treatment of depression collaborative research program. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2002) 70:1051–5. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.70.4.1051
- Hamilton M. Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. Br J Soc Clin Psychol. (1967) 6:278–96. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1967.tb00530.x
- McCullough JP. Treatment for chronic depression: cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy (CBASP). J Psychother Integr. (2003) 13:241– 63. doi: 10.1037/1053-0479.13.3-4.241
- 26. Schoepf D, Neudeck P. Cognitive Behavioural Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP): a disorder-oriented, theory-driven psychotherapy

method from the "third generation" of behaviour therapy models, designed for the treatment of chronic depression. In: Uehara T, editor. *Psychiatric Disorders: Worldwide Advances INTECH.* (2011). p. 87–120. doi: 10.5772/26058

- 27. Nemeroff CB, Heim CM, Thase ME, Klein DN, Rush AJ, Schatzberg AF, et al. Differential responses to psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy in patients with chronic forms of major depression and childhood trauma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:14293–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2336126100
- Markowitz JC. What is supportive psychotherapy? Focus. (2014) 12:285–9. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.12.3.285
- Markowitz JC, Kocsis JH, Bleiberg KL, Christos PJ, Sacks M. A comparative trial of psychotherapy and pharmacotherapy for "pure" dysthymic patients. J Affect Disord. (2005) 89:167–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2005.10.001
- Rush A, Gullion C, Basco M, Jarrett R, Trivedi M. The inventory of depressive symptomatology (IDS): psychometric properties. *Psychol Med.* (1996) 26:477– 86. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700035558
- Beck A, Kovasac M, Weissman A. Assessment of suicidal intention: the scale for suicide ideation. J Consult Clin Psychol. (1979) 47:343–52. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.47.2.343
- Derogatis LR, Melisaratos N. The brief symptom inventory: an introductory report. Psychol Med. (1983) 13:595–605. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700048017
- Spitzer R, Kroenke K, Williams J, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- First M, Spitzer R, Gibbon M, Williams J. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Research Version, Clinical Trials Version (SCID-CT). New York, NY: Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute (2002).
- First M, Gibbon M, Spitzer R, Williams J. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders (SCID-II). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press (1997).
- Endicott J, Spitzer R, Fleiss J, Cohen J. The Global Assessment Scale: a procedure for measuring overall severity of psychiatric disturbance. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1976) 33:766–71. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1976.01770060086012
- Duschek S, Schandry R, Hege B. Soziale Aktivität Selbstbeurteilungs- Skala (SASS). Diagnostik Sozialer Funktionsstörungen bei Depressiven Störungen. Göttingen: Beltz Test GmbH (2003).
- Hunt SM, McKenna SP. The QLDS: A Scale for The Measurement of Quality of Life in Depression. New York, NY: Health Policy (1992). doi: 10.1037/t66810-000
- Horowitz L, Strauß B, Kordy H. Inventar zur Erfassung Interpersonaler Probleme IIP-D-Manual. Göttingen: Göttingen Beltz – Test (2000).

- Bernstein D, Stein J, Newcomb M. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2003) 27:169–90. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Bernstein DP, Fink L. Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: A Retrospective Self-Report and Manual. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (1998).
- Kraemer HC. Discovering, comparing, and combining moderators of treatment on outcome after randomized clinical trials: a parametric approach. *Stat Med.* (2013) 32:1964–73. doi: 10.1002/sim.5734
- 43. Ninan PT, Rush AJ, Crits-Christoph P, Kornstein SG, Manber R, Thase ME, et al. Symptomatic and syndromal anxiety in chronic forms of major depression: effect of nefazodone, cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy, and their combination. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2002) 63:434–41. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v63n0510
- 44. Manber R, Kraemer HC, Arnow BA, Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, Thase ME, et al. Faster remission of chronic depression with combined psychotherapy and medication than with each therapy alone. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2008) 76:459–67. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.76.3.459
- 45. Schramm E, Kriston L, Elsaesser M, Fangmeier T, Meister R, Bausch P, et al. Two-year follow-up after treatment with the cognitive behavioral analysis system of psychotherapy versus supportive psychotherapy for early-onset chronic depression. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2019) 88:154–64. doi: 10.1159/ 000500189

**Conflict of Interest:** ES received modest book royalties and honoraria for workshops and presentations relating to CBASP. DS received honoraria for several workshops and presentations relating to CBASP. JK received payments for workshops and books (Beltz, Elsevier and Hogrefe) on psychotherapy for chronic depression. MB received honoraria for workshops and presentations relating to CBASP.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Serbanescu, Backenstrass, Drost, Weber, Walter, Klein, Zobel, Hautzinger, Meister, Härter, Schramm and Schoepf. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

### Paper 3 | Appendix 3

This is the revised version of the following paper which was resubmitted to *Behaviour Research and Therapy*:

Serbanescu, I., Schramm, E., Walter, H., Schnell, K., Zobel, I., Drost, S., Fangmeier, T., Normann, C., & Schoepf, D. (2022). Identifying subgroups with differential response to CBASP versus Escitalopram during the first eight weeks of treatment in outpatients with persistent depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*. (Revised and Resubmitted)

**Contributions of doctoral candidate:** Ilinca Serbanescu designed the concept of this secondary study, developed the applied combination of statistical methods, selected the software for processing and analysing the data, analysed the data, interpreted the findings, drafted the manuscript, revised the manuscript as part of the peer-review process, and resubmitted the manuscript to the journal.

## Identifying subgroups with differential response to CBASP versus Escitalopram during the first eight weeks of treatment in outpatients with persistent depressive disorder

Ilinca Serbanescu, MSc<sup>1</sup>; Elisabeth Schramm, PhD<sup>2</sup>; Henrik Walter, MD, PhD<sup>3</sup>; Knut Schnell, MD<sup>4</sup>; Ingo Zobel, PhD<sup>5</sup>; Sarah Drost, PhD<sup>6</sup>; Thomas Fangmeier, PhD<sup>2</sup>; Claus Normann, MD<sup>2</sup>; Dieter Schoepf, MD<sup>6</sup>

### **Affiliations:**

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Psychology, Heidelberg University, Hauptstrasse 47-51, D-69117 Heidelberg, Germany

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Center, University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Hauptstrasse 5, D-79104 Freiburg, Germany

<sup>3</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Charité-University Medicine Berlin, Charitéplatz 1, D-0117 Berlin, Germany

<sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center Göttingen, Rosdorfer Weg 70, D-37081 Göttingen, Germany

<sup>5</sup>Psychology School at the Fresenius University of Applied Sciences Berlin, Jägerstrasse 32, D-10117 Berlin, Germany

<sup>6</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, CBASP Center of Competence, University Medical Center Bonn, Sigmund-Freud-Strasse 25, D-53127 Bonn, Germany

**Corresponding author:** Ilinca Serbanescu, Heidelberg University, Institute of Psychology, Hauptstrasse 47-51, D-69117 Heidelberg, Germany; E-mail: <u>lzoo8@uni-heidelberg.de</u>.

**Financial support statement:** This study was funded by Lundbeck GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, grant number 2007-006914- 41.

### Abstract

**Objective.** So far, there is little empirical evidence helping clinicians to select the most effective treatment for an individual patient with persistent depressive disorder (PDD). The current study identifies and characterizes subgroups of patients with PDD who are likely to benefit more from an acute treatment with specific psychotherapy than from pharmacotherapy with escitalopram and vice versa.

**Methods.** Sixty non-medicated outpatients with PDD were randomized to eight weeks of acute treatment with the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP; n = 29) or escitalopram plus clinical management (ESC/CM; n = 31). We combined several baseline variables to one composite moderator ( $M^*$ ) in order to identify subgroups of patients who are likely to benefit more from CBASP than from ESC/CM and vice versa.

**Results.** In total, n = 53 patients completed the acute treatment phase (n = 27 CBASP; n = 26 ESC/CM) and were included in the moderator analysis. The composite moderator  $M^*$  had a larger effect size than any individual moderator (r = 0.67). The interaction effect between  $M^*$  and the treatment variable was statistically significant (p < 0.001,  $R^2 = 0.48$ ). For 56.0% of patients, ESC/CM was associated with a greater reduction in depression severity than CBASP, for the remaining 44.0% of patients it was the other way around. Patients likely to benefit more from ESC/CM were more often female, had higher rates of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma, more adverse life events as well as more previous suicide attempts. Patients likely to benefit more from CBASP were older, had more often an early illness onset and more previous treatments with antidepressant medication. Overall, symptomatic response, remission, and reductions in symptom severity occurred more often in those patients treated with the likely more effective treatment condition.

**Conclusions.** The present findings suggest that the baseline phenotype of patients with PDD moderates their benefit from acute treatment with CBASP relative to ESC/CM. Once confirmed in an independent sample, these results could serve to guide the choice between psychotherapeutic or pharmacological treatments for patients with PDD.
**Keywords**: persistent depressive disorder; personalized medicine; escitalopram; CBASP; moderator; randomized clinical trial

## Introduction

Roughly 20-30% of patients with major depression develop a chronic course lasting two years or longer (Arnow & Constantino, 2003; Murphy & Byrne, 2012). In clinical settings, the prevalence increases up to 50% of the patients with depressive disorders presenting a chronic course (Schramm et al., 2020). In the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-5), this condition was first introduced as a distinct clinical category labelled as Persistent Depressive Disorder (PDD) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Based on the DSM-5, PDD should be diagnosed when symptoms have been present for at least two years and symptom-free intervals have never lasted longer than eight weeks at a time (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The prevalence of PDD is estimated between 5% (Murphy & Byrne, 2012) and 18% (Vandeleur et al., 2017) in the general population, and is nearly double as high for women as for men (Blanco et al., 2010; Garcia-Toro et al., 2013; Vandeleur et al., 2017).

In comparison to episodic depression, PDD has been associated with higher rates of childhood trauma (Gopinath et al., 2007; Wiersma et al., 2009), medical and psychiatric comorbidity (Angst et al., 2009; Gilmer et al., 2005; Murphy & Byrne 2012; Satyanarayana et al., 2009), greater suicidal ideation (Angst et al., 2009; Satyanarayana et al., 2009) and a lower socio-economic status (Angst et al., 2009; Gilmer et al., 2005). In addition, patients affected by a chronic course improve more slowly and respond less well to various pharmacological and psychological treatments (Arnow & Constantino 2003; Cuijpers et al., 2011; Cuijpers et al., 2017; Klein et al., 2006). The lack of tailored treatment strategies can be counted as a key reason for the low treatment success in PDD (Schramm et al., 2020). So far, little empirical evidence exists to guide clinicians to select the most effective treatment for an individual patient with PDD (Cohen & DeRubeis 2018; Cuijpers et al., 2017). Treatments are commonly selected in an unsystematic matter, often based on subjective clinical experience, treatment-preference of patients or trial-and-error approaches (Cohen & DeRubeis 2018; Simon & Perlis 2010; Wallace et al., 2013). Therefore, further scientific evidence is urgently needed for personalizing treatment selection for PDD (Cuijpers et al., 2017).

Currently, there exists only one psychotherapy model that was specifically designed to meet the needs of patients with PDD - the Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) developed by James P. McCullough (McCullough, 2000). As a manualized cognitive-behavioural-oriented therapy, CBASP operates on various techniques including situation analysis, interpersonal discrimination exercises, and behavioural skills training by using the patient-therapist relationship as a central therapeutic tool of interpersonal fear reduction (McCullough, 2000; McCullough, 2003; McCullough 2021; Neudeck et al., 2012). By helping patients to acquire interpersonal empathy, social problemsolving skills, and more adaptive interpersonal behavior patterns, CBASP targets a substantial improvement of patient's social behaviour, quality of interpersonal relationships, and thereby recovery from PDD (McCullough, 2000; McCullough, 2003; McCullough, 2021). CBASP has proven to be overall effective in treating chronically depressed patients and has been thus recommended as first line psychotherapeutic treatment for PDD by various national and international treatment guidelines (Jobst et al., 2016). Nevertheless, various findings have shown that CBASP may not be the most effective treatment for all patients with PDD: in a cross-over trial conducted in patients with PDD, Schatzberg et al. (2005) compared the outcome of non-responders to an initial monotherapy with CBASP or nefazodone to a successive 12-week cross-over treatment with CBASP or nefazodone, respectively. This study found that switching from CBASP to nefazodone and vice versa resulted in clinical and statistical improvements in symptoms but not in response and remission rates, yet left open the question of which type of patients benefited from the switch and why. A later moderator analysis by Kocsis, Leon, et al. (2009) comparing CBASP with nefazodone found treatment preference to be a significant treatment moderator in that patients who preferred medication at baseline had higher remission rates and lower depression scores at the end of the study if they received medication than if they received CBASP, and vice versa. Furthermore, in a more recent individual participant data network meta-regression based on three trials comparing CBASP to pharmacotherapy and/ or their combination, Furukawa et al. (2018) found that for the subgroup of patients with severe baseline depression and severe baseline anxiety, combination treatment was more effective than pharmacotherapy alone, which in turn was

more effective than CBASP alone. In addition, pharmacotherapy alone was found to be more beneficial for younger patients with PDD, given their relatively high dropout rates for combination therapy and CBASP (Furukawa et al., 2018). Finally, a more recent moderator analysis by Serbanescu et al. (2020) showed that CBASP was inferior to disorder-nonspecific Supportive Psychotherapy in its effectiveness for patients with a higher baseline global and social functioning level, a higher baseline life quality and a recurrent illness pattern without complete remission between the episodes. However, CBASP outperformed Supportive Psychotherapy in patients who were initially more severely depressed and who reported higher rates of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma at baseline. Given the diversity of these varied findings, it remains to be further clarified which subtypes of patients with PDD are likely to benefit more from CBASP than from other psychotherapies or pharmacological treatments, and vice versa.

In a bi-centric randomized controlled trial (RCT), Schramm et al. (2015) compared the effectiveness of CBASP versus escitalopram, a well-tolerated standard selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, combined with clinical management (ESC/CM) over 28 weeks in a sample of outpatients with PDD. In case of non-improvement (defined in this study as < 20.0% reduction in depression severity) after the 8-week acute treatment phase, the other treatment condition was augmented for the following 20 weeks of the extended treatment phase. Results showed that the clinician-rated depression scores decreased significantly after both eight and 28 weeks, however with no significant differences between the two treatment groups. Non-improvers to the initial treatment caught up with the initial improvers in terms of depression severity by the end of the extended treatment phase after being augmented with the respective other condition (Schramm et al., 2015). In conclusion, CBASP and ESC/CM appeared to be equally effective treatment options for chronically depressed outpatients in both the acute and extended treatment phase, whereas for patients who did not respond to their first treatment in the acute phase, augmentation with the other condition during the extended phase appeared to be effective in reducing depression severity.

In this work, we will present a secondary analysis of the RCT by Schramm et al. (2015) conducted to revisit this conclusion by examining whether, despite the reported general equivalence of the two treatments, there were in fact 'hidden' subgroups of patients who were likely to benefit more from CBASP than from ESC/CM and vice versa during the acute 8-week treatment phase. In addition, we investigated whether the initial lack of response in those patients augmented with the other treatment condition at week eight was because they did not receive their likely more effective treatment during the first eight weeks, and whether the observed improvement at week 28 was likely due to the augmentation with the treatment condition from which they would have likely benefitted more from the beginning of the treatment. For identifying possible subgroups effects, we applied the composite moderator developed by Kraemer (2013). This modern statistical approach yields the advantage to combine multiple individual baseline characteristics, which are usually tested individually as single moderators, into one personal index, the composite moderator, that is further used to detect subgroups of patients who are likely to benefit more from one treatment than from another (Kraemer, 2013). The composite moderator method has served in a number of studies comparing treatments for episodic (Wallace et al., 2013), persistent (Serbanescu et al., 2020) and late-life depressive disorder (Smagula et al., 2016) as well as anxiety disorder (Niles, Loerinc, et al., 2017), providing valuable results and expanding the evidence base in favor of personalized treatment selection in psychiatry. By addressing the question of "what works for whom" in the context of a clinically relevant comparison between an internationally recognized disorder-specific psychotherapy and a widely used antidepressant, we aim to add further evidence that can guide clinicians in choosing between available psychotherapeutic and pharmacological treatments, thus addressing the urgent need to advance personalized medicine for PDD (Cuijpers et al., 2017).

## Materials and methods

The mentioned study by Schramm et al. (2015) was an evaluator-blind, parallel-design, 2-armed RCT conducted between 2008 and 2013 at two university medical centers (Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy of the University Medical Center Freiburg; University Medical Center Bonn) in Germany. The study was approved by the institutional review boards and ethics committees at each site. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before study enrollment. Study registration was performed at the University Register of Clinical Studies (No. 2007-006914-41) and at www.clinicaltrials.gov (No. NCT00837564). Detailed study methods were published previously (see Schramm et al., 2015 for further details).

#### Participants and eligibility

For study inclusion, participants had to be 18 to 65 years old, fluent German speaking, and to meet DSM-IV criteria for a current episode of chronic major depressive disorder (MDD; with the modification of at least one year of depressive symptomatology) or a recurrent major depressive episode ( $\geq$  3 episodes with the preceding episode being no more than 2.5 years before the onset of the present episode). Additionally, at screening, participants had to score at least 18 points on the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS; Montgomery & Asberg 1979) and to be free from antidepressant medication minimum two weeks before baseline assessments. The exclusion criteria further comprised: an acute risk of suicide, a history of psychotic symptoms, bipolar disorder or dementia, a severe substance-related abuse or dependence disorder, a schizotypal, antisocial or borderline personality disorder, a serious medical condition or illness, severe cognitive impairment, hypersensitivity to escitalopram, absence of a response to a previous adequate trial with CBASP or escitalopram, or a treatment with a MAO-inhibitor within one week before the initiation of the study treatment (Schramm et al., 2015).

### Interventions

Sixty patients (n = 45 in Freiburg; n = 15 in Bonn) including one non-starter who was excluded from the analyses were randomly assigned to receive treatment with CBASP (n = 29) or ESC/CM (n = 31) over a total period of 28 weeks, including an acute treatment phase within the first eight weeks. Of the n = 59 patients who began treatment, n = 6 discontinued it before

the end of the acute treatment phase, resulting in n = 53 completers (n = 27 CBASP; n = 26 ESC/CM), who were included in the present moderator analysis.

In the acute treatment phase of eight weeks, therapy sessions with CBASP were conducted twice weekly during the first four weeks and weekly during the next four weeks by trained and experienced psychotherapists. All CBASP sessions were videotaped and reviewed by experienced study supervisors. As a well-tolerated standard selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor with an excellent benefit-to-side effect (Cipriani et al., 2009), escitalopram was administered in an initial dose of 10 mg/day in the first week and was further enhanced to 20 mg/day throughout the following weeks. In case of adverse side effects, the dosage was adjusted individually. In addition to escitalopram, patients randomized to this condition received weekly 20 min-sessions of clinical management as a psychoeducative and supportive intervention. Its elements included symptom management, monitoring of the medication and its side effects, as well as simple expert advices. Patients whose MADRS scores failed to improve by at least 20.0% at the end of the eighth week were additionally provided with the other treatment condition (i.e., either ESC/CM or 12 CBASP sessions) during the following 20 weeks of extended treatment. The addition of the other condition to the initial treatment (rather than switching) intended a prolongation of the effects of the initial treatment.

#### Analyzed baseline variables

The utilized statistical procedure (Kraemer, 2013) preselects and combines multiple individual baseline variables into one optimal composite moderator ( $M^*$ ) to detect possible subgroup effects. For being preselected for the compilation of  $M^*$ , a baseline variable had to fulfill the following criteria: 1. being of clinical-scientific interest for the research question; 2. being easy to assess for comparison and replication purposes; 3. containing at least n = 50 valid cases or no more than three missing cases so as not to reduce the sample size relevant for the final regression analysis. Our set of preselected initial baseline variables thus comprised 11 baseline variables from a wide range of domains including socio-demography, clinical characteristics, childhood trauma as well as the history of previous treatments (for more details on the variables and their measurement, see Table 1).

## Table 1

| Baseline variable                 | Туре    | Definition/ assessment  |  |  |
|-----------------------------------|---------|---|--|--|
| Socio-demographic characteristics |         |   |  |  |
| 1. Female gender                  | nominal | yes/ no   |  |  |
| 2. Age                            | metric  | years   |  |  |
|                                   |         |   |  |  |
| Clinical characteristics          |         |   |  |  |
| 3. Early illness onset            | nominal | defined as an onset of PDD before the age of 21;                    |  |  |
|                                   |         | yes/ no   |  |  |
| 4. Depression severity            | metric  | clinician-rated MADRS total score at baseline                       |  |  |
| 5. History of suicidality         | metric  | self-reported number of previous suicide attempts                   |  |  |
| 6. Comorbidity of $\geq$ 1 Axis-I | nominal | yes/no; diagnosed with the SCID-I by clinician                      |  |  |
| disorder                          |         |   |  |  |
| 7. Comorbidity of $\ge 1$ Axis-II | nominal | yes/no; diagnosed with the SCID-II by clinician                     |  |  |
| disorder                          |         |   |  |  |
|                                   |         |   |  |  |
| Childhood and life trauma         |         |   |  |  |
| 8. Childhood trauma               | nominal | self-reported moderate-to-severe childhood trauma                   |  |  |
|                                   |         | that occurred before the age of 18 in at least one of               |  |  |
|                                   |         | the five dimensions of the CTQ; yes/ no                             |  |  |
| 9. Adverse life events            | metric  | item assessing the number of self-reported major                    |  |  |
|                                   |         | psychosocial stressors over the lifetime                            |  |  |
|                                   |         |   |  |  |
| Previous treatments               |         |   |  |  |
| 10. Previous psychotherapies      | ordinal | self-reported number of previous psychotherapies,                   |  |  |
|                                   |         | provided in categories ( $0 = none$ , $1 = 1$ , $2 = 2$ , $3 = 3$ , |  |  |
|                                   |         | 4 = 4, 5 = more than 5)   |  |  |
| 11. Previous medication           | ordinal | self-reported number of previous treatments with                    |  |  |
|                                   |         | antidepressants, provided in categories (0 = none, 1                |  |  |
|                                   |         | = 1, 2 = 2, 3 = 3, 4 = 4, 5 = more than 5)                          |  |  |

List of initially considered baseline variables

*Note.* CTQ = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein et al., 2003); MADRS = Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (Montgomery & Asberg, 1979); PDD = persistent depressive disorder; SCID-I = Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders (First et al., 2002); SCID-II = Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders (First et al., 1997).

#### Main outcome

The main outcome in this secondary analysis was the percentage change in MADRS scores from baseline to week eight (corresponding to the end of the acute treatment phase) calculated according to the following equation:

$$percentchange_{MADRS} = \frac{MADRS_{week \, 8} - MADRS_{baseline}}{MADRS_{baseline}} * 100\%$$

Based on this equation, negative values of this outcome reflect a reduction in depression severity, a score of zero reflects no change and positive scores indicate an increase in depression severity from baseline to week eight. The MADRS ratings were performed by trained and experienced evaluators. All n = 53 completers had valid MADRS scores at week eight.

### Statistical analyses

All analyses described in the following were performed in the sample of treatment completers (n = 53) at week eight using STATA version 15.1 (StataCorp, 2017). To ensure that the results of the analyses were nor driven by possible outliers, both the outcome variable as well as all analyzed baseline variables were tested for outliers and skewness before calculating the moderator effect sizes. We detected no outliers.

**Calculating individual moderator effect sizes:** By using the method described by Kraemer (2013), we first computed moderator effect sizes for the 11 preselected baseline variables. For this, we paired each patient assigned to CBASP to each patient assigned to ESC/CM. Next, for each pair of this dataset, we calculated the difference in outcome (i.e., the percentage change in MADRS scores) and the average value of each of the 11 baseline variables. Next, for obtaining moderator effect sizes, non-parametric Spearman correlations between the difference in outcome and each average were calculated together with their 95% bootstrap confidence intervals based on 100 replications. In principle, moderator effect sizes based on this method are invariant over linear transformations of the baseline variable or the outcome, and vary between -1 and +1, with higher magnitudes indicating a stronger moderation and zero

indicating the absence of a moderation effect (Kraemer, 2013). Baseline variables were preselected to be included in the model for complying  $M^*$  when their effect size was  $\geq |.20|$ . This cutoff is more rigorous than others used in previously published applications of Kraemer's composite moderator method (e.g., Serbanescu et al., 2020; Smagula et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2017), and was chosen as such in order to select as few meaningful moderator variables as possible to account for the modest sample size. Due to the exploratory character of our analysis and the modest sample size, we abstained from calculating and including statistical significance of interaction effects between the treatment variable and the baseline variables as a further selection criterion for a baseline variable to be used for the compilation of  $M^*$ (Wasserstein & Lazar, 2016).

Model selection of the composite moderator: Next, we determined the statistical weights of those baseline variables with effect sizes  $\geq |.20|$  for inclusion in the composite moderator. For this, in the paired dataset, the weights of the single moderators were estimated by a multivariable regression model, in which the difference in outcome was predicted by the averages of all preselected variables. Analogous to previous applications of the composite moderator approach (e.g., Serbanescu et al., 2020; Wallace et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2018), we performed a least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) regression (Tibshirani, 1996) for the multivariable model. Lasso regression selects the most useful independent variables and shrinks the regression weights of variables with little predictive power or correlated with other predictors to zero, thereby removing them from the model (Tibshirani, 1996). In addition and in line with previous applications of the composite moderator method (Niles, Loerinc, et al., 2017; Niles, Wolitzky-Taylor, et al., 2017; Serbanescu et al., 2020), for optimizing the model's predictive performance and avoiding overfitting, we combined lasso regression with k-fold cross-validation (James et al., 2013). The methodological advantages of combining lasso regression with k-fold cross-validation have been explained before (e.g., Serbanescu et al., 2020). Briefly, due to its principle of training and validating regression models in different data folds of the same data set, k-fold cross-validation enables researchers to detect a model that is more likely to have a good predictive performance in future new data samples. Within the paired dataset, we ran 10-folds cross-validation by using the command

'*cvlasso*' from the STATA package '*lassopack*' developed by Ahrens et al. (2019), which internally repeats lasso regression and displays the model obtained by an optimal tuning parameter  $\lambda_{opt}$  which is associated with the smallest mean-squared prediction error.

**Identification and characterization of subgroups:** After selecting the optimal model based on the procedure described before, weights from each of the moderators selected by this model were extracted in order to calculate the value of  $M^*$  for each patient as described by Kraemer (2013). Thereafter, in the unpaired dataset, we performed a regression analysis predicting the outcome (i.e., percentage change in MADRS scores) from the composite moderator  $M^*$ , the treatment group, and their interaction. We furthermore computed the moderator effect size of the composite moderator  $M^*$  together with its 95% bootstrap confidence interval. We then calculated the value of  $M^*$  at which the predicted outcomes for the CBASP and ESC/CM group intersected and divided the sample into two subgroups, one below and one above this cross-point. Each of these subgroups is consequently associated with a likely more beneficial outcome for one of the two treatments compared to the other. For characterizing and comparing the two identified subgroups, we analyzed and compared relevant baseline characteristics and calculated between-group treatment effect sizes (Cohen's d).

**Subgroup and treatment interaction effects:** We next analyzed whether those patients who received the likely more beneficial treatment condition had higher response and remission rates than those who received the likely less beneficial condition. For this, we stratified the sample of completers in four clusters: 1. Patients randomized to CBASP and likely to respond better to CBASP; 2. Patients randomized to CBASP and likely to respond better to ESC/CM; 3. Patients randomized to ESC/CM and likely to respond better to ESC/CM; 4. Patients randomized to ESC/CM and likely to respond better to ESC/CM; 4. Patients randomized to ESC/CM and likely to respond better to CBASP. In these four clusters, we compared rates of response (defined as  $\geq$  50.0% reduction in MADRS scores from baseline to week eight) and remission (defined as a MADRS score of  $\leq$  9 at week eight). We also analyzed between-cluster differences in MADRS scores at week eight as well as values of the percentage change of the MADRS scores from baseline to week eight. Finally, we examined whether those patients who did not experience a change of at least 20.0% after the acute treatment phase and

who received augmentation with the other treatment condition were, in majority, those who did not receive the likely more beneficial treatment condition during the acute treatment phase.

# **Results**

### Effect sizes of individual moderators

Among the 11 tested baseline variables, we identified six with an effect size < 0 and five with an effect size > 0. Negative values indicate a better outcome (i.e., a greater percentage reduction in MADRS scores from baseline to week eight) with ESC/CM than with CBASP for higher values or the presence of that moderator. Positive values indicate a better outcome with CBASP than with ESC/CM for higher values or the presence of that moderator. Individual moderator effect sizes, 95% confidence intervals and lasso regression coefficients derived from the lasso regression model are displayed in Table 2.

### Table 2

Moderator effect sizes, 95% confidence intervals and lasso regression coefficients for

selected and deselected baseline variables

| Pagaline warichlag                         | Effect | o=% CI           | Lasso                    |  |
|--|--------|------------------|--------------------------|--|
| Baseline variables                         | size   | 95% CI           | coefficient <sup>a</sup> |  |
| Indicating a superiority of ESC/CM         |        |                  |                          |  |
| Selected:                                  |        |                  |                          |  |
| Number of previous suicide attempts        | -0.363 | (-0.429; -0.297) | -8.806                   |  |
| Adverse life events                        | -0.288 | (-0.354; -0.222) | -9.782                   |  |
| Childhood trauma <sup>b</sup>              | -0.251 | (-0.326; -0.175) | -65.803                  |  |
| Female gender                              | -0.213 | (-0.280; -0.146) | -31.344                  |  |
| Not selected:                              |        |                  |                          |  |
| MADRS (baseline) score                     | -0.117 | (-0.188; -0.047) |                          |  |
| Comorbidity with $\geq$ 1 Axis-II disorder | -0.063 | (-0.144; 0.018)  |                          |  |
| Le diacting a gun arianity of CDACD        |        |                  |                          |  |
| Indicating a superiority of CBASP          |        |                  |                          |  |
| Selected:                                  |        |                  |                          |  |
| Age  | 0.238  | (0.166; 0.309)   | 2.817                    |  |
| Early illness onset                        | 0.215  | (0.146; 0.285)   | 56.434                   |  |
| Number of previous treatments with AD      | 0.212  | (0.155; 0.269)   | 12.629                   |  |
| Not selected:                              |        |                  |                          |  |
| Number of previous psychotherapies         | 0.085  | (0.025; 0.145)   |                          |  |
| Comorbidity with $\geq$ 1 Axis-I disorder  | 0.042  | (-0.016; 0.100)  |                          |  |

*Note*. AD = antidepressants; CI = confidence interval; CTQ = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein et al., 2003); MADRS = Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (Montgomery & Asberg, 1979); <sup>a</sup> displayed only for those variables selected by the final lasso regression model; coefficients indicate the weight in the composition of  $M^*$  as derived from the lasso regression model; <sup>b</sup> presence indicates a clinical severity of at least moderate-to-severe on at least one of the five dimensions of the CTQ.

The strongest moderator indicating a superiority of ESC/CM was a higher number of previous suicide attempts (effect size = -0.36); the strongest moderator indicating a superiority of CBASP was a higher age (effect size = 0.24). In total, we identified seven baseline variables with an effect size  $\geq$  |0.20|. These were: number of previous suicide attempts, number of adverse life events, the presence of at least one form of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma,

age, an early illness onset, female gender, and the number of previous treatments with antidepressants (for effect sizes, see Table 2). These seven variables were further used to calculate the composite moderator  $M^*$ . Other analyzed baseline variables whose moderator effect sizes were below the selected threshold (r < |0.20|) and which were therefore not included in the calculation of the composite moderator were baseline depression severity, comorbidity with at least one Axis-I or Axis-II disorder, and the number of previous psychotherapies (see Table 2).

#### **Composite moderator**

The lasso regression yielded lasso coefficients for all seven selected baseline variables (see Table 2, right column), which were all further combined to develop the composite moderator  $M^*$ . The lasso coefficients represent the extent to which each baseline variable distinguishes differences in the outcome between patients treated with ESC/CM and those treated with CBASP in the context of the other selected variables. The composite moderator  $M^*$  was calculable for n = 50 patients who had complete data on all seven variables. With r = 0.67 (95% CI: 0.63; 0.71), the effect size of  $M^*$  was larger than any effect size of the individual baseline variables. In the unpaired dataset, we next performed a simple regression analysis as explained in the methods. The final regression model revealed a statistically significant interaction effect between the treatment variable and  $M^*$  in predicting the individualparticipant MADRS percentage change values (interaction term  $\beta$  = 0.95, S.E. = 0.17, p < 0.001,  $R^2 = 0.48$ ). Figure 1 illustrates the predicted percentage change in MADRS scores from baseline to week eight for the CBASP and ESC/CM treatment groups across the observed range of  $M^*$  with 95% confidence intervals. The lines cross at  $M^* = 46.94$ . For n = 28 (56.0%) of the n = 50 patients who scored below this cross-point ( $M^* < 46.94$ ), treatment with ESC/CM was associated with a likely better outcome (i.e., greater percentage reduction in MADRS scores) compared to treatment with CBASP (Cohen's d = -1.76; 95% CI: -2.64; -0.86). For n = 22 (44.0%) of the n = 50 patients who scored above this cross-point ( $M^* > 46.94$ ), treatment with CBASP was associated with a likely better outcome compared to treatment with ESC/CM (Cohen's *d* = 1.28; 95% CI: 0.33; 2.19).

#### Figure 1

Predicted percentage reduction in MADRS scores with 95% confidence intervals for CBASP and ESC/CM across the range of the composite moderator  $M^*$ 



*Note.* CBASP = Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; ESC/CM = escitalopram plus clinical management;  $M^*$  = composite moderator; MADRS = Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale; negative values of the y-axis reflect a desired reduction in depression severity from baseline to week eight, a score of zero reflects no change, and positive scores indicate an increase in depression severity from baseline to week eight.

#### **Baseline profiles of identified subgroups**

We next compared the baseline profiles of the two identified subgroups. Table 3 presents descriptive statistics for all seven baseline variables used to create the composite moderator  $M^*$  per subgroup. To provide an even more comprehensive picture of the profiles of the two subgroups, Table 3 also shows descriptive statistics for additional baseline variables that were not included in the calculation of  $M^*$ , as well as for response and remission rates at week eight. To provide guidance on which differences between the subgroups are significant, differences in means or percentages are reported along with the corresponding 95% confidence

intervals and *p*-value determined by statistical significance testing. Importantly, due to the modest sample size and exploratory nature of this analysis, reported differences between the subgroups will be discussed with caution. We will next describe the differences between both subgroups with regard to the baseline variables which were used to compile the composite moderator.

# Table 3

| Descriptive statist | ics for the | identified | subgroups |  |
|---------------------|-------------|------------|-----------|--|
| 1                   | 2           |            |           |  |

| Variables  | Subgroup<br>likely to<br>benefit more<br>from ESC/CM<br>than from<br>CBASP<br>(n = 28) | Subgroup<br>likely to<br>benefit<br>more from<br>CBASP than<br>from<br>ESC/CM<br>(n = 22) | Difference between<br>subgroups with<br>95% CI and <i>p</i> -value |
|--|--|---|--|
| Baseline variables which we                        | re included in the   | compilation of  | fM*  |
| Female gender (%)                                  | 60.7   | 36.4  | 24.4 (-2.7; 51.4); <i>p</i> = 0.2                                  |
| Age in years (mean (SD))                           | 40.2 (10.8)  | 46.4 (9.9)  | -6.2 (-12.2; -0.2); <i>p</i> = 0.04                                |
| Early illness onset (%)                            | 42.9   | 77.3  | -34.4 (-59.8; -9.1); <i>p</i> = 0.02                               |
| Number of previous suicide<br>attempts (mean (SD)) | 0.50 (0.8)   | 0.1 (0.4)   | 0.4 (0.03; 0.8); <i>p</i> = 0.03                                   |
| Childhood trauma (%) <sup>a</sup>                  | 82.1   | 54.5  | 27.6 (2.4; 52.8); <i>p</i> = 0.06                                  |
| Number of adverse life                             | 2.1(1.2)   | 1.4 (0.8)   | 0.7(0.1; 1.4); p = 0.02  |
| events (mean (SD))                                 |  |   |  |
| Proportion of patients with                        |  |   |  |
| following number of                                |  |   | Difference in changes of   |
| AD (%)   |  |   | $\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$                     |
| none   | 46.4   | 40.0  | treatment with AD.   |
| > 1  | 53.6   | 40.9<br>50.1  | -5.5(-33.1; 22.1); n = 0.8   |
| > 5  | 0.0  | 13.6  | 0.0 ( 0.0.2, <u>-</u> ), p 0.0                                     |
| Further variables which wer                        | e not included in  | the compilatio  | n of M*  |
| MADRS baseline score                               | 28.4 (8.1)   | 24.4 (8.8)  | 4.1(-0.8; 8.9); p = 0.10   |
| (mean (SD))  |  |   |  |
| Diagnosis of ≥ 1 comorbid<br>Axis-I disorder (%)   | 57.1   | 36.4  | 20.8 (-6.4; 48.0); <i>p</i> = 0.2                                  |
| Diagnosis of ≥ 1 comorbid<br>Axis-II disorder (%)  | 39.3   | 36.4  | 2.9 (-24.1; 30.0); <i>p</i> = 1.00                                 |
| History of ≥ 1 suicide<br>attempt (%)              | 35.7   | 4.5   | 31.2(11.4;50.9); p = 0.01  |
| Emotional abuse (%) <sup>b</sup>                   | 39.3   | 36.4  | 2.9 (-24.1; 30.0); <i>p</i> = 1.00                                 |
| Physical abuse (%) <sup>b</sup>                    | 14.3   | 9.1   | 5.2 (-12.5; 22.9); p = 0.7   |
| Sexual abuse (%) <sup>b</sup>                      | 14.3   | 4.5   | 9.7 (-5.9; 25.3); <i>p</i> = 0.4                                   |
| Emotional neglect (%) <sup>b</sup>                 | 57.1   | 54.5  | 2.6 (-25.1; 30.0); <i>p</i> = 1.00                                 |
| Physical neglect (%) <sup>b</sup>                  | 35.7   | 31.8  | 3.9(-22.4; 30.2); p = 1.00   |
| Proportion of patients with                        | 00 /   | 0   |  |
| following number of                                |  |   |  |
| previous psychotherapies                           |  |   | Difference in chances of   |
| (%)  |  |   | having $\geq$ 1 previous   |
| none   | 32.1   | 27.3  | psychotherapy:   |
| ≥ 1  | 67.9   | 72.7  | -4.9 (-30.3; 20.5); <i>p</i> = 0.8                                 |
| > 5  | 3.6  | 13.6  |  |
| Response at week eight (%)                         | 25.0   | 13.0  | 11.4 (-10.2; 32.9); $p = 0.5$                                      |
| Kemission at week eight (%)                        | 14.3   | 9.1   | 5.2 (-12.5; 22.9); <i>p</i> = 0.7                                  |

*Note*. AD = antidepressants; CBASP = Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; CI = confidence interval; CTQ = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein et al., 2003); ESC/CM = escitalopram plus clinical management; MADRS = Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (Montgomery & Asberg, 1979); SD = standard deviation; <sup>a</sup> presence indicates a clinical severity of at least moderate-to-severe on at least one dimension of the CTQ; <sup>b</sup> presence indicates a clinical severity of at least moderate-to-severe on the respective dimension of the CTQ; for nominal and ordinal variables, *p*-values and 95% CIs from the Fisher's exact tests are reported; for metric variables, *p*-values and 95% CIs from independent sample t-tests are reported.

**Description of the subgroup likely to benefit more from ESC/CM:** In comparison with the subgroup likely to benefit more from CBASP, patients in the subgroup likely to benefit more from ESC/CM were more often female (60.7% versus 36.4%) and had a higher average number of previous suicide attempts (average number of 0.5 versus 0.1). This goes in line with this subgroup reporting more often at least one previous suicide attempt (35.7% versus 4.5%). Moreover, patients in this subgroup reported more often at least one form of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma (82.1% versus 54.5%) as well as more adverse life events (average number of 2.1 versus 1.4).

**Description of the subgroup likely to benefit more from CBASP:** In comparison to the subgroup of patients likely to benefit more from ESC/CM, those likely to benefit more from CBASP tended to be slightly older (mean age of 46.4 years versus 40.2 years) and had more often an early illness onset (i.e., before the age of 21; 77.3% versus 42.9%). The previous usage of antidepressant medication was slightly higher in this subgroup: 59.1% (versus 53.6% in the other subgroup) of the patients in this subgroup had taken antidepressant medication at least once, and 13.6% (versus 0% in the other subgroup) reported more than five previous treatments with antidepressants.

As displayed in Table 3, we did not detect statistically significant differences between the two subgroups with respect to the rates of female gender, childhood trauma and previous treatments with antidepressant medication (all p > 0.05). Further, except for the history of at least one suicide attempt, which was not selected for the compilation of M\* because of the intercorrelation with the mean number of suicide attempts, none of the baseline variables deselected for the compilation of M\* showed significant differences between the subgroups. Consequently, the two subgroups were relatively similar with respect to the MADRS mean baseline scores, rates of comorbid Axis-I and Axis-II diagnoses, various subtypes of childhood trauma assessed by the CTQ (i.e., emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect), and previous numbers of underwent psychotherapies. The same was true for both response and remission rates at week eight.

#### Differences in outcomes for each subgroup by treatment

In the subgroup likely to benefit more from ESC/CM, n = 12 patients underwent treatment with ESC/CM, while n = 16 received treatment with CBASP, which was likely less effective for them. In the subgroup likely to benefit more from CBASP, n = 10 patients underwent treatment with CBASP, while n = 12 received treatment with ESC/CM, which was likely less effective for them. Table 4 shows MADRS mean values at baseline and at week eight, as well as the mean percentage change and rates of response and remission at week eight for each of the four subgroups by randomized treatment condition. It also shows the same outcomes for those patients who received their likely more beneficial treatment and for those who received their likely less beneficial treatment. Briefly, we can conclude that patients likely to benefit more from ESC/CM and treated with ESC/CM had the largest percentage decrease (-50.9%) in depression severity from baseline to week eight, as well as the highest response (58.3%) and remission rates (33.3%) at week eight. They are followed by patients likely to benefit more from CBASP and treated with CBASP, which show more modest values in terms of percentage decrease (-33.3%) in depression severity as well as response (20.0%) and remission (10.0%) rates. Patients likely to benefit more from CBASP and treated with ESC/CM had, in average, an increase in depression severity (6.9%) from baseline to week eight and relatively low response and remission rates (both 8.3%) at week eight. Depression severity increased on average (5.0%) also among patients likely to benefit more from ESC/CM and treated with CBASP; additionally, there were no remitters or responders in this subgroup. The average percent change in depression severity from baseline to week eight is illustrated in Figure 2 for each subgroup by treatment interaction.

When pooling those patients who received their likely more beneficial treatment, the average decrease in depression severity reached up 42.9%, while response and remission rates

were 40.9% and 22.7%, respectively. These numbers stand in contrast to the pool of patients who received their likely less beneficial treatment, having an average increase in depression severity of 5.8% and smaller remission and response rates of 3.6%.

#### Table 4

Comparison of different outcomes for each subgroup by assigned treatment

|   | MADRS at   | MADRS at    | Percentage   | Response   | Remission  |
|---|------------|-------------|--------------|------------|------------|
| Subgroup x treatment                                      | baseline,  | week 8,     | change (%),  | at week 8, | at week 8, |
|   | mean (SD)  | mean (SD)   | mean (SD)    | %          | %          |
| Be ESC/CM   Tr ESC/CM;<br>n = 12                          | 30.1 (6.9) | 15.1 (11.2) | -50.9 (35.4) | 58.3       | 33.3       |
| Be CBASP   Tr CBASP;<br>n = 10                            | 26.8 (8.5) | 17.5 (6.9)  | -33.3 (22.3) | 20.0       | 10.0       |
| Be CBASP   Tr ESC/CM;<br>n = 12                           | 22.3 (8.9) | 22.4 (9.4)  | 6.9 (37.3)   | 8.3        | 8.3        |
| Be ESC/CM   Tr CBASP;<br>n = 16                           | 27.2 (9.0) | 27.3 (8.4)  | 5.0 (28.7)   | 0.0        | 0.0        |
| Be ESC/CM   Tr ESC/CM<br>+ Be CBASP   Tr CBASP;<br>n = 22 | 28.6 (7.6) | 16.2 (9.4)  | -42.9 (30.8) | 40.9       | 22.7       |
| Be ESC/CM   Tr CBASP +<br>Be CBASP   Tr ESC/CM;<br>n = 28 | 25.1 (9.1) | 25.2 (9.0)  | 5.8 (32.0)   | 3.6        | 3.6        |

*Note.* Be [treatment condition] = likely higher benefit from this treatment condition; CBASP = Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; ESC/CM = escitalopram plus clinical management; MADRS = Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (Montgomery & Asberg, 1979); SD = standard deviation; Tr [treatment condition] = treated with this treatment condition.

#### Figure 2



Percentage change in MADRS values for each subgroup by randomized treatment

*Note*. CBASP = Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy; ESC/CM = escitalopram plus clinical management; MADRS = Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (Montgomery & Asberg, 1979).

#### Sub-analysis of patients augmented after week eight

As mentioned above, after completion of the 8-week acute treatment phase, a total of n = 20 patients whose depression severity had not decreased by at least 20.0% received the other treatment condition in addition to the initial treatment condition for the following 20 weeks. The main analysis showed that these patients eventually caught up with the initial improvers in terms of depression scores by the end of the extended treatment phase, reaching a remission rate of 30.0% and a response rate of 45.0% (Schramm et al., 2015). However, considering the present analyses enabling the stratification in subgroups based on the composite moderator, we can conclude that n = 19 (95.0%) of these n = 20 patients initially received the less beneficial treatment: 50.0% would likely have benefited more from ESC/CM and received CBASP and

45.0% vice versa. Only one patient who likely benefited more from ESC/CM and who received this treatment experienced no reduction of at least 20.0% and was supplemented with CBASP after week eight.

# Discussion

The aim of our study was to identify and characterize subgroups of patients who were likely to benefit more from psychotherapy with CBASP than from medication with escitalopram combined with clinical management appointments or vice versa during an eightweek acute treatment phase. By using the composite moderator method, we uncovered two distinct subgroups with differential response to CBASP and ESC/CM. Our analyses revealed that those patients who received the likely less effective treatment not only did not improve within the first eight weeks of treatment, but worsened, with depression severity increasing on average by 5.8% from baseline to week eight. In contrast, depression severity decreased by an average of 42.9% from baseline to week eight for those patients in both subgroups who received the likely more effective treatment. Moreover, these patients also achieved response and remission more often than the others. In summary, we can conclude that below the general lack of statistically significant differences in the effectiveness of these two treatments observed in the main analysis (Schramm et al., 2015), there are however considerable subgroup effects implying that in terms of reduction in depression severity, certain patients did not benefit from their assigned condition within the first eight weeks.

In addition, we found that patients who did not achieve at least a 20.0% reduction in symptom severity after the acute treatment phase and who were subsequently supplemented with the other treatment condition were in the majority (95.0%) treated with the likely less effective treatment during the acute treatment phase. The main analyses by Schramm et al. (2015) found that these patients benefited substantially from the addition of the other treatment condition, resulting in response rates of 45.0% and remission rates of 30.0% at the end of the extended treatment phase. This subsequent improvement during the extended treatment phase can be plausibly explained by the fact that after week eight, these patients received the treatment that was likely more effective for them personally in addition to the first, unsuccessful treatment, rather than that they received an additional treatment per se. This reasoning may also contribute to explain why there is no clear empirical evidence as to whether the combination of medication and psychotherapy always works better than monotherapy in patients with PDD, as shown by a review of Spijker et al. (2013).

Although the modest sample size of our study does not allow us to draw general conclusions about the pre-treatment profile of the identified subgroups, we can nevertheless summarize some interesting trends that have been uncovered: to sum up, the subgroup likely to benefit more from ESC/CM was more often female, reported more often at least one form of moderate-to-severe childhood trauma as well as more previous suicide attempts and more adverse life events. Similarly, a traditional moderator analysis of this trial by Bausch et al. (2017) found that patients with moderate-to-severe childhood trauma responded and remitted more often to ESC/CM than to CBASP within the first eight weeks of treatment. Further, patients reporting moderate-to-severe childhood trauma tended to have more previous suicide attempts in our sample (Bausch et al., 2017), which is in line with other findings: for instance, childhood trauma particularly in the form of physical abuse or sexual abuse has been reported to enhance the risk for suicidal attempts later in life in the general population (Zatti et al., 2017), while childhood emotional trauma was reported as a predictor for an elevated suicide risk in patients with major depression (Dias de Mattos Souza et al., 2016). Besides higher levels of childhood trauma, female gender was also found to be an independent risk factor for both an early onset of first attempting suicide and for a higher number of suicidal attempts (Roy & Janal, 2005). A study by Sarchiapone et al. (2007) conducted in patients with unipolar depression revealed that being female, having childhood trauma as well as a lifetime history of aggression significantly increased the risk of previous suicide attempts. Taken together, these previous findings suggest an association between female gender, childhood trauma and possibly also later traumatic events, as well as suicide attempts, which is complemented by the results of our analyses in that this phenotype may benefit better from medication with escitalopram in the acute treatment phase than from CBASP in the context of PDD. Notably, this interpretation is further supported by the fact that in our sample, patients reporting

moderate-to-severe childhood trauma reported significantly more often resistances to treatments with psychotherapy (defined as at least two self-reported nonresponses to psychotherapy of at least 10 sessions; Bausch et al., 2017), indicating that for some patients, psychotherapy has also failed to lead to a response in the past.

Furthermore, our finding that antidepressant medication may be more effective as an acute treatment for early traumatised patients contradicts an older moderator analysis by Nemeroff et al. (2003), who found CBASP to be superior to antidepressant monotherapy with nefazodone in patients with childhood trauma. However, this discrepancy could be due to various differences between both studies: first, besides different applied statistical methods, we investigated another antidepressant as well as a shorter treatment period (eight weeks versus 12 weeks in the original study by Keller et al. 2000). Second, Nemeroff et al. (2003) assessed childhood trauma history by a different scale which also assessed parental loss, a type of childhood trauma that affected approximately one-third of the patients in their study, and which was not investigated in our analysis.

Moreover, a possible explanation for the poorer response of early traumatized patients to CBASP in our trial could be that the invocation of memories of early traumatic experiences through CBASP may have led to an initial worsening of symptoms in these patients within the first eight weeks of treatment (Bausch et al. 2017). When treated with CBASP, PDD patients with moderate-to-severe childhood trauma may need a longer treatment time in order to cognitively restructure traumatic memories as well as to establish healthier interpersonal behavioural patterns and thereby recover from PDD (McCullough, 2000; McCullough, 2021; Schoepf, 2013). Combining CBASP from the beginning of treatment with escitalopram or a comparable antidepressant could help early traumatised patients to cope with the mental and emotional consequences of recalling and processing past traumatic experiences. The improvement observed in some of these patients after augmentation with ESC/CM in the extended treatment phase supports this assumption, which remains to be further investigated. In contrast, patients likely to benefit more from CBASP than from ESC/CM had more often an early illness onset. Given that CBASP was especially developed to meet the needs of patients with PDD with an early illness onset (McCullough, 2003), it is plausible that its specific techniques to address early-onset based symptoms and illness-trajectories have led to a greater reduction in depression severity in these patients. The patients in this subgroup were also older, which is in line with a meta-regression by Furukawa et al. (2018) which revealed that younger PDD patients discontinued monotherapy with CBASP more often across three large studies including this RCT, possibly because of a lack of response or acceptance of CBASP. Furthermore, patients in this subgroup reported more previous treatments with antidepressant medication. The fact that they participated in our treatment trial suggests that previous medication therapies did not lead to long-term remission or prevention of relapses, which may be due to a reduced neurobiological and/ or metabolic responsiveness to antidepressants in these patients (Miller et al. 2013; Vadodaria et al. 2019; Willner et al. 2013) and could explain their likely poorer response to ESC/CM in our trial.

We did not detect statistically significant differences between the two subgroups with respect to rates of female gender, moderate-to-severe childhood trauma and previous treatments with antidepressant medication (all p > 0.05, see Table 3), although these baseline variables showed large moderator effect sizes (see Table 2). However, the lack of statistical significance can presumably be explained by the small sample size and highlights the importance of effect sizes for this type of exploratory analyses, particularly when being performed based on modest sample sizes. Finally, the two subgroups were relatively similar in terms of the baseline depression severity (MADRS mean score), rates of comorbid Axis-I and Axis-II diagnoses, all subtypes of childhood trauma, and the previous numbers of underwent psychotherapies. These baseline variables may or may not play a role as predictors of treatment efficacy, which warrants investigation in further analyses. Furthermore, response and remission rates at week eight were comparable in both subgroups, as both subgroups included patients treated with the likely less (or more) beneficial treatment condition.

#### Strengths and limitations

The results of our study should be viewed considering certain strengths and limitations. In terms of strengths, first, we compared two clinically highly relevant treatments in terms of their efficacy for specific subgroups of outpatients with PDD. Second, based on the composite moderator method, we generated findings about the influence of numerous, for replication studies relatively easy to assess baseline variables, instead of examining the effect of only one potential moderator. Third, the design of the original study furthermore allowed us to examine the relationship between subgroup classification, initial treatment, and the effect of a combination treatment after the acute 8-week treatment phase. To our knowledge, this study is the first to date to examine the differential response of patients with PDD for the comparison of a psychotherapeutic and a pharmacotherapeutic treatment at this level of complexity in terms of the considered baseline characteristics.

Nevertheless, some important limitations should be considered as well: first, due to the initial sample size and the lack of baseline data in some patients, we had a relatively modest sample size at the basis of our analyses. This results in relatively small cell numbers when comparing both subgroups, which is why the comparison of the baseline profiles should be interpreted with caution. In this light, it is important to emphasize that the identified trends must be confirmed in further independent studies with larger populations and more participating centers before any treatment recommendations can be drawn. Second, the composite moderator was based on the set of available baseline variables and is thus one of many possible. Very likely, there were other not assessed relevant moderators such as genetic or neural biomarkers, that could have helped to further differentiate the subgroups. Moreover, the present analysis focused on moderator effects only, and did not consider other factors affecting treatment effectiveness such as predictors or mediators. For instance, in our sample, patients with higher baseline depression severity scores tended to have larger decreases in depression severity in both treatment groups. This and other possible predictors should be further explored in additional secondary analyses of this study. In addition, further secondary analyses of this trial could assess the impact of possible mediator variables such as the quality of the therapeutic relationship or changes in neurobiological parameters during the therapy process. Moreover, other outcomes relevant to treatment success in PDD such as improvements of life quality or interpersonal relationships could be analysed in further secondary analyses. Finally, our study had specific inclusion and exclusion criteria, so the generalizability of these results remains to be verified.

### Conclusion

This study has highlighted the impact of several important features of the baseline profile of patients with PDD on their response to an acute psychotherapeutic versus pharmacological treatment. After being confirmed in independent studies, these findings could serve to inform clinical decision-making by helping clinicians to assign the most promising treatment to individual patients based on their baseline profile. The selection of non-effective treatments does not only result in non-responses, worsening of symptoms or side-effects, but also in misspend personal and economical costs of the health-care system. Expanding the body of evidence in favor of personalized treatment selection remains a crucial task in order to help clinicians to a priori identify the treatment with the greatest likelihood of response for an individual patient and thereby avoid these undesired consequences. The progress of personalized medicine could, together with the development of new therapies, substantially improve the life of individuals affected by PDD.

## **Statements and Declarations**

**Conflict of interest statements:** We declare to take full responsibility for the integrity of the data and accuracy of the data analysis. All authors can provide full access to all the data in this study. Dr. Schoepf received honoraria for workshops and presentations relating to CBASP. Dr. Schramm received modest book royalties and honoraria for workshops and presentations relating to CBASP. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Ethical standards statement:** The authors assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national and institutional committee on human experimentation with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008.

**Financial support statement:** This study was funded by Lundbeck GmbH, Hamburg, Germany.

**Acknowledgements:** We thank Eva-Lotta Brakemeier, Kathrin Mönch, Alice Graser, Nina Grimm and all study therapists for their contributions to the study as well as the "Akademie für angewandte Psychologie und Psychotherapie" Cologne, Germany, for referring patients to the study. We thank the patients and their families for their time and efforts during the study participation.

## References

- Ahrens, A., Hansen, C. B., & Schaffer, M. E. (2019). lassopack: Model selection and prediction with regularized regression in Stata. ArXiv Preprint ArXiv:1901.05397. https://doi.org/10.1177/1536867X2090
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition*. American Psychiatric Association.
- Angst, J., Gamma, A., Rössler, W., Ajdacic, V., & Klein, D. N. (2009). Long-term depression versus episodic major depression: Results from the prospective Zurich study of a community sample. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 115(1), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.09.023
- Arnow, B. A., & Constantino, M. J. (2003). Effectiveness of psychotherapy and combination treatment for chronic depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59(8), 893–905. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.10181
- Bausch, P., Fangmeier, T., Zobel, I., Schoepf, D., Drost, S., Schnell, K., Walter, H., Berger, M., Normann, C., & Schramm, E. (2017). The impact of childhood maltreatment on the differential efficacy of CBASP versus escitalopram in patients with chronic depression: A secondary analysis. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *24*(5), 1155–1162. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2081
- Bernstein, D., Stein, J., & Newcomb, M. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *27*(2), 169–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Blanco, C., Okuda, M., Markowitz, J. C., Liu, S.-M., Grant, B. F., & Hasin, D. S. (2010). The epidemiology of chronic major depressive disorder and dysthymic disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 71(12), 6501. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.09m05663gry

Cipriani, A., Santilli, C., Furukawa, T. A., Signoretti, A., Nakagawa, A., McGuire, H., Churchill,

R., & Barbui, C. (2009). Escitalopram versus other antidepressive agents for depression. *Cochrane* Database of Systematic Reviews., 2.
https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006532.pub2

- Cohen, Z. D., & DeRubeis, R. J. (2018). Treatment Selection in Depression. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *14*(1), 209–236. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084746
- Cuijpers, P., Andersson, G., Donker, T., & van Straten, A. (2011). Psychological treatment of depression: results of a series of meta-analyses. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 65, 354–364. https://doi.org/10.3109/08039488.2011.596570
- Cuijpers, P., Huibers, M. J. H., & Furukawa, T. A. (2017). The Need for Research on Treatments of Chronic Depression. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74(3), 242–243. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.4070
- Dias de Mattos Souza, L., Lopez Molina, M., Azevedo da Silva, R., & Jansen, K. (2016). History of childhood trauma as risk factors to suicide risk in major depression. *Psychiatry Research*, *246*, 612–616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.11.002
- First, M., Gibbon, M., Spitzer, R., & Williams, J. (1997). *Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Personality Disorders (SCID-II)*. American Psychiatric Press.
- First, M., Spitzer, R., Gibbon, M., & Williams, J. (2002). Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Research Version, Clinical Trials Version (SCID-CT).
  Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- Furukawa, T. A., Efthimiou, O., Weitz, E. S., Cipriani, A., Keller, M. B., Kocsis, J. H., Klein, D. N., Michalak, J., Salanti, G., Cuijpers, P., & Schramm, E. (2018). Cognitive-Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy, Drug, or Their Combination for Persistent Depressive Disorder: Personalizing the Treatment Choice Using Individual Participant Data Network Metaregression. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *87*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489227

- Garcia-Toro, M., Rubio, J. M., Gili, M., Roca, M., Jin, C. J., Liu, S.-M., Bastianoni, C., & Blanco,
  C. (2013). Persistence of chronic major depression: A national prospective study. *Journal* of *Affective Disorders*, *151*(1), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.06.013
- Gilmer, W. S., Trivedi, M. H., Rush, A. J., Wisniewski, S. R., Luther, J., Howland, R. H., Yohanna, D., Khan, A., & Alpert, J. (2005). Factors associated with chronic depressive episodes: a preliminary report from the STAR-D project. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *112*(6), 425–433. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00633.x
- Gopinath, S., Katon, W. J., Russo, J. E., & Ludman, E. J. (2007). Clinical factors associated with relapse in primary care patients with chronic or recurrent depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *101*(1), 57–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.10.023
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). *An introduction to statistical learning with applications in R.* Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7138-7
- Jobst, A., Brakemeier, E.-L., Buchheim, A., Caspar, F., Cuijpers, P., Ebmeier, K. P., Falkai, P.,
  Jan van der Gaag, R., Gaebel, W., Herpertz, S., Kurimay, T., Sabaß, L., Schnell, K.,
  Schramm, E., Torrent, C., Wasserman, D., Wiersma, J., & Padberg, F. (2016). European
  Psychiatric Association Guidance on psychotherapy in chronic depression across Europe. *European Psychiatry*, *33*, 18–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.12.003
- Keller, M. B., McCullough, J. P., Klein, D. N., Arnow, B., Dunner, D. L., Gelenberg, A. J., Markowitz, J. C., Nemeroff, C. B., Russell, J. M., Thase, M. E., Trivedi, M. H., Blalock, J. A., Borian, F. E., Jody, D. N., DeBattista, C., Koran, L. M., Schatzberg, A. F., Fawcett, J., Hirschfeld, R. M. A., ... Zajecka, J. (2000). A Comparison of Nefazodone, the Cognitive Behavioral-Analysis System of Psychotherapy, and Their Combination for the Treatment of Chronic Depression. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *342*(20), 1462–1470. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200005183422001
- Klein, D. N., Shankman, S. A., & Rose, S. (2006). Ten-Year Prospective Follow-Up Study of the Naturalistic Course of Dysthymic Disorder and Double Depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(5), 872–880. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.5.872

- Kocsis, J. H., Leon, A. C., Markowitz, J. C., Manber, R., Arnow, B., Klein, D. N., & Thase, M. E. (2009). Patient preference as a moderator of outcome for chronic forms of major depressive disorder treated with nefazodone, cognitive behavioral analysis aystem of psychotherapy, or their combination. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *70*(3), 354–361. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.08m04371
- Kraemer, H. C. (2013). Discovering, comparing, and combining moderators of treatment on outcome after randomized clinical trials: a parametric approach. *Statistics in Medicine*, 32(11), 1964–1973. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.5734
- McCullough, J. P. (2000). *Treatment for Chronic Depression: Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy*. Guilford Press.
- McCullough, J. P. (2003). Treatment for Chronic Depression: Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP). *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, *13*(3–4), 241– 263. https://doi.org/10.1037/1053-0479.13.3-4.241
- McCullough, J. P. (2021). Characteristics of the Optimal Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP) Therapist Role. In *Frontiers in Psychiatry* (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.609954
- Miller, J. M., Hesselgrave, N., Ogden, R. T., Zanderigo, F., Oquendo, M. A., Mann, J. J., & Parsey, R. V. (2013). Brain Serotonin 1A Receptor Binding as a Predictor of Treatment Outcome in Major Depressive Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(10), 760–767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.03.021
- Montgomery, S. A., & Asberg, M. (1979). A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 134(4), 382–389. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.134.4.382
- Murphy, J. A., & Byrne, G. J. (2012). Prevalence and correlates of the proposed DSM-5 diagnosis of chronic depressive disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *139*(2), 172–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.01.033

- Nemeroff, C. B., Heim, C. M., Thase, M. E., Klein, D. N., Rush, A. J., Schatzberg, A. F., Ninan,
  P. T., McCullough, J. P., Weiss, P. M., Dunner, D. L., Rothbaum, B. O., Kornstein, S.,
  Keitner, G., & Keller, M. B. (2003). Differential responses to psychotherapy versus pharmacotherapy in patients with chronic forms of major depression and childhood trauma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(24), 14293–14296. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2336126100
- Neudeck, P., Walter, H., & Schoepf, D. (2012). Exposure aspects of the interpersonal discrimination exercise (IDE) and the situational analysis (SA) in Cognitive Behavioral Analysis System of Psychotherapy (CBASP). In *Exposure Therapy: Rethinking the Model Refining the Method* (pp. 153–166). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3342-2\_9
- Niles, A. N., Loerinc, A. G., Krull, J. L., Roy-Byrne, P., Sullivan, G., Sherbourne, C., Bystritsky,
  A., & Craske, M. G. (2017). Advancing Personalized Medicine: Application of a Novel
  Statistical Method to Identify Treatment Moderators in the Coordinated Anxiety Learning
  and Management Study. *Behavior Therapy*, *48*(4), 490–500.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2017.02.001
- Niles, A. N., Wolitzky-Taylor, K. B., Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2017). Applying a novel statistical method to advance the personalized treatment of anxiety disorders: A composite moderator of comparative drop-out from CBT and ACT. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *91*, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2017.01.001
- Roy, A., & Janal, M. (2005). Family history of suicide, female sex, and childhood trauma: separate or interacting risk factors for attempts at suicide? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *112*(5), 367–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00647.x
- Sarchiapone, M., Carli, V., Cuomo, C., & Roy, A. (2007). Childhood trauma and suicide attempts in patients with unipolar depression. *Depression and Anxiety*, 24(4), 268–272. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20243

Satyanarayana, S., Enns, M. W., Cox, B. J., & Sareen, J. (2009). Prevalence and Correlates of

Chronic Depression in the Canadian Community Health Survey: Mental Health and Well-Being. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *54*(6), 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370905400

- Schatzberg, A. F., Rush, A. J., Arnow, B. A., Banks, P. L. C., Blalock, J. A., Borian, F. E., Howland, R., Klein, D. N., Kocsis, J. H., Kornstein, S. G., Manber, R., Markowitz, J. C., Miller, I., Ninan, P. T., Rothbaum, B. O., Thase, M. E., Trivedi, M. H., & Keller, M. B. (2005). Chronic Depression: Medication (Nefazodone) or Psychotherapy (CBASP) Is Effective When the Other Is Not. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *62*(5), 513–520. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.5.513
- Schoepf, D. (2013). CBASP with intensified significant other history exercise for chronic major depression with antecedent dysthymic disorder in outpatient treatment: Rationale, assessment and effects on the hypothesized core content of the patient's in-session interpersonal. In *Psychiatric Disorders-New Frontiers in Affective Disorders* (pp. 153– 182). IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/51638
- Schramm, E., Klein, D. N., Elsaesser, M., Furukawa, T. A., & Domschke, K. (2020). Review of dysthymia and persistent depressive disorder: history, correlates, and clinical implications. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(9), 801–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30099-7
- Schramm, E., Zobel, I., Schoepf, D., Fangmeier, T., Schnell, K., Walter, H., Drost, S., Schmidt,
  P., Brakemeier, E.-L., Berger, M., & Normann, C. (2015). Cognitive Behavioral Analysis
  System of Psychotherapy versus Escitalopram in Chronic Major Depression. *Psychotherapy* and *Psychosomatics*, 84(4), 227–240.
  https://doi.org/10.1159/000381957
- Serbanescu, I., Walter, H., Schnell, K., Kessler, H., Weber, B., Drost, S., Groß, M., Neudeck, P.,
  Klein, J. P., Assmann, N., Zobel, I., Backenstrass, M., Hautzinger, M., Meister, R., Härter,
  M., Schramm, E., & Schoepf, D. (2020). Combining baseline characteristics to disentangle
  response differences to disorder-specific versus supportive psychotherapy in patients

with persistent depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *124*, 103512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2019.103512

- Simon, G. E., & Perlis, R. H. (2010). Personalized Medicine for Depression: Can We Match Patients With Treatments? *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167(12), 1445–1455. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09111680
- Smagula, S. F., Wallace, M. L., Anderson, S. J., Karp, J. F., Lenze, E. J., Mulsant, B. H., Butters, M. A., Blumberger, D. M., Diniz, B. S., Lotrich, F. E., Dew, M. A., & Reynolds, C. F. (2016).
  Combining moderators to identify clinical profiles of patients who will, and will not, benefit from aripiprazole augmentation for treatment resistant late-life major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *81*, 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.07.005
- Spijker, J., van Straten, A., Bockting, C. L. H., Meeuwissen, J. A. C., & van Balkom, A. J. L. M.
  (2013). Psychotherapy, Antidepressants, and Their Combination for Chronic Major
  Depressive Disorder: A Systematic Review. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *58*(7), 386–392. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371305800703
- Tibshirani, R. (1996). Regression Shrinkage and Selection via the Lasso. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological), 58*(1), 267–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1996.tb02080.x
- Vadodaria, K. C., Ji, Y., Skime, M., Paquola, A. C., Nelson, T., Hall-Flavin, D., Heard, K. J., Fredlender, C., Deng, Y., Elkins, J., Dani, K., Le, A. T., Marchetto, M. C., Weinshilboum, R., & Gage, F. H. (2019). Altered serotonergic circuitry in SSRI-resistant major depressive disorder patient-derived neurons. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 24, 808–818. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0377-5
- Vandeleur, C. L., Fassassi, S., Castelao, E., Glaus, J., Strippoli, M.-P. F., Lasserre, A. M., Rudaz, D., Gebreab, S., Pistis, G., Aubry, J.-M., Angst, J., & Preisig, M. (2017). Prevalence and correlates of DSM-5 major depressive and related disorders in the community. *Psychiatry Research*, *250*, 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.060

- Wallace, M. L., Banihashemi, L., O'Donnell, C., Nimgaonkar, V. L., Kodavali, C., McNamee, R., & Germain, A. (2018). Using optimal combined moderators to define heterogeneity in neural responses to randomized conditions: Application to the effect of sleep loss on fear learning. *NeuroImage*, *181*, 718–727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.07.051
- Wallace, M. L., Frank, E., & Kraemer, H. C. (2013). A novel approach for developing and interpreting treatment moderator profiles in randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70(11), 1241–1247. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1960
- Wallace, M. L., McMakin, D. L., Tan, P. Z., Rosen, D., Forbes, E. E., Ladouceur, C. D., Ryan, N. D., Siegle, G. J., Dahl, R. E., Kendall, P. C., Mannarino, A., & Silk, J. S. (2017). The role of day-to-day emotions, sleep, and social interactions in pediatric anxiety treatment. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 90, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.12.012
- Wasserstein, R. L., & Lazar, N. A. (2016). The ASA Statement on p-Values: Context, Process, and Purpose. *The American Statistician*, 70(2), 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2016.1154108
- Wiersma, J. E., Hovens, J. G. F. M., Van Oppen, P., Giltay, E. J., Van Schaik, D. J. F., Beekman,
  A. T. F., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2009). The importance of childhood trauma and childhood life events for chronicity of depression in adults. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *70*(7), 983–989. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.08m04521
- Willner, P., Scheel-Krüger, J., & Belzung, C. (2013). The neurobiology of depression and antidepressant action. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *37*(10, Part 1), 2331–2371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.12.007
- Zatti, C., Rosa, V., Barros, A., Valdivia, L., Calegaro, V. C., Freitas, L. H., Ceresér, K. M. M., Rocha, N. S. da, Bastos, A. G., & Schuch, F. B. (2017). Childhood trauma and suicide attempt: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies from the last decade. *Psychiatry Research*, 256, 353–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.082
## Declaration in accordance to § 8 (1) c) and (d) of the doctoral degree regulation of the Faculty

Hereafter follows the Declaration in accordance to § 8 (1) c) and (d) of the doctoral degree regulation of the Faculty.



UNIVERSITÄT HEIDELBERG ZUKUNFT SEIT 1386

FAKULTÄT FÜR VERHALTENS-UND EMPIRISCHE KULTURWISSENSCHAFTEN

Promotionsausschuss der Fakultät für Verhaltens- und Empirische Kulturwissenschaften der Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg / Doctoral Committee of the Faculty of Behavioural and Cultural Studies of Heidelberg University

Erklärung gemäß § 8 (1) c) der Promotionsordnung der Universität Heidelberg für die Fakultät für Verhaltens- und Empirische Kulturwissenschaften / Declaration in accordance to § 8 (1) c) of the doctoral degree regulation of Heidelberg University, Faculty of Behavioural and Cultural Studies

Ich erkläre, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation selbstständig angefertigt, nur die angegebenen Hilfsmittel benutzt und die Zitate gekennzeichnet habe. / I declare that I have made the submitted dissertation independently, using only the specified tools and have correctly marked all quotations.

Erklärung gemäß § 8 (1) d) der Promotionsordnung der Universität Heidelberg für die Fakultät für Verhaltens- und Empirische Kulturwissenschaften / Declaration in accordance to § 8 (1) d) of the doctoral degree regulation of Heidelberg University, Faculty of Behavioural and Cultural Studies

Ich erkläre, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertation in dieser oder einer anderen Form nicht anderweitig als Prüfungsarbeit verwendet oder einer anderen Fakultät als Dissertation vorgelegt habe. / I declare that I did not use the submitted dissertation in this or any other form as an examination paper until now and that I did not submit it in another faculty.

| Vorname Nachname / First name Family name | Ilinca-Draga Serbanescu   |
|---|---|
| Datum / Date                              | 14.12.2022  |
| Unterschrift / Signature                  | Dem Dekanat der Fakultät für Verhaltens- und<br>Empirische Kulturwissenschaften liegt eine<br>unterschriebene Version dieser Erklärung vom<br>14.12.2022 vor. |